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PART I

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements” that involve risks and uncertainties, as well as assumptions that, if they never materialize or prove incorrect, could cause our results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. The statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not purely historical are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”). Such forward-looking statements include any expectation of earnings, revenue or other financial items; any statements of the plans, strategies and objectives of management for future operations; risks associated with acquisitions; factors that may affect our operating results; statements about our ability to establish and maintain intellectual property rights; statements about our ability to retain and hire necessary associates and appropriately staff our operations; statements related to future capital expenditures; statements related to future economic conditions or performance; statements as to industry trends; and other matters that do not relate strictly to historical facts or statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. Forward-looking statements are often identified by the use of words such as, but not limited to, “anticipate,” “believe,” “can,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “will,” “plan,” “project,” “seek,” “should,” “target,” “would,” and similar expressions or variations intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are based on the beliefs and assumptions of our management based on information currently available to management. Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other important factors that could cause actual results and the timing of certain events to differ materially from future results expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors” included in Item 1A of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and the risks discussed in our other SEC filings. Furthermore, such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of such statements.

As used in this report, the terms “Benefitfocus, Inc.,” “Benefitfocus,” “Company,” “company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” mean Benefitfocus, Inc. and its subsidiaries unless the context indicates otherwise.
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RISK FACTOR SUMMARY

Our business is subject to significant risks and uncertainties that make an investment in us speculative and risky. Below we summarize what we believe are the principal risk factors, but these risks are not the only ones we face, and you should carefully review and consider the full discussion of our risk factors in the section titled “Risk Factors”, together with the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If any of the following risks actually occurs (or if any of those listed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K occur), our business, reputation, financial condition, results of operations, revenue, and future prospects could be seriously harmed. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of, or that we currently believe are not material, may also become important factors that adversely affect our business.

Risks Related to Our Business

· We have had a history of losses, and we might not be able to achieve or sustain profitability;

· Our quarterly operating results have fluctuated in the past and might continue to fluctuate causing the value of our common stock to decline substantially;

· Downturns or upturns in sales are not immediately reflected in full in our operating results;

· The COVID-19 pandemic could have an adverse impact on our business and the duration and extent to which the pandemic will impact our future financial performance remains uncertain;

· Our business could be negatively affected as a result of the actions of activist stockholders;

· We depend on our senior management team, and the loss of one or more key associates or an inability to attract and retain highly skilled associates could adversely affect our business;

· We operate in a highly competitive industry, and if we are not able to compete effectively, our business and operating results will be harmed;

· The market for our products and services is immature and volatile, and if it does not develop or if it develops more slowly than we expect, the growth of our business will be harmed;

· The SaaS pricing model is evolving and our failure to manage its evolution and demand could lead to lower than expected revenue and profit;

· If we do not continue to innovate and provide products and services, we might not remain competitive, and our revenue and operating results could suffer;

· If we are unable to retain our existing customers, our revenue and results of operations would be adversely affected;

· A significant amount of our revenue is derived from our largest customers, and any reduction in revenue from any of these customers would reduce our revenue and net income;

· Economic or geopolitical uncertainties or downturns in the general economy or the industries in which our customers operate could disproportionately affect the demand for our solutions;

· Our growth depends in part on the success of our strategic relationships with third parties;

· If the number of individuals covered by our employer and carrier customers decreases or the number of products or services to which our employer and carrier customers subscribe or their employees purchase decreases, our revenue will decrease;

· Failure to manage our continued growth effectively could increase our expenses, decrease our revenue, and prevent us from implementing our business strategy;

· If we fail to maintain awareness of our brand cost-effectively, our business might suffer;

· We might not be able to utilize a significant portion of our net operating loss or other tax credit carryforwards, which could adversely affect our profitability;

· We might be unable to adequately protect, and we might incur significant costs in enforcing, our intellectual property and other proprietary rights;

· Any future litigation against us could be costly and time-consuming to defend;

· Acquisitions could prove difficult to integrate, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value, and adversely affect our operating results and the value of our common stock; and

· Future sales to customers outside the United States or with international operations might expose us to risks inherent in international sales which, if realized, could adversely affect our business.

Risks Related to Our Products and Services Offerings

· The breach or failure of our security measures, or other incidents may result in our products and services being perceived as unsecure, cause customers and consumers to curtail or stop using our products and services, and cause us to incur significant liabilities;
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· Our failure or failure by our customers to obtain proper permissions and waivers might result in claims against us or may limit or prevent our use of data, which could harm our business;

· Our proprietary software might not operate properly, which could damage our reputation, give rise to claims against us, or divert application of our resources from other purposes;

· Various events could interrupt customers’ access to the Benefitfocus Platform, exposing us to significant costs;

· We rely on third parties, and our own systems, for providing services to our customers, and any failure or interruption in the services could expose us to litigation and negatively impact our relationships with customers, adversely affecting our brand and our business; and

· The use of open source software in our products and solutions may expose us to additional risks and harm our intellectual property rights.

Risks Related to Regulation

· Government regulation of the areas in which we operate creates risks and challenges with respect to our compliance efforts and our business strategies;

· Potential government subsidy of services similar to ours, or creation of a single payor system, might reduce customer demand; and

· Our services present the potential for embezzlement, identity theft, or other similar illegal behavior by our associates with respect to third parties.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

· We have incurred substantial indebtedness that may decrease our business flexibility, access to capital and/or increase our borrowing costs, and we may still incur substantially more debt, which may adversely affect our operations and financial results;

· Servicing our debt and preferred dividends requires a significant amount of cash, and we might not have or be able to obtain sufficient cash to pay our substantial debt or required dividends;

· The conditional conversion feature of our outstanding notes, if triggered, and any required repurchase of the notes may adversely affect our financial condition and operating results;

· Our notes are effectively subordinated to our secured debt and any liabilities of our subsidiaries;

· If we fail to meet our current credit facility’s financial covenants, our business and financial condition could be adversely affected;

· We may still incur substantially more debt or take other actions that would diminish our ability to make payments on our outstanding notes when due;

· The conversion of our notes will dilute the ownership interest of existing stockholders; and

· The capped call transactions we entered into in connection with the issuance of our notes might not turn out to be effective in reducing dilution, and might adversely affect the value of our common stock.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

· Our stock price may be volatile or may decline regardless of our operating performance;

· Our stock price could decline due to the large number of outstanding shares of our common stock and those underlying our notes eligible for future sale;

· We might require additional capital to support business growth;

· The issuance of shares of our common stock upon conversion of our Series A Preferred Stock may dilute the ownership interest of our existing common stockholders, adversely impact the market price of our common stock and make it more difficult for us to raise funds through future equity offerings;

· Our preferred stockholders have significant rights and preferences over the holders of our common stock that could limit us from taking certain corporate actions;

· Our certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the sole and exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders;

· We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock; and

· Provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws and Delaware law might discourage, delay, or prevent a change in control of our company or changes in our management and, therefore, depress the trading price of our common stock.
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Item 1. Business.

Overview

Benefitfocus provides industry-leading, cloud-based benefits management technology solutions for employers and health plans. The Benefitfocus enrollment platform simplifies how organizations procure benefits and connect to the necessary benefits products and services that improve the lives of their employees and the American workforce. Our core technology solutions facilitate employee benefits administration and enrollment; our solutions enable working Americans and their families to select and engage in the right benefits products and services for themselves; and our data advantage delivers insights to employers, health, plans and their advisors to help control healthcare spending and reduce unnecessary expenses.

The Benefitfocus Platform has a multi-tenant architecture and has a user-friendly interface designed for employees to access all of their benefits in one place. Our comprehensive solutions support medical benefit plans and non-medical benefits, such as, dental, life, disability insurance, income protection, digital health and financial wellness. Our platform includes functionality designed to help consumers identify and evaluate benefit options available to them. As the number of employer benefits plans has increased, with each plan subject to many different business rules and requirements, demand for the Benefitfocus Platform is growing.

Employers use our solutions to streamline benefits processes and control costs, keep up with challenging and ever-changing regulatory requirements, and offer a greater variety of benefit options to attract, retain and motivate employees. The Benefitfocus Platform enables our employer customers to simplify the management of complex benefits processes, from sales and enrollment to implementation and ongoing administration. It provides their employees with an engaging, highly intuitive and personalized user interface for selecting and managing all of their benefits via mobile or desktop device.

Health Plans, also known as health insurers, health insurance carriers or medical insurance carriers, use our solutions to more effectively market offerings to benefits-eligible employees, simplify billing, and improve the enrollment process. We also provide a large network of benefit provider data exchange connections, which facilitates the otherwise highly fragmented interaction among employees, employers, brokers and health plans.

Brokers use our platform to manage employer portfolios. This includes delivering strategic insights that improve their employer clients’ benefit experience and demonstrating greater value through access to a larger set of relevant products for employers, which should bring higher broker commissions and profits.

Since our initial public offering, we have described our target market as comprising two separate but related market segments – employers and health plans. Within the employer market segment, we sell our technology solutions on an annually recurring or multi-year subscription basis to large employers, which we define as those with more than 1,000 employees. Similarly, in our other market segment, we sell our solutions on a subscription basis to health plans, enabling us to expand our overall footprint in the benefits marketplace by aggregating many key constituents, including consumers, employers, and brokers. We believe our presence in both the employer and health plan market segments gives us a strong position at the center of the benefits ecosystem.

In 2018, we expanded our economic model to include a transaction-oriented solution, known as Benefit Catalog (formerly BenefitsPlace), designed to align brokers, health plans, carriers and suppliers around the needs of employers and employees. In this model, Benefit Catalog sellers, who are carriers and suppliers, offer their voluntary and specialty benefit products in a “marketplace” alongside the benefits enrollment platform. This marketplace is designed to increase the economic value of the employee and consumer lives on our platform by aligning the Benefit Catalog products to employee and consumer needs. In exchange for Benefitfocus delivering employee/consumer access, data-driven analysis and operational efficiencies, seller partners pay us a percentage of the purchases completed on our platform. Carrier agreements have terms of two to four years and are typically cancellable upon breach of contract or
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insolvency. Supplier contracts have terms of one year or less and are generally cancellable upon breach of contract, failure to cure, bankruptcy and termination for convenience.

Our hybrid software-as-a-service, or SaaS, and repeatable transaction-based model provides us significant visibility into our future operating results, which enhances our ability to manage our business. Our company was founded in 2000, and we currently employ approximately 1,200 associates, or employees.

Industry Background

The administration and distribution of benefits to employees is a mainstay of the U.S. economy. Providing these benefits is costly and complex and requires the exchange of data and information, application of rules, and transfer of funds among a wide variety of constituents, including consumers, employers, insurance carriers, suppliers, brokers, benefits outsourcers, payroll processors, and financial institutions.

The size of the HR benefits administration market and the value of benefits transacted are large. According to IBISWorld calculations, the market for HR benefits administration in the United States was $61.9 billion in 2019. Eastbridge Consulting Group estimates the U.S. in-force premiums were $47.1 billion in 2019 for employee-paid life, health and disability products sold at the worksite with premiums paid through payroll.

The variety and complexity of medical and non-medical benefits plans continues to grow. The Benefitfocus annual market research report, The State of Employee Benefits 2018, our most recent edition, indicates that a higher proportion of benefits offerings are shifting to high-deductible health plans coupled with health savings accounts. This added complexity places greater potential cost burden on employees and consumers and creates a greater need for employers to educate their workforces on becoming more informed health-care consumers. To help employees cover added cost burdens, employers are increasingly offering a wider range of non-medical benefits plans, such as critical illness, supplemental income, and financial wellness programs, as well as traditional insurance offerings like dental, life and disability. Current point and legacy systems are inadequate to efficiently manage the complexity, regulation, and involvement of multiple parties. They are also incapable or inadequate in enabling the purchase of non-medical benefits. These factors are driving the need for an enterprise benefits management system and a consumer-focused platform to improve operational efficiency along the entire benefits value chain.

Employer Market

A significant and growing portion of employers’ costs is non-salary benefits, such as health insurance, that they provide to their employees. With healthcare and other premiums increasing, senior executives are prioritizing benefits administration in their organizations and searching for ways to contain costs without sacrificing benefits. In fact, according to the U.S. Department of Labor and Bureau of Labor Statistics, healthcare and other employee benefits accounted for 29.8% of all employee labor costs in September 2020. In addition, the expense burden continues to shift to employees. Employees’ contributions to premiums for health insurance have grown from approximately $318 per employee in 1999 to approximately $1,221 per employee in 2020. Employers recognize the importance of offering a greater variety of non-medical benefits as a means to attract, motivate, and retain employees. They must maintain relationships with multiple insurance carriers and many other benefits providers, placing a substantial administrative burden on their organizations.

Employers’ distribution, management, and administration of employee benefits has historically consisted of error-prone, paper-based processes, and a patchwork of customized software tools, which are costly to maintain, often lack necessary functionality, and fail to address the increasing complexity of the benefits marketplace. As benefits offerings become more complex and employees bear more of the cost of those benefits, HR software solutions that streamline information, simplify choices, and engage employees are increasingly in demand. Employees desire tailored, dynamic, and interactive communication of critical benefits information, with easy access to purchase benefits, as they become
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accustomed to receiving personalized content through various consumer applications on a range of devices.

Legacy HR systems were generally designed as extensions of enterprise resource planning, or ERP, systems, built for back-office responsibilities like finance and accounting. As a result, these systems lack functionality and ease-of-use for employees. Many legacy HR systems were not designed to integrate with the broader benefits ecosystem, including brokers, carriers, and wellness providers, or have the ability to transact non-medical benefits. This results in expensive, error-prone, and incomplete experiences for employers and employees. Benefits outsourcers have attempted to compensate for the shortcomings of legacy HR systems, but they have generally lacked adequate technology solutions necessary to keep up with the rapidly evolving benefits landscape. As a result, employees are often not provided with the appropriate functionality and information required to select and manage their benefits effectively.

Modern technology, changing communication patterns, and a constantly evolving benefits ecosystem have impacted the employee-employer relationship. HR executives continue to search for effective strategies to increase efficiency and contain costs, while increasing employee engagement and being an employer of choice. Employers are increasingly interested in SaaS solutions that can help capture and analyze benefits data and provide more choice for their employees to improve productivity and satisfaction. In order to manage the distribution and administration of benefits effectively, employers need an integrated platform, capable of handling all benefits in one place and providing a highly personalized experience for employees.

Health Plan Market

The employee benefits market consists of myriad medical insurance carriers and products. According to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, the single largest benefit provided to employees in the United States is healthcare insurance, often encompassing more than 90% of all insurance benefits spending by employers.

Large, national health insurance carriers also offer numerous individual health plans of different types, including health maintenance organizations, preferred provider organizations, point-of-service plans, and high deductible health plans, across the 50 states, as well as life and ancillary benefits plans. Each carrier offers a complex variety of medical insurance and non-medical benefits, encompassing life and ancillary plans, with each plan requiring multiple decisions to address the specific needs of employers and their individual employees. Despite widespread carrier consolidation, numerous disparate systems remain in place, with many large health plans operating on multiple IT systems. Health plans often rely on manual processes and siloed software applications to bridge gaps in legacy administration systems. Even as they attempt to modernize and keep up with evolving industry practices and a changing regulatory landscape, health plans have difficulty connecting with the broader healthcare system.

The effective delivery and management of employee benefits depends on the timely, continuous exchange of accurate data among health insurance carriers, their employer customers, broker partners and individual members. Legacy benefits management systems often lack important functionality such as web and mobile self-service capabilities and real-time data exchange. Critical health plan processes, including member enrollment, billing and payments, communications, and retail marketing often have been under-optimized or neglected by legacy systems, and health plans have devoted significant internal resources to cover technology gaps. In addition, healthcare reform mandates and the rise of exchanges have increased focus on carriers’ retail distribution capabilities, which require additional investment.

Governmental oversight, punctuated with the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, or PPACA, has led to an increasingly dynamic regulatory framework under which health benefits are delivered, accessed and maintained. Despite efforts to repeal and/or reform part or all of PPACA, we expect digital transformation of healthcare benefits to continue in the form of public and private exchanges – online marketplaces that allow insurance carriers to compete directly for new members. We
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expect private exchanges will be less rigid, promoting both health and non-health benefits, with substantially fewer rules around the types of benefits offered. As medical insurance carriers continue to bolster their retail distribution capabilities, we believe they will require consolidation of technology solutions to improve operational efficiency and attract additional members through private exchanges.

The Benefitfocus Solutions

We provide a multi-tenant cloud-based benefits enrollment and management platform for employees, employers, health plans, suppliers, and brokers. The Benefitfocus Platform simplifies how organizations and individuals transact benefits.

We believe our solutions help employers and clients of brokers in the following important ways:

Simplify benefits enrollment. Our solutions are designed to reduce the complexity of benefits enrollment by integrating all plan information in one place and presenting it to employees in an organized and easy-to-understand manner. Employees shop and enroll using a highly intuitive and engaging consumer-oriented interface.

Reduce cost and increase ROI. Our solutions automate the benefits management process and reduce the cost associated with clerical errors and covering ineligible employees and dependents. Our solutions also include advanced analytics and insights that enable employers and employees to quickly gather, report, and forecast benefit costs.

Attract, retain, and motivate employees. Our solutions help employers attract, retain, and motivate top talent by delivering benefits information through a highly intuitive and engaging user interface. We believe that when employees understand the value of their benefits and have easy access to benefits, they are more likely to be satisfied with and engaged in their jobs.

Streamline HR processes. Our solutions eliminate the time-consuming and labor-intensive, often paper-based, processes associated with managing employee benefits plans, making HR professionals more efficient. Employers and HR professionals can efficiently enroll users or update information, and communicate or make changes to plans in real-time.

Integrate seamlessly with related systems. Our solutions can be easily and securely integrated with a variety of related systems, including health plan membership and billing, payroll and HR, banking, and other third-party administration. We provide a network of benefit provider data exchange connections through industry standard interfaces that are configurable to accommodate a variety of needs. Our open architecture further extends our functionality by allowing third parties to develop and offer products and services on our platform. Our human capital management application programming interface, or API, replaces traditional file-based systems with an automated, real-time interface.

Purchase non-medical benefits. Our platform includes a holistic, multidimensional marketplace whereby carriers and suppliers sell non-medical, voluntary and specialty products to employees.

We believe our solutions help insurance health plans and suppliers in the following important ways:

Bolster retail distribution capabilities through marketplaces. Our solutions help health insurance carriers and suppliers respond to an evolving marketplace in which retail distribution capabilities are increasingly important to attracting and retaining new members. Our platform offers health plans a lower cost direct sales channel to employer groups and individuals. We offer the ability to sell both healthcare and non-healthcare benefit products in an online shopping environment that serves as an alternative to government-sponsored public exchanges.

Attract and maintain membership. Our solutions allow carriers to maximize sales capacity and efficiency by communicating directly with their employer customers and individual members.
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Reduce administrative costs. The Benefitfocus Platform allows health plans to consolidate IT systems, automate and simplify various aspects of the benefits administration process, such as enrollment, plan changes, eligibility updates, and billing and payments, from one centralized location.

Facilitate real-time data exchange. Our solutions simplify interactions and data exchange, and foster collaboration among carriers, suppliers, brokers, employers, employees and consumers. This allows health plans to rapidly tailor and offer new benefits packages.

Our Growth Strategy

We intend to strengthen our position as a leading cloud-based benefits enrollment and management platform for employers and health plans, working closely with brokers as partners in the ecosystem. Key elements of our growth strategy include the following:

Expand our customer base. We believe that our current customer base represents a small fraction of targeted users that could benefit from our subscription solutions. In order to reach new customers in our existing markets, we are aggressively investing in our sales and marketing resources and our channel marketing strategy, including in ways intended to expand existing relationships and foster organic growth opportunities through brokers.

Further develop our partner ecosystem. We believe we have a large opportunity to efficiently grow our customer base through our partners. To increase the number of consumers on our platform, we have established strong relationships with key participants in the benefits market, including, among others, SAP and SuccessFactors. We have also eliminated previous friction and improved our outreach to key constituents within the benefits industry, like brokers.

Deepen our relationships with our existing customer base. We are deepening our employer relationships by continuing to provide a unified platform with a growing list of additional solutions to manage increasingly complex benefits processes and simplify the distribution and administration of employee benefits. We are expanding our carrier relationships through both the upsell of additional software products, increased adoption across our carriers’ member populations and providing access to our multidimensional marketplace.

Extend our suite of applications and continue our technology leadership. We are extending the number, range, and functionality of our benefits solutions. We have also extended the functionality of our products through mobile solutions. We intend to continue our collaboration with customers and partners so we can respond quickly to evolving market needs with innovative capabilities that support our leadership position.

Facilitate the purchase of non-medical benefits. We believe we have a significant opportunity to drive higher employer placement of Benefit Catalog products and increase consumer engagement in purchasing Benefit Catalog products throughout an entire calendar
year. We also believe that our current Benefit Catalog portfolio of products will grow in number as we continue to advance our multidimensional marketplace.

Target new markets. We believe substantial demand for our solutions exists in markets and geographies beyond our current focus. We intend to leverage opportunities we believe will arise from the complexities of changing government regulation and increased enrollment impacting both Medicare and Medicaid.

Selectively pursue strategic acquisitions and investments. We might pursue acquisitions of, or investments in, complementary businesses and technologies that align with our overall growth strategy. We believe that a selective acquisition and investment strategy could enable us to gain new customers, accelerate our expansion into new markets, and enhance our product capabilities.
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The Benefitfocus Portfolio of Products

Our portfolio of products and services serve the entire benefits ecosystem; employers, health plans and brokers rely on Benefitfocus to simplify everything about benefits.

· For Employers – our products and services are designed to reduce administrative burden, simplify enrollment, help control costs and increase workforce engagement.

· For Health Plans – we deliver a seamless quote to pay experience that can help increase operational efficiency and improve customer satisfaction.

· For Brokers – we offer an innovative platform designed to provide their clients with a comprehensive set of technology and services that support every aspect of their benefit programs - from plan design to employee engagement.

Products for Employers

Benefitplace (formerly Benefitfocus MarketPlace) is our solution for employers that helps them optimize the design of benefits plans, reduce healthcare costs, lessen administrative complexity and empower their employees to make better, more confident benefits decisions.

· Benefitplace is a cloud-based benefits management portal that streamlines online enrollment, employee communication, and benefits administration.

· Benefitplace provides a single location for employees to manage and review their benefits and related information quickly and easily at any time. Featuring an intuitive user experience with decision support tools, targeted communications, mobile app and other resources, Benefitplace enables employees to:

· make benefit elections during initial and open enrollment, as well as during important life events;

· manage dependents and beneficiaries;

· view account balances and manage contributions;

· access benefit and coverage details;

· educate themselves on various employer benefit offerings and policies; and

· complete required tasks such as submitting verification documentation.

· Benefitplace also provides a single place for benefit and HR administrators to manage the employer’s benefits program —from executing basic approval tasks, to creating educational content and communication campaigns, to getting in-depth insight into participation and engagement trends. Benefitplace has a robust suite of intuitive tools, dashboards and other resources, to help empower administrators to simplify the complex, work more efficiently and create more value for employees.

Additional capabilities and services for employers that complement the core functionality of Benefitplace, include:

· Health Insights (formerly Insights) is our data analytics solution that helps employers make more informed, data-driven decisions about their benefits offerings. This product aggregates benefit cost and claims data from relevant sources and allows customers to analyze, forecast, and monitor costs. Health Insights enables employers and their advisors to identify cost drivers, recognize trends, and predict future risks and costs. Additional capabilities include a plan modeling tool that customers can use to evaluate the impact of plan design changes, creating “what-if” scenarios to model different variables, such as co-pays, deductibles, benefits, inflation, and member populations.

· ACA Management & Reporting is our solution that helps employers manage ACA compliance by consolidating and automating IRS reporting. Additionally, Benefitfocus is an approved transmitter,
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allowing us to electronically file required ACA compliance documents with the Internal Revenue Service on behalf of our customers.

· Billing & Payments (formerly MarketPlace Billing & Payments) is a comprehensive application that synchronizes enrollment and billing information to streamline the monthly billing process, automate adjustments and increase accuracy of payments. Billing & Payments gives employers the ability to automate or schedule single-invoice payments to all of their benefit providers. Employers can drill down by employee to see coverage level and plan, or focus in by vendor, benefit type or internal cost control center to gain more insight into cost drivers.

· COBRA Administration is our solution for employers that simplifies management of COBRA, or the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act, benefits. COBRA Administration automates required communication, enrollment, fulfillment and payment processing within Benefitplace.

Benefit Catalog (formerly BeneftsPlace) is our transaction-oriented, marketplace solution, that allows employers to offer robust portfolio of vetted health, wealth, property and lifestyle benefits integrated into our consumer enrollment experience.

Benefit Catalog partners provide products that fit into four distinct categories:

· Health. Products in the health category improve access to affordable, high-quality care and may act as a supplement to the traditional employer-funded health and welfare benefits. Partner-provided products in this category include consumer-directed healthcare accounts, long-term care insurance, prescription drug discount programs, services to help population health and wellness services and enrollment, and guidance services for free state health insurance plans.

· Wealth. Products in the wealth category provide options for consumers to protect their income in case of a medical emergency, manage their finances and decrease risk to financial debt. Partner products provided in this category include accident, hospital indemnity and critical illness insurance, short-term and long-term disability, financial wellness services, student loan services, and retirement and savings accounts such as IRA, 401(k), 529 and personal loan services.

· Property. Products in the property category provide options for consumers to protect their assets and insure against liabilities associated with their personal property. Partner products provided in this category include personal property protection products, such as renters and auto insurance.

· Lifestyle. Products in the lifestyle category provide options that address the individual needs of consumers to improve the quality of their day-to-day life. Partner products provided in this category include identity theft protection, virtual college counseling assistance, pet insurance and savings plans, and same-day delivery services for grocery and household items.

Benefit Catalog adds value to all participants that participate on the platform.

· Insurance carriers and specialty providers join Benefit Catalog as sellers. Sellers must meet a standard set of integration, quality, security, and financial standards to participate in Benefit Catalog. This ensures products are composed of marquee, industry-leading products. Sellers can expand their distribution channels and grow their reach to consumers.

· Brokers work with Benefit Advisors to understand the types of products available through Benefitplace (formerly Benefitfocus Marketplace). With the use of data-driven insights, brokers have greater visibility into the status of their customers and participation levels of Benefit Catalog products, thereby helping activate their customers' benefits strategy.

· Employers can design a strategic benefits portfolio, without the traditional constraints of administration and integration inefficiencies. Benefit Catalog products include pre-built integrations, seller-provided content and communication materials, and a consistent set of system configurations and settings within Benefitplace.

· Consumers gain access to Benefit Catalog products through our carrier and employer subscription-based enrollment products, Benefitplace (formerly eEnrollment and Benefitfocus
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Marketplace). With an insight-driven, guided consumer retail experience that includes decision-support tools, educational information, and mobile access, consumers can select the best products for their individual needs all year long.

Products for Health Plans

Benefitplace (formerly Benefitfocus MarketPlace for Carriers) is our single, integrated end-to-end (Quote to Pay) solution for medical carriers that enables them to automate administration and deliver a seamless benefits experience.

· Enrollment (formerly MarketPlace Enroll) provides a single, privately labeled platform for carriers to automate enrollment across all segments of their commercial group business. It includes benefits administration tools for brokers employers, supports complex business rules, such as eligibility and rating criteria and provides operational efficiency by transmitting eligibility and enrollment data to carrier membership systems. Enrollment also offers consumers a retail-like benefit enrollment experience with decision support tools, educational videos and content libraries that help consumers make informed benefit elections year-round.

· Billing & Payments (formerly MarketPlace Bill) is an electronic invoice presentment and payment solution, or EIPP, privately labeled for health plans. It consolidates invoices from multiple insurance products so employers and individuals receive one invoice that can be viewed and paid electronically. Billing & Payments automates the synchronization of billing and membership data to improve the accuracy of billing processes and provides options to simplify bill payment, such as scheduled one-time and/or recurring payments.

· Exchange (formerly MarketPlace Exchange) is a solution that bridges the integration gap between health plan and employer systems, allowing a seamless exchange of data between the two. Our customers use Exchange to consume eligibility and enrollment data from multiple, third-party systems, convert data from one format to another, and manage the flow of employee data between carriers and employers.

· Quoting (formerly MarketPlace Quote) gives health plans and brokers tools to organize and proactively manage accounts, track leads, generate quotes, and create proposals for multiple products. Quoting allows health plans to define their own market segments and configure them with unique workflows and business rules. It also enables greater data accuracy by automatically incorporating updated products, options and pricing for the most current rates and quotes. Health plans purchase Quoting to increase productivity in their sales force.

Benefit Catalog is available to health plans to use to grow their business by offering a catalog of industry-leading products integrated into our consumer enrollment experience.

Products for Brokers

Brokers use the Benefitfocus Platform to manage the portfolios of their employer clients. This includes delivering strategic insights that improve their employer clients’ benefit experience and demonstrating greater value through access to a larger set of relevant products for employers. Brokers use our products to enable their clients to deliver a world-class employee benefits experience with personalized decision support tools and targeted, multi-channel communication that helps employees get the most value from their benefits.

· Health Insights (formerly BenefitSaige Analytics) aggregates benefit cost and claims data from relevant sources, identifies cost drivers, recognizes trends, and predicts future risks and costs. Brokers use Health Insights to support strategic decisions for their clients with on-demand health plan analytics that provide insight to help control rising healthcare costs, optimize benefit investments and improve employee health outcomes.

· Benefit Catalog allows brokers to easily offer new, in-demand products to their clients to fulfill their benefit strategy and help them attract and retain top talent.
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· Benefit Catalog consultative support for brokers through Benefit Advisors. This helps brokers understand the types of products available and optimize their customers’ Benefitplace experience. With the use of data-driven insights, brokers have greater visibility into the status of their customers and participation levels of Benefit Catalog product participation, thereby helping activate their customers' benefits.

Professional Services and Customer Support

· Implementation Services. We provide implementation services to our customers in order to help ensure seamless deployment and effective utilization of our solutions. Our carrier and employer implementation teams and third-party system integrators in our Benefitfocus Implementation Program follow an end-to-end approach from project planning to customer training and technical support.

· Benefits Service Center. We provide employers with expanded support services where our benefits specialists help customers’ employees understand benefit offerings, navigate the enrollment process, and find answers to frequently asked HR questions. Our Benefits Service Center acts as an extension of our customers’ benefits team and provides employees with personalized, guided support. Additional services, such as fulfillment, dependent verification, and HR administration, are available to meet unique organizational needs.

Customers

Our customers include employers of all sizes across a variety of industries and some of the nation’s largest insurance carriers and aggregators. The following is a list of some of our significant employer and health plan customers:


Employer Customers



Health Plan Customers



American Eagle Outfitters Inc.


American Heritage Life Insurance Company


Amerigas Propane, Inc.
Blackbaud, Inc.
Boston Scientific Corporation
Brookdale Senior Living Inc.
Designer Brands Inc.
Fender Musical Instruments Corporation


BlueChoice HealthPlan of South Carolina, Inc.
Blue Cross of Idaho Health Service, Inc.
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Kansas City
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of South Carolina, Inc.

Wellmark, Inc.


Nucor Corporation

Owens Corning

Panera Bread Company

Rush University Medical Center

SAP America Inc.

University of Alabama – Birmingham

University of Texas System

Zions Bancorporation


Our Benefit Catalog partners include some the nation’s leading insurance carriers and suppliers to help protect consumers health, wealth, and lifestyle. The following is a list of some of our significant carrier and supplier sellers:

	Aetna
	Haven Life

	Aflac
	HealthSherpa

	Allstate Benefits
	MetLife

	BrightDime
	Nationwide Pet Insurance

	CIGNA
	Pet Benefit Solutions

	Genworth
	The Hartford

	GoodRx
	Transamerica Corporation
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No customer accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, one customer accounted for 13% of total revenue.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our software solutions through our direct sales organization. Our direct sales team comprises employer-focused and health plan-focused field sales professionals who are organized primarily by geography and account size.

We generate customer leads, accelerate sales opportunities and build brand awareness through our marketing programs and strategic relationships. Our marketing programs target HR, benefits, and finance executives, technology professionals, key brokers, and senior business leaders. Our principal marketing programs include:

· use of our website to provide application and company information, as well as learning opportunities for potential customers;

· sales development representatives who respond to incoming leads through digital and advertising programs and convert them into new sales opportunities;

· participation in, and sponsorship of, user conferences, executive events, trade shows and industry events, including our annual user and partner conference, One Place, and our invitation-only event for health insurance carrier executives, Health Plan Place;

· integrated marketing campaigns, including direct email, online web advertising, blogs, webinars and industry reports that include original thought leadership drawn from our unique set of data; and

· public relations, analyst relations and social media initiatives.

We also sell our software solutions through strategic partners such as SAP SE and Equifax.

Technology Infrastructure and Operations

As an enterprise cloud software vendor, we have always deployed our solutions using a SaaS model. Our customers access our software via application integrations, web browsers, and/or mobile devices, rather than by installing software on their premises. Through our multi-tenant architecture, our customers access a single software instance with multiple possible configurations enabled by our metadata-driven framework. The multi-tenant approach provides significant operating economies through aligned, shared computational services and processes as it helps us to reduce our fixed cost base and minimize unused capacity on our hardware. In addition, our software architecture gives us an advantage over legacy system vendors, who may be using a less flexible architecture that would require significant time and labor expense to address varied capability needs.

We host our applications and serve our customers from multiple, co-located, private cloud data centers in separate locations. We rely on third-party vendors to operate these data centers, which are designed to host mission-critical computer systems and have industry-standard measures in place to minimize service interruptions. Our technical operations staff manages the technology stacks supporting the Benefitfocus Platform and uses automated monitoring tools throughout our system to detect unusual events or malfunctions that could interfere with our customers’ or partners’ use of the Benefitfocus Platform. We monitor application health by verifying that all applications, interfaces and supporting middleware are operational. If our monitoring detects anomalous situations, our dedicated network operations staff respond immediately to diagnose the situation, communicate status, and resolve the matter. We take the security of our data, systems and operations very seriously, and minimize risk at every level of technology selection through software architecture, systems administration, and operational controls and procedures.
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Compliance and Certifications

We obtain third-party examinations of our controls relating to security. Certain examinations are conducted under Statement on Standards for Attestation Engagements, or SSAE, No. 18 (Reporting on Controls at a Service Organization). In particular, we obtain Service Organization Controls, or SOC, reports known as SOC 1 Type II and SOC 2 Type II audits that test the design and operating effectiveness of controls over a period of time. An independent auditor conducts these examinations annually and addresses, among other areas, our physical and environmental safeguards for production data centers, data availability, confidentiality, privacy, change management, and logical security. On an annual basis, a data security and HIPAA compliance risk assessment are also performed.

On an annual basis, we complete an independent assessment by a qualified security assessor (QSA) of compliance against the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standards, or PCI-DSS, applicable to Level 1 service providers. These standards focus on application and network security controls for companies that transmit and store credit card data on behalf of clients. Benefitfocus meets PCI compliance requirements as a Level 1 service provider and submits its Report on Compliance and Attestation of Compliance documenting this assessment to the three major credit card brands annually.

Competition

While we do not believe any single competitor offers similarly expansive benefits administration solutions, we face competition from various sources, many of which have greater resources than us. We have historically described our competition in our two market segments, employer and health plan. We believe that sources of competition encompass:

· ERP software companies offering a cloud-based benefits administration software solution;

· HR outsourcing companies;

· payroll service providers who expanded their core payroll services to include some form of cloud-based benefits administration services;

· insurance carriers that have invested in internally developed benefit management solutions;

· member services companies, including those providing web-based subscriber enrollment and claims adjudication services;

· brokers and consultants who have influence over benefits offerings; and

· various niche software vendors.

We believe that competition for benefits administration solutions is based primarily on the following factors:

· capability for customization through configuration, integration, security, scalability, and reliability of applications;

· competitive and understandable pricing;

· breadth and depth of application functionality;

· access to broad offering of non-medical benefits;

· size of customer base and level of user adoption;

· extensive data exchange network;

· cloud-based delivery model;

· dynamic communication capabilities with contextual media, animation, and acknowledgement tools;

· ability to integrate with legacy enterprise infrastructures and third-party applications;

· domain expertise in benefits and healthcare consumerism;
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· extensive base of rules and event-driven benefit eligibility and enrollment;

· accessible on any browser or mobile device;

· modern and adaptive technology platform;

· clearly defined implementation timeline;

· customer-branding and styling;

· data exchange standardization; and

· ability to innovate and respond to customer and legislative needs rapidly.

We believe that we compete effectively based upon all of these criteria, and that we are likely to continue to retain a high percentage of our customers from year to year. Nonetheless, we believe that the increasing acceptance of automated solutions in the healthcare marketplace and the adoption of more sophisticated technology and continuing legislative reform will result in increased competition, including potentially from large software companies with greater resources than ours. Other companies might develop superior or more economical service offerings that our customers could find more attractive than our offerings. Moreover, the regulatory landscape might shift in a direction that is more strategically advantageous to competitors.

Research and Development

Our ability to compete depends, in large part, on our continuous commitment to rapidly introduce new applications, technologies, features, and functionality. We deliver multiple software releases per year, updating the Benefitfocus Platform to leverage advances in cloud computing, mobile applications, and data management. Our research and development team is responsible for the design and development of our applications. We follow state-of-the-art practices in software development using modern programming languages, data storage systems, and other tools. We use both commercial and open source products, following a “best tool for the job” philosophy in product selection. Our software has a multi-tiered architecture that ensures flexibility to add or modify features quickly in response to changing market dynamics, customer needs, or regulatory requirements.

Our research and development expenses were $46.2 million, $54.7 million and $47.9 million for the years December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent, trade secret, copyright, and trademark laws, license agreements, confidentiality procedures, confidentiality and nondisclosure agreements, and technical measures to protect the intellectual property used in our business. We generally enter into confidentiality and nondisclosure agreements with our associates, consultants, vendors, and customers. We also seek to control access to and distribution of our software, documentation, and other proprietary information.

We use numerous trademarks for our products and services, and “Benefitfocus”, “Benefitfocus BenefitPlace”, “One Place”, “Benefitfocus For Life”, “ BenefitPlace”, “All Your Benefits. One Place.”, and “All Your Benefits. In Your Pocket.” are registered marks of Benefitfocus in the United States. Through claimed common law trademark protection, we also protect other Benefitfocus marks which identify our services, and we have reserved numerous domain names, including “benefitfocus.com”. We also have registered trademarks and pending trademark applications in foreign jurisdictions such as Australia, Canada, India, Israel, Ireland, New Zealand, South Africa, and the United Kingdom.

We have been granted seven U.S. patents and all our patents are for utility patents. Our patents provide protections up to 2034. We also have three Chinese, two Australian, two Japanese, two Taiwanese R.O.C., five Hong Kong, and one Canadian patents.

We also rely on certain intellectual property rights that we license from third parties. Although we believe that alternative technologies are generally available to replace such licenses, these third-party technologies may not continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms.
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Although we rely on intellectual property rights, including trade secrets, patents, copyrights, and trademarks, as well as contractual protections to establish and protect our proprietary rights, we believe that factors such as the technological and creative skills of our personnel, creation of new modules, features and functionality, and frequent enhancements to our applications are more essential to establishing and maintaining our technology leadership position.

The steps we have taken to protect our copyrights, trademarks, and other intellectual property may not be adequate, and the potential exists that third parties could infringe, misappropriate, or misuse our intellectual property. If this were to occur, it could harm our reputation and adversely affect our competitive position or operations. In addition, laws of other jurisdictions may not protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights from unauthorized use or disclosure in the same manner as the United States. The risk of unauthorized use of our proprietary and intellectual property rights may increase as our company expands outside of the United States.

Government Regulation

Introduction

The employee benefits industry is required to comply with extensive and complex U.S. laws and regulations at the federal and state levels. Although many regulatory and governmental requirements do not directly apply to our business, our customers are required to comply with a variety of U.S. laws, and we may be impacted by these laws as a result of our contractual obligations. For many of these laws, there is little history of regulatory or judicial interpretation upon which to rely.

Changes in Healthcare Regulation and Markets

Our business could be affected by changes in healthcare spending. PPACA and subsequent laws and regulations regarding the market for healthcare services have changed how healthcare services are covered, delivered, and reimbursed. PPACA, as enacted, expanded coverage of uninsured individuals by requiring states to expand Medicaid coverage significantly and to establish health insurance exchanges to facilitate the purchase of health insurance policies by individuals and small employers. The law also provided subsidies to states to create non-Medicaid plans for certain low-income residents. The requirement for states to expand Medicaid was subsequently repealed, and insurers have experienced mixed results providing services through the exchanges, leading many to exit this market. Increased volatility following the repeal of the individual mandate has led to additional uncertainty in the insurance market.

A significant goal of PPACA and subsequent reform efforts has been to move away from fee for service payments and toward capitated payments to make providers more accountable for the cost and quality of care provided. While many of the provisions of PPACA will not be directly applicable to us, PPACA, as currently implemented, might affect the business of many of our customers. Carriers and large employers might experience changes in the numbers of individuals they insure as a result of Medicaid expansion and the creation of state and national exchanges, though it is unclear how many states will decline to implement the Medicaid expansion or adopt state-specific exchanges.

Following the creation of the Medicare Shared Savings Program, Medicare and many commercial third party payors began implementing accountable care models in which groups of providers known as Accountable Care Organizations ("ACO") assume some amount of risk for the cost of care provided to groups of individuals. Also, CMS continues to test demonstration programs to bundle acute care and post–acute care reimbursement to hold providers accountable for costs across a broader continuum of care. These reimbursement methodologies and similar programs are likely to continue and expand, both in public and commercial health plans, and will likely impact the business of our customers.
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As has been the case since 2010, the long-term viability of PPACA remains in doubt, and we expect that the current Congress and White House will continue to seek ways to modify, repeal, or otherwise invalidate all, or certain provisions of PPACA. For instance, on January 20, 2017, President Trump issued an executive order stating that the U.S. federal government’s policy is to seek the prompt repeal of PPACA, and directing the heads of all executive departments and agencies to minimize the economic and regulatory burdens of PPACA to the maximum extent permitted by law. Also, the December 2017 revisions to the tax code eliminated PPACA’s individual mandate, which could serve as a basis for continued challenges to the constitutionality of the law and cause further disruption to the insurance

markets. Should Congress or the courts modify, repeal, or otherwise invalidate PPACA or any parts of its provisions, the business of our customers could be substantially affected.

Requirements Regarding the Confidentiality, Privacy and Security of Personal Information

HIPAA and Other Privacy and Security Requirements. Numerous U.S. federal and state laws and regulations apply to the privacy and security of personal health information. In particular, regulations promulgated pursuant to the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, establish privacy and security standards that limit the use and disclosure of protected health information and require the implementation of administrative, physical and technical safeguards to ensure the confidentiality, integrity, availability, and privacy of protected health information. Health plans, healthcare clearinghouses and most healthcare providers are considered "Covered Entities" subject to HIPAA.

With respect to our operations as a healthcare clearinghouse, we are directly subject to the Privacy Rule, the Security Rule and the Breach Notification Rule. In addition, our carrier customers, or payors, are considered to be Covered Entities and are required to enter into written agreements with us, known as Business Associate Agreements, under which we are considered to be a Business Associate and that require us to safeguard protected health information and restrict how we may use and disclose such information. The Privacy Rule extensively regulates the use and disclosure of protected health information by Covered Entities and their Business Associates. For example, the Privacy Rule permits Covered Entities and their Business Associates to use and disclose protected health information for treatment and to process claims for payment, but other uses and disclosures, such as marketing communications, require written authorization from the individual or must meet an exception specified under the Privacy Rule. The Privacy Rule also provides patients with rights related to understanding and controlling how their health information is used and disclosed. To the extent permitted by the Privacy Rule and our contracts with our customers, we may use and disclose protected health information to perform our services and for other limited purposes, such as creating de-identified information. Determining whether data has been sufficiently de-identified to comply with the Privacy Rule and our contractual obligations may require complex factual and statistical analyses and may be subject to interpretation. The Security Rule requires Covered Entities and their Business Associates to implement and maintain administrative, physical and technical safeguards to protect the security of protected health information that is electronically transmitted or electronically stored.

If we are unable to properly protect the privacy and security of health information entrusted to us, we could be found to have breached our contracts with our customers. Further, if we fail to comply with the Privacy Rule, Security Rule, or Breach Notification Rule while acting as a Covered Entity or Business Associate, we could face civil penalties of up to $59,522 per violation and a maximum civil penalty of $1,785,651 in a calendar year for violations of the same requirement, in addition to criminal penalties. Recently, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office for Civil Rights, which enforces HIPAA, appears to have increased its enforcement activities. Additionally, state attorneys general may bring civil actions seeking either injunctions or damages in response to violations of HIPAA that threaten the privacy of state residents.
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There are additional privacy and data security legal regimes at the federal and state level. For example, the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, regularly brings privacy and data enforcement actions under Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, alleging that certain activities constitute unfair or deceptive trade practices. The states have similar laws that prohibit unfair or deceptive trade practices. There are also state data security laws and state laws that regulate the use and disclosure of health information, among others. Further, by regulation, the FTC’s Red Flags Rule requires some financial institutions and creditors, which may include some of our customers, to implement identity theft prevention programs to detect, prevent and mitigate identity theft in connection with customer accounts. We may be required to apply additional resources to our existing processes to assist our affected customers in complying with this rule.

We have implemented and maintain physical, technical and administrative safeguards, including written policies and procedures, intended to protect all personal data, including protected health information, and have processes in place to assist us in complying with all applicable laws and regulations regarding the protection of this data and properly responding to any data breaches or incidents.

Data Breach Notification Laws. There are numerous federal and state laws that generally require notice to affected individuals, regulators, and sometimes the media or credit reporting agencies in the event of a data breach impacting personal information. For example, at the federal level, the HIPAA Breach Notification Rule mandates notification of breaches affecting protected health information to affected individuals and regulators under conditions set forth in the Rule. Covered Entities must report breaches of unsecured protected health information to affected individuals without unreasonable delay, but not to exceed 60 days of discovery of the breach by a Covered Entity or its agents. Notification must also be made to HHS and, in certain circumstances involving large breaches, to the media. Business Associates must report breaches of unsecured protected health information to Covered Entities within 60 days of discovery of the breach by the Business Associate or its agents. All states, the District of Columbia, Guam, Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands have enacted data breach notification laws. While some of these breach notification laws contain an exception for entities subject to HIPAA, other laws do not, and may impose notification obligations in addition to, or inconsistent with, the HIPAA Breach Notification Rule when a data breach implicates protected health information.

HIPAA Administrative Simplification

HIPAA also mandated a package of interlocking administrative simplification rules to establish standards and requirements for the electronic transmission of certain healthcare claims and payment transactions. These regulations are intended to encourage electronic commerce in the healthcare industry and apply directly to Covered Entities. Some of our businesses, including our healthcare clearinghouse operations, are considered Covered Entities under HIPAA and its implementing regulations.

Transaction Standards. The standard transaction regulations established under HIPAA, or Transaction Standards, mandate certain format and data content standards for the most common electronic healthcare transactions, using technical standards promulgated by recognized standards publishing organizations. These transactions include healthcare claims, enrollment, payment and eligibility. The Transaction Standards are applicable to that portion of our business involving the processing of healthcare transactions among payors, providers, patients and other healthcare industry constituents. Failure to comply with the Transaction Standards may subject us to civil and potentially criminal penalties and breach of contract claims. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, is responsible for enforcing the Transaction Standards.
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Payors who are unable to exchange data in the required standard formats can achieve Transaction Standards compliance by contracting with a clearinghouse to translate between standard and non-standard formats. As a result, use of a clearinghouse has allowed numerous payors to establish compliance with the Transaction Standards independently and at different times, reducing transition costs and risks. In addition, the standardization of formats and data standards envisioned by the Transaction Standards has only partially occurred. However, PPACA requires HHS to establish operating rules to promote uniformity in the implementation of each standardized electronic transaction. We cannot provide assurance regarding how the CMS will enforce the Transaction Standards. We have modified our systems and processes to implement the Transaction Standards and we continue to work with payors, healthcare information system vendors and other healthcare constituents to maintain our implementation of the Transaction Standards.

Health Plan and Other Entity Identifiers. HHS has promulgated regulations implementing the establishment of a unique health plan identifier, or HPID. Similar to a provider’s national provider identifier, the HPID provides an identification system for health plans to use for electronic transactions. HHS has also promulgated regulations implementing another entity identifier, or OEID, that serves as an identifier for entities that are not health plans, healthcare providers or individuals. These other entities, which include third-party administrators, transaction vendors, and clearinghouses, are not required to obtain an OEID, but they could obtain and use one if they needed to be identified in standardized transactions. The implementation of the enforcement of the HPID and OEID process has been indefinitely delayed by HHS, and if implemented its impact on our business is unclear at this time.

Financial Services Related Laws and Rules

Financial services and electronic payment processing services are subject to numerous laws, regulations and industry standards, some of which might impact our operations and subject us, our vendors and our customers to liability as a result of the payment distribution and processing solutions we offer. Although we do not act as a bank, we offer solutions that involve banks, or vendors who contract with banks and other regulated providers of financial services. As a result, we might be impacted by banking and financial services industry laws, regulations and industry standards, such as licensing requirements, solvency standards, requirements to maintain the privacy and security of nonpublic personal financial information and Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation deposit insurance limits. In addition, our patient billing and payment distribution and processing solutions might be impacted by payment card association operating rules, certification requirements and rules governing electronic funds transfers. If we fail to comply with applicable payment processing rules or requirements, we might be subject to fines and changes in transaction fees and may lose our ability to process credit and debit card transactions or facilitate other types of billing and payment solutions. Moreover, payment transactions processed using the Automated Clearing House Network, or ACH, are subject to network operating rules promulgated by the National Automated Clearing House Association and to various federal laws regarding such operations, including laws pertaining to electronic funds transfers, and these rules and laws might impact our billing and payment solutions. Further, our solutions might impact the ability of our payor customers to comply with state prompt payment laws. These laws require payors to pay healthcare claims meeting the statutory or regulatory definition of a “clean claim” within a specified time frame.

Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2020, we employed approximately 1,200 employees, who we refer to as associates. None of our associates are represented by a labor union or are covered by collective bargaining agreements. We are not involved in any material disputes with any of our associates, and we consider our current relations with our associates to be good. All of our associates are located in the United States.

We believe our associates are our greatest asset. We are committed to designing a culture and environment that empowers our associates to thrive in their professional and personal lives. We believe our corporate culture provides an advantage in recruiting new employees and retaining our best talent, as well as driving behaviors across our entire organization that help us succeed.
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Our mission is to improve lives with benefits. Our mission starts with our associates. We support the total wellbeing of our associates through targeted programs, products and community initiatives. Our associates have access to an innovative total rewards package, to help them to flourish, thrive and prosper.

We offer a package of benefits to our associates so they can engage with benefits designed to protect and improve their total wellbeing, such as:

· Essential core benefit offering in medical, dental and vision, with an annual contribution to the associate’s health savings account and the opportunity to personalize their benefit options to meet a diverse set of needs;

· Company-sponsored health and wellness programs; and

· A wide variety of curated voluntary benefits that help foster peace of mind.

Associates can develop resiliency and find support that fosters work-life balance through programs, adaptive skill-building and positive experiences, including:

Company-sponsored emotional health programs with caregiving support, employee assistance program and health advocacy services;

· A paid leave program;

· Company-sponsored disability benefits; and

· A culture and programs designed to help associates find connection and belonging.

Associates can build future financial security while being equipped for growth and success, including through our 401(k) Retirement Savings Plan with Company match, an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), and grants of equity awards to every full-time associate.

In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic had a significant impact on our workforce. Most of our associates have worked remotely since March 2020. We responded by establishing a team charged with considering and implementing strategies and policies to support our associates in this new environment. We also communicate frequently with associates to share and reinforce governmental recommendations and guidelines for safely navigating the pandemic.

We have a number of resources to support associates to thrive both professionally and personally including training and development programs, leadership programs, performance management, and regular engagement surveys that encourage open-ended feedback.

Benefitfocus is committed to providing a diverse and inclusive workplace in which equality, representation and respect create a culture of belonging. We believe our collective experiences make us stronger. We strive to be a place where everyone respects one another, regardless of national origin, race, color, gender, gender identity or expression, religion, ethnicity, sexual orientation, age or disability. As part of this commitment, we have established a Diversity, Inclusion and Belonging Council with a charter and executive sponsorship. We are committed to our mission to improve lives with benefits, and we are equally committed to embrace the diversity and uniqueness of everyone to move this mission forward.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in June 2000 as Benefitfocus.com, Inc., a South Carolina corporation. In September 2013, we reincorporated in Delaware as Benefitfocus, Inc. Our principal executive offices are located at 100 Benefitfocus Way, Charleston, South Carolina 29492, and our phone number is (843) 849-7476. Our website address is www.benefitfocus.com. The information on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not part of this report.
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Available Information

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, are available free of charge on our website at www.benefitfocus.com as soon as reasonably practicable after electronically filing or furnishing such material to the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Securities and Exchange Commission maintains a website (www.sec.gov) that includes our reports, proxy statements and other information.

Executive Officers

The following table sets forth information concerning our executive officers as of March 9, 2021:

	Name
	
	Age
	
	Position

	Stephen M. Swad
	59
	
	President and Chief Executive Officer, Director

	Mason R. Holland, Jr.
	56
	
	Executive Chairman, Director

	Alpana Wegner
	48
	
	Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer




Stephen M. Swad—President and Chief Executive Officer

Stephen Swad has been our President and Chief Executive Officer and a member of the board of directors since August 2020. Prior to that Mr. Swad served as our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer from July 2019 until his recent appointment. He has also previously served on our board of directors from December 2013 until July 2019. From January 2016 until July 2019, Mr. Swad served as Chief Financial Officer of Vox Media, LLC. From February 2012 until April 2015, Mr. Swad served as the President, Chief Executive Officer, and a director of Rosetta Stone Inc., a previously publicly held language-learning software company until its merger with Cambium Holding Corp. He was previously its Chief Financial Officer beginning in November 2010. Prior to joining Rosetta Stone, Mr. Swad served as the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Comverse Technology, Inc., beginning in May 2009. Prior to that, he served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae) (OTCQB) from May 2007 until August 2008. He has also held various senior financial management positions with then-public companies, including AOL Inc. (now a part of Oath Inc., renamed Verizon Media) and Time Warner Inc. now known as Warner Media LLC and its subsidiaries. Mr. Swad, a former partner of KPMG LLP, has also served as a Deputy Chief Accountant at the SEC. He served on the board of Eloqua, Inc. from August 2011 until February 2013, including between August 2012 and February 2013, during which time it was a publicly held company. Mr. Swad holds a B.A. in business administration from the University of Michigan.

Mason R. Holland, Jr.—Executive Chairman of the Board

Mason Holland, one of our founders, has been our Executive Chairman and a member of the board of directors since our founding in June 2000. Mr. Holland is responsible for the coordination of strategic partnerships with industry leaders and client relations. Mr. Holland founded American Pensions, Inc. in 1988, serving as its Chairman and President from 1988 to 2003. Mr. Holland also has established and operated a number of other business entities throughout his 35 plus year career, including a real estate development firm established in 1989 and still operational and a jet aircraft manufacturer for which he served as lead investor, chief executive officer and board chairman from

2009 to 2014. Mr. Holland has served on the board of the private company AmplifiedAg, Inc. since September 2018 and on the boards of the following non-profit organizations, American Red Cross, Lowcountry Chapter, South Carolina Region; South Carolina Aquarium; and The Charleston Gaillard Management Corporation. Mr. Holland attended Old Dominion University in Norfolk, Virginia.
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Alpana Wegner – Chief Financial Officer

Alpana Wegner has been our Chief Financial Officer since August 2020. Prior to that Ms. Wegner has served as our Vice President, Corporate Controller since December 2017, having first joined the Company in April 2017 in the carrier business unit as general manager. Previously, Ms. Wegner worked for Blackbaud, Inc. (NASDAQ: BLKB) beginning in October 2008. She served first as director of SEC reporting, then interim Corporate Controller, followed by Vice President roles as the Chief Financial Officer of the enterprise customer business unit, and in sales operations. From May 2001 to August 2004, Ms. Wegner served as the director of external reporting and compliance at Allied Waste Industries, Inc. (which was later purchased by Republic Services, Inc.). She also served in the assurance and business advisory segment of Arthur Andersen LLP. Ms. Wegner has previously served on the board of the non-profit Louie’s Kids, Inc. Ms. Wegner holds the CPA designation and received a B.S. in Accountancy from Arizona State University.
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Item 1A. RISK FACTORS.

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the consolidated financial statements and the related notes, before deciding to invest in shares of our common stock. If any of the following risks were to materialize, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and future growth prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the market price of our common stock could decline and you could lose part or all of your investment in our common stock.

Risks Related to Our Business

We have had a history of losses, and we might not be able to achieve or sustain profitability.

We have had a history of net losses, including of $24.3 million, $45.5 million, and $52.6 million, for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. We cannot predict if we will achieve sustained profitability in the near future or at all. We expect to make significant future expenditures to develop and expand our business. In addition, as a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses that we would not incur as a private company. These expenditures make it harder for us to achieve and maintain future profitability. We might not achieve sufficient revenue to achieve or maintain profitability. We could incur significant losses in the future for a number of reasons, including the other risks described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications and delays and other unknown events. Accordingly, we might not be able to achieve or maintain profitability and we may incur significant losses for the foreseeable future.

Our quarterly operating results have fluctuated in the past and might continue to fluctuate, causing the value of our common stock to decline substantially.

Our quarterly operating results might fluctuate due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control. As a result, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis might not be meaningful. You should not rely on our past results as indicative of our future performance. Moreover, our stock price might be based on expectations of future performance that are unrealistic or that we might not meet and, if our revenue or operating results fall below the expectations of investors or securities analysts, the price of our common stock could decline substantially. For example, on August 4, 2017, the first trading day after we publicly announced our operating results for the second quarter ended June 30, 2017, our stock price dropped $7.10 per share, or approximately 20.5%, to $27.50. Additionally, our stock traded at a multi-year low in March 2020 of $6.09 per share.

Our operating results have varied in the past. In addition to other risk factors listed in this section, some of the important factors that may cause fluctuations in our quarterly operating results include:

· the potential economic impact of COVID-19 on our products and services;

· the extent to which our products and services achieve or maintain market acceptance, including through brokers;

· our ability to hire and retain qualified personnel, including the rate of expansion of our sales force;

· changes in the regulatory environment related to benefits and healthcare, including in light of the Democratic party winning the U.S. presidency and control of the U.S. Senate, in addition to the House of Representatives;

· our ability to introduce new products and services and enhancements to our existing products and services on a timely basis;

· new competitors and the introduction of enhanced products and services from competitors;

· the financial condition of our current and potential customers;
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· changes in customer budgets and procurement policies;

· the amount and timing of our investment in research and development activities;

· technical difficulties with our products or interruptions in our services;

· regulatory compliance costs;

· the timing, size, and integration success of potential future acquisitions; and

· unforeseen expenses, including stockholder activist, litigation, and settlement costs.

In addition, a significant portion of our operating expense is relatively fixed in nature, and planned expenditures are based in part on expectations regarding future revenue. Accordingly, unexpected revenue shortfalls might decrease our gross margins and could cause significant changes in our operating results from quarter to quarter. If this occurs, the trading price of our common stock could fall substantially, either suddenly or over time.

Because we recognize revenue and expense relating to monthly subscriptions and professional services over varying periods, downturns or upturns in sales are not immediately reflected in full in our operating results.

As a SaaS company, under ASC 606, we recognize our subscription revenue monthly for the term of our contracts and therefore a shortfall in demand for our software solutions and professional services or a decline in new or renewed contracts in any one quarter might not significantly reduce our revenue for that quarter, but could negatively affect our revenue in future quarters. Accordingly, the effect of significant downturns in new or renewed sales of our products and services might not be reflected in full in our results of operations until future periods.

Our revenue recognition model also makes it difficult for us to rapidly increase our revenue through additional sales in any period, because revenue from new customers has to be recognized over the applicable term of the contracts.

The COVID -19 pandemic could have an adverse impact on our business and the duration and extent to which the pandemic will impact our future financial performance remains uncertain.

In March 2020, the World Health Organization classified the COVID-19 outbreak as a pandemic, which resulted in authorities implementing numerous measures to contain the virus, including travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, shelter-in-place orders, and business limitations and shutdowns. Since then, the COVID-19 pandemic has rapidly spread across the globe, and more importantly for our business across the United States, resulting in significant financial volatility, uncertainty, and economic disruption.

The COVID-19 pandemic could have a continued adverse impact on our business and future financial performance. In response, in 2020, we took several measures to contain costs and preserve our liquidity profile, including, among other things, implementing our previously reported restructuring plan and executive compensation and Board of Director compensation reductions. We also took precautionary measures to help ensure the safety and well-being of our employees and customers, including implementing a mandatory work-from-home policy, and establishing a COVID-19 Resource Center for our customers and funds to help support our own at-risk employees and their families. We expect our workforce to continue to remotely for a significant portion of 2021.

The ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business and financial results remains uncertain and depends on future developments, including, among other things, the duration and spread of the outbreak, its severity, the actions taken by governments and authorities to contain the virus or treat its impact, how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions can resume, the impact of the pandemic on our employees, including key personnel, the impact of business disruptions on our customers and the resulting impact on their demand for our products and services, layoffs by our employer customers, our customers’ ability to pay for our products and services, and our ability to provide services to individuals. Even after the COVID-19 pandemic has subsided, we may continue to experience
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materially adverse impacts to our business as a result of its global economic impact, including as a result of any recession that might occur. If we are unable to successfully respond to and manage the ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, and the resulting responses to it, our business, financial condition, and results of operation could continue to be adversely impacted.

Our business could be negatively affected as a result of the actions of activist stockholders.

Proxy contests and other actions by activist stockholders have been waged against many companies in our industry over the last several years. Activist stockholders might agitate, either publicly or privately, for changes to a company’s board of directors, management, structure, spend or strategic direction, among other things. Such actions might cause significant disruption to a company’s operations and cause a company to expend a significant amount of time and resources in responding to their requests.

Recently, we have engaged in extensive dialogue with an activist stockholder. These discussions resulted in the expenditure of significant time and energy by management and our Board of Directors and required dedication by the Company of significant resources. We have undertaken, and will continue to implement, several initiatives in order to enhance our corporate governance, improve our financial flexibility, bolster our balance sheet and strengthen our leadership team, but there is no assurance that we will achieve these goals, or that doing so will decrease the likelihood of activist stockholder engagement in the future.

If faced with a proxy contest or other activist stockholder request or action in the future, we might not be able or willing to respond successfully to the contest, action, or request, which could be significantly disruptive to our business. Even if we are successful, our business could be adversely affected by any proxy contest or activist stockholder request or action involving us because:

· responding to proxy contests and other actions by activist stockholders can be costly and time-consuming, disrupting operations and diverting the attention of management and employees, and can lead to uncertainty;

· perceived uncertainties as to the future direction of the Company or its business might result in the loss of potential acquisitions, collaborations or in-licensing opportunities, and might make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel and business partners; and

· if individuals are elected to our Board of Directors with a specific agenda, it might adversely affect our ability to effectively implement our strategic plan in a timely manner and create additional value for our stockholders.

Any such activist stockholder contests, actions or requests, or the mere public presence of activist stockholders among our stockholder base, could cause the market price for our ordinary shares to experience periods of significant volatility.

We depend on our senior management team, and the loss of one or more key associates or an inability to attract and retain highly skilled associates could adversely affect our business.

Our success depends largely upon the continued services of our key executive officers and other associates. We also rely on our leadership team in the areas of research and development, marketing, services, finance, and general and administrative functions, and on mission-critical individual contributors in sales and research and development. From time to time, there may be changes in our executive management team resulting from the hiring or departure of executives, which could disrupt our business. For example: in 2020, Ray August stepped down as president and chief executive officer and was replaced by Stephen Swad, our then-current chief financial officer, and Alpana Wegner, our then -current vice president, corporate controller, was appointed as our chief financial officer. Additionally in 2020, our former Chief Technology Officer resigned for personal reasons. In 2021, the Company announced that Mason Holland would step down from his position as Executive Chairman and a member of the Board, to
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be effective at the Company’s 2021 annual stockholders meeting. The loss of one or more of our executive officers or key associates could have a serious adverse effect on our business.

To continue to execute our growth strategy, we also must attract and retain highly skilled personnel. Competition is intense for salespeople and for engineers with high levels of experience in designing and developing software and Internet-related services. We might not be successful in maintaining our unique culture and continuing to attract and retain qualified personnel. We have from time to time in the past experienced, and we expect to continue to experience in the future, difficulty in hiring and retaining highly skilled personnel with appropriate qualifications. The pool of qualified personnel with SaaS experience and/or experience working with the benefits market is limited overall and specifically in Charleston, South Carolina, where our principal office is located. In addition, many of the companies with which we compete for experienced personnel have greater resources than we have and are located in geographic areas, like Silicon Valley, that may attract more qualified technology workers.

In addition, in making employment decisions, particularly in the Internet and high-technology industries, job candidates often consider the value of the equity awards they are to receive in connection with their employment. Volatility in the price of our stock might, therefore, adversely affect our ability to attract or retain highly skilled personnel. Furthermore, the requirement to expense certain stock awards might discourage us from granting the size or type of stock awards that job candidates require to join our company. If we fail to attract new personnel or fail to retain and motivate our current personnel, our business and future growth prospects could be severely harmed.

We operate in a highly competitive industry, and if we are not able to compete effectively, our business and operating results will be harmed.

The benefits management software market is highly competitive and is likely to attract increased competition, which could make it hard for us to succeed. Small, specialized providers continue to become more sophisticated and effective. In addition, large, well-financed, and technologically sophisticated software companies might focus more on our market. The size and financial strength of these entities is increasing as a result of continued consolidation in both the IT and healthcare industries. We expect large integrated software companies to become more active in our market, both through acquisitions and internal investment. In addition, insurance carriers may seek to bring certain of their benefits software solutions in-house, whether through acquisitions or internal investment. For example, Aetna, a customer of ours, owns bswift, a provider of insurance exchange technology solutions and benefits administration technology solutions and services. If Aetna were to decide to use bswift’s solution in place of any portion of the solutions we currently provide to them, then our business and operating results could be materially and adversely affected. As costs fall and technology improves, increased market saturation might change the competitive landscape in favor of our competitors.

Some of our current large competitors have greater name recognition, longer operating histories, and significantly greater resources than we do. As a result, our competitors might be able to respond more quickly and effectively than we can to new or changing opportunities, technologies, standards, or customer requirements. In addition, current and potential competitors have established, and might in the future establish, cooperative relationships with vendors of complementary products, technologies, or services to increase the availability of their products in the marketplace. Accordingly, new competitors or alliances might emerge that have greater market share, a larger customer base, more widely adopted proprietary technologies, greater marketing expertise, greater financial resources, and larger sales forces than we have, which could put us at a competitive disadvantage. Further, in light of these advantages, even if our products and services are more effective than those of our competitors, current or potential customers might accept competitive offerings in lieu of purchasing our offerings. Increased competition is likely to result in pricing pressures, which could negatively impact our sales, profitability, or market share. In addition to new niche vendors, who offer standalone products and services, we face competition from existing enterprise vendors, including those currently focused on software solutions that have information systems in place with potential customers in our target market. These existing enterprise vendors might promise products or services that offer ease of integration with existing systems and which leverage
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existing vendor relationships. In addition, large insurance carriers often have internal technology staffs and proprietary software for benefits management, making them less likely to buy our solutions.

The market for our products and services is immature and volatile, and if it does not develop or if it develops more slowly than we expect, the growth of our business will be harmed.

The cloud-based benefits management software market is relatively new and unproven, and it is uncertain whether it will achieve and sustain high levels of demand and market acceptance. Our success will depend to a substantial extent on the willingness of employers, carriers, consumers and brokers to increase their use of benefits management software. Many employers and carriers have invested substantial personnel and financial resources to integrate internally developed solutions or traditional enterprise software into their businesses for benefits management, and therefore might be reluctant or unwilling to migrate to our cloud-based solutions, including Benefit Catalog (formerly BenefitsPlace). Furthermore, some businesses might be reluctant to use cloud-based solutions because they have concerns about the security of their data and the reliability of the technology delivery model associated with these solutions. If employers, carriers, consumers and brokers do not perceive the benefits of our solutions, then our market might not develop at all, or it might develop more slowly than we expect, either of which could significantly adversely affect our operating results. In addition, we might make errors in predicting and reacting to relevant business trends, which could harm our business. If any of these risks occur, it could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

The SaaS pricing model is evolving and our failure to manage its evolution and demand could lead to lower than expected revenue and profit.

We derive most of our revenue growth from subscription offerings and, specifically, SaaS offerings. This business model depends heavily on achieving economies of scale because the initial upfront investment is costly and the associated revenue is recognized on a ratable basis. If we fail to achieve appropriate economies of scale or if we fail to manage or anticipate the evolution and demand of the SaaS pricing model, then our business and operating results could be adversely affected.

If we do not continue to innovate and provide products and services that are useful to consumers, employers, insurance carriers, and brokers and provide high quality support services, we might not remain competitive, and our revenue and operating results could suffer.

Our success depends in part on providing products and services that consumers, employers, insurance carriers, and brokers will use to manage benefits. We have refocused on customer-driven innovation and must continue to invest significant resources in research and development in order to enhance our existing products and services and introduce new high-quality products and services that customers will want. If we are unable to predict user preferences or industry changes, or if we are unable to modify our products and services on a timely basis, we might lose customers. Our operating results would also suffer if our innovations are not responsive to the needs of our customers, are not appropriately timed with market opportunity, or are not effectively brought to market. As technology continues to develop, our competitors might be able to offer results that are, or that are perceived to be, substantially similar to or better than those generated by us. This would force us to compete on additional product and service attributes and to expend significant resources in order to remain competitive.

In addition, we may experience difficulties with software development, industry standards, design, or marketing that could delay or prevent our development, introduction, or implementation of new solutions and enhancements. The introduction of new solutions by competitors, the emergence of new industry standards, or the development of entirely new technologies to replace existing offerings could render our existing or future solutions obsolete.

Our success also depends on providing high quality support services to resolve any issues related to our products and services. High quality education and customer support is important for the successful marketing and sale of our products and services and for the renewal of existing customers. If we do not

28
[image: ]

help our customers quickly resolve issues and provide effective ongoing support, our ability to sell additional products and services to existing customers would suffer and our reputation with existing or potential customers would be harmed.

If we are unable to retain our existing customers, our revenue and results of operations would be adversely affected.

We sell our products and services pursuant to agreements that are generally one to three years for employers and three to five years for carriers. While our employer contracts generally automatically renew, our carrier customers have no obligation to renew their contracts after their contract period expires, and these contracts might not be renewed on the same or on more profitable terms if at all. Additionally, some of our carrier customers are able to terminate their respective contracts without cause or for convenience, although generally our carrier contracts are only cancellable by the carrier in an instance of our uncured breach. As a result, our ability to grow depends in part on the continuance and renewal of our carrier contracts. We have experienced increased customer non-renewal over the past year or so. We cannot accurately predict future trends in customer renewals, and our customers’ renewal rates may decline or fluctuate because of several factors, including their level of satisfaction or dissatisfaction with our services, the cost of our services, the cost of services offered by our competitors, consolidations or reductions in our customers’ spending levels. If our carrier customers terminate or do not renew their contracts for our services, renew on less favorable terms, or do not purchase additional functionality or products, our revenue may grow more slowly than expected or decline, and our profitability and gross margins may be harmed.

A significant amount of our revenue is derived from our largest customers, and any reduction in revenue from any of these customers would reduce our revenue and net income.

Our ten largest customers by revenue accounted for approximately 34%, 37% and 42% of our consolidated revenue in each of 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. No customer accounted for more than 10% of our revenue in 2019 or 2020. One customer accounted for approximately 13% of our revenue in 2018. If any of our large customers or strategic partners decides not to renew its contracts with us, or to renew on less favorable terms, our business, revenue, reputation, and our ability to obtain new customers could be materially and adversely affected.

Economic or geopolitical uncertainties or downturns in the general economy or the industries in which our customers operate could disproportionately affect the demand for our solutions and negatively impact our results of operations.

General worldwide economic and geopolitical conditions have experienced significant downturns in the past, and market volatility and uncertainty remain widespread, including as a result of the coronavirus and the 2020 presidential election. All of this makes it extremely difficult for our customers and us to accurately forecast and plan future business activities. In addition, these conditions could cause our customers or prospective customers to decrease headcount, benefits, or HR budgets, which could decrease corporate spending on our products and services, resulting in delayed and lengthened sales cycles, a decrease in new customer acquisition, and/or loss of customers. Furthermore, during challenging economic times, our customers may have difficulty gaining timely access to sufficient credit or obtaining credit on reasonable terms, which could impair their ability to make timely payments to us and adversely affect our revenue. If that were to occur, our financial results could be harmed. Further, challenging economic conditions might impair the ability of our customers to pay for the products and services they already have purchased from us and, as a result, our write-offs of accounts receivable could increase. For example, during 2020 we experienced an increase in early termination and credit requests from our customers. We cannot predict the timing, strength, or duration of any economic slowdown or recovery. If the condition of the general economy or markets in which we operate worsens, our business could be harmed.
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Failure to adequately and effectively expand our direct sales force will impede our growth.

We believe that our future growth will in part depend on the development of our direct sales force and its ability to obtain new customers and to expand and further develop our existing customer base. Identifying and recruiting qualified personnel and training them in the use of our software requires significant time, expense, and attention. It can take six months or longer before a new sales representative is fully trained and productive. Our business may be adversely affected if our efforts to expand, train and retrain our direct sales force do not generate a corresponding increase in revenue. For example, reductions of our salesforce in 2016, 2018 and 2020, among other factors, negatively impacted sales, and as a result, revenue going forward. In particular, if we are unable to hire, develop and retrain sufficient numbers of productive direct sales personnel or if new direct sales personnel are unable to achieve desired productivity levels in a reasonable period of time, sales of our products and services will suffer and our growth will be impeded.

Our growth depends in part on the success of our strategic relationships with third parties, including brokers.

In order to grow our business, we anticipate that we will continue to depend on our relationships with third parties including resellers such as SAP SE, and other referral sources such as brokers, consultants, specialty benefits providers, insurance carriers, technology and content providers, administrative service providers and third-party system integrators. Identifying partners, negotiating and documenting relationships with them, and developing referral sources requires significant time and resources. In the first quarter of 2019, Mercer sold all of its Benefitfocus stock and we amended our commercial relationship with Mercer to better align with our strategic priorities and current trends in the marketplace. Our revised commercial agreement with them led to a reduction in our revenue from the relationship in 2019 and 2020, and we believe this trend will continue in 2021. Our competitors might be effective in providing incentives to third parties to favor their products or services or to prevent or reduce subscriptions to our products and services. Acquisitions of our partners by our competitors could result in a decrease in the number of our current and potential customers, as our partners may no longer facilitate the adoption of our applications by potential customers. If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our relationships with third parties, our ability to compete in the marketplace or to grow our revenue could be impaired and our operating results may suffer. Even if we are successful, we cannot assure you that these relationships will result in increased customer use of our applications or increased revenue.

If the number of individuals covered by our employer and carrier customers decreases or the number of products or services to which our employer and carrier customers subscribe or their employees purchase decreases, our revenue will decrease.

Under most of our customer contracts, we base our fees on the number of individuals to whom our customers provide benefits and the number of products or services subscribed to by our customers or purchased by their employees. Many factors may lead to a decrease in the number of individuals covered by our customers and the number of products or services subscribed to by our customers, including:

· layoffs by our customers or affecting our customers, in response to the COVID pandemic or otherwise;

· failure of our customers to adopt or maintain effective business practices;

· changes in the nature or operations of our customers;

· government regulations; and

· increased competition or other changes in the benefits marketplace.

If the number of individuals covered by our customers or the number of products or services subscribed to by our customers decreases for any reason, our revenue will likely decrease and could affect the contractual minimums for renewals in future periods. For example, during 2020, we
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experienced an increase in early termination and credit requests. Additionally, in 2020 revenue from some health plan customers was protected from decreases in the number of covered employees because it was based on contractual minimums, which might be renewed at lower levels in future periods.

Failure to manage our continued growth effectively could increase our expenses, decrease our revenue, and prevent us from implementing our business strategy.

We have experienced growth in the past and anticipate future growth, which could put a strain on our business. To manage our anticipated future growth effectively, we must continue to maintain and enhance our IT infrastructure, financial and accounting systems, and controls. We also must attract, train, and retain a significant number of qualified sales and marketing personnel, customer support personnel, professional services personnel, software engineers, technical personnel, and management personnel. Failure to effectively manage our anticipated future growth could lead us to over-invest or under-invest in development and operations, result in weaknesses in our infrastructure, systems, or controls, give rise to operational mistakes, losses, loss of productivity or business opportunities, and result in loss of employees and reduced productivity of remaining employees. Our anticipated future growth could require significant capital expenditures and might divert financial resources from other projects such as the development of new products and services. If our management is unable to effectively manage our anticipated future growth, our expenses might increase more than expected, our revenue could decline or might grow more slowly than expected, and we might be unable to implement our business strategy. The quality of our products and services might suffer, which could negatively affect our reputation and harm our ability to retain and attract customers.

If we fail to maintain awareness of our brand cost-effectively, our business might suffer.

We believe that maintaining awareness of our brand in a cost-effective manner is critical to continuing the widespread acceptance of our existing solutions and is an important element in attracting new customers. Furthermore, we believe that the importance of brand recognition will increase as competition in our market increases. Successful promotion of our brand will depend largely on the effectiveness of our marketing efforts and on our ability to provide reliable and useful services at competitive prices. Our efforts to build, maintain and market changes to our brand nationally have involved significant expenses. Brand promotion activities may not yield increased revenue, and even if they do, any increased revenue may not offset the expenses we incur in maintaining our brand. If we fail to successfully maintain our brand, or incur substantial expenses in an unsuccessful attempt to maintain our brand, we may fail to attract enough new customers or retain our existing customers to the extent necessary to realize a sufficient return on our brand-building efforts, and our business could suffer.

We might not be able to utilize a significant portion of our net operating loss or other tax credit carryforwards, which could adversely affect our profitability.

As of December 31, 2020, we had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards due to prior period losses, which began expiring unutilized in 2020 and will continue expiring through 2039 if not utilized. We also have South Carolina jobs tax credit and headquarters tax credit carryforwards, some of which have expired unutilized. The tax credit carryforwards that expire unused are unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities, which could adversely affect our profitability.

In addition, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, our ability to utilize net operating loss carryforwards or other tax attributes in any taxable year may be limited if we experience an “ownership change”. A Section 382 “ownership change” generally occurs if one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders who own at least 5% of our stock increase their ownership by more than 50 percentage points over their lowest ownership percentage within a rolling three-year period. Similar rules might apply under state tax laws. Future issuances of our stock could cause an “ownership change”. It is possible that an ownership change, or any future ownership change, could have a material effect on the use of our net operating loss carryforwards or other tax attributes, which could adversely affect our profitability.
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We might be unable to adequately protect, and we might incur significant costs in enforcing, our intellectual property and other proprietary rights.

Our success depends in part on our ability to enforce our intellectual property and other proprietary rights. We rely on a combination of trademark, trade secret, copyright, patent, and unfair competition laws, as well as license and access agreements and other contractual provisions, to protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights. In addition, we attempt to protect our intellectual property and proprietary information by requiring employees and consultants to enter into confidentiality, noncompetition, and assignment of inventions agreements. Our attempts to protect our intellectual property might be challenged by others or invalidated through administrative process or litigation. While we have a number of patents granted in the United States and other jurisdictions including China, Japan, Australia, Taiwan, Hong Kong and Canada, we might not be able to obtain meaningful patent protection for our software. In addition, if any patents are issued in the future, they might not provide us with any competitive advantages, or might be successfully challenged by third parties. Agreement terms that address non-competition are difficult to enforce in many jurisdictions and might not be enforceable in certain cases. To the extent that our intellectual property and other proprietary rights are not adequately protected, third parties might gain access to our proprietary information, develop and market products or services similar to ours, or use trademarks similar to ours, each of which could materially harm our business. Existing U.S. federal and state intellectual property laws offer only limited protection. Moreover, the laws of other countries in which we might in the future conduct operations or contract for services might afford little or no effective protection of our intellectual property. The failure to adequately protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights could materially harm our business.

In addition, if we resort to legal proceedings to enforce our intellectual property rights or to determine the validity and scope of the intellectual property or other proprietary rights of others, the proceedings could be burdensome and expensive, even if we were to prevail. Any litigation that is necessary in the future could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results or financial condition.

We might be sued by third parties for alleged infringement of their proprietary rights.

The software and Internet industries are characterized by the existence of a large number of patents, trademarks, and copyrights and by frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights. We have received in the past, and might receive in the future, communications from third parties claiming that we have infringed the intellectual property rights of others. Our technologies might not be able to withstand any third-party claims or rights against their use. Any intellectual property claims, with or without merit, could be time-consuming and expensive to resolve, divert management attention from executing our business plan, and require us to pay monetary damages or enter into royalty or licensing agreements. In addition, many of our contracts contain warranties with respect to intellectual property rights, and most require us to indemnify our clients for third-party intellectual property infringement claims, which would increase the cost to us of an adverse ruling on such a claim.

Moreover, any settlement or adverse judgment resulting from such a claim could require us to pay substantial amounts of money or obtain a license to continue to use the software or information that is the subject of the claim, or otherwise restrict or prohibit our use of it. We might not be able to obtain a license on commercially reasonable terms, if at all, from third parties asserting an infringement claim; we might not be able to develop alternative technology on a timely basis, if at all; and we might not be able to obtain a license to use a suitable alternative technology to permit us to continue offering, and our clients to continue using, our affected services. Accordingly, an adverse determination could prevent us from offering our services to others.
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Any future litigation against us could be costly and time-consuming to defend.

We may become subject, from time to time, to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business such as claims brought by our clients in connection with commercial disputes, employment claims made by our current or former associates, or purported securities class actions. Litigation might result in substantial costs and may divert management’s attention and resources, which might seriously harm our business, overall financial condition, and operating results. Insurance might not cover such claims, might not provide sufficient payments to cover all the costs to resolve one or more such claims, and might not continue to be available on terms acceptable to us. A claim brought against us that is uninsured or underinsured could result in unanticipated costs, thereby reducing our operating results and leading analysts or potential investors to reduce their expectations of our performance, which could reduce the trading price of our stock.

Acquisitions could prove difficult to integrate, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value, and adversely affect our operating results and the value of our common stock.

As part of our business strategy, we might acquire, enter into joint ventures with, or make investments in complementary companies, services, and technologies in the future. For example, in February 2019, we acquired certain assets of Connecture, Inc. We spent considerable time, effort, and money pursuing this acquisition, our first in years, and need now to continue to successfully integrate it into our business. Acquisitions and investments involve numerous risks, including:

· difficulties in identifying and acquiring products, technologies or businesses that will help our business;

· difficulties in integrating operations, technologies, services and personnel;

· diversion of financial and managerial resources from existing operations;

· risk of entering new markets in which we have little to no experience; and

· delays in customer purchases due to uncertainty and the inability to maintain relationships with customers of the acquired businesses.

If we fail to properly evaluate acquisitions or investments, we might not achieve the anticipated benefits of any such acquisitions, we might incur costs in excess of what we anticipate, and management resources and attention might be diverted from other necessary or valuable activities.

Future sales to customers outside the United States or with international operations might expose us to risks inherent in international sales which, if realized, could adversely affect our business.

An element of our growth strategy is to expand internationally. Operating in international markets requires significant resources and management attention and will subject us to regulatory, economic, and political risks that are different from those in the United States. Because of our limited experience with international operations, our international expansion efforts might not be successful in creating demand for our products and services outside of the United States or in effectively selling our solutions in the international markets we enter. In addition, we will face risks in doing business internationally that could adversely affect our business, including:

· unstable regional political and economic conditions, such as those caused by statements and actions by the current U.S. presidential administration and the U.K. exit from the European Union;

· the need to localize and adapt our solutions for specific countries, including translation into foreign languages and associated expenses;

· data privacy and security laws, such as the European General Data Protection Regulation and data localization laws that require data to be stored and processed in a designated territory;
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· difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;

· different pricing environments, longer sales cycles and longer accounts receivable payment cycles and collections issues;

· new and different sources of competition;

· weaker protection for intellectual property and other legal rights than in the United States and practical difficulties in enforcing intellectual property and other rights outside of the United States;

· laws and business practices favoring local competitors;

· compliance challenges related to the complexity of multiple, conflicting and changing governmental laws and regulations, including employment, tax, privacy, and data protection laws and regulations;

· increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities;

· restrictions on the transfer of funds; and

· adverse tax consequences.

If we denominate our international contracts in local currencies, fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies might impact our operating results when translated into U.S. dollars.

Changes in and interpretations of accounting principles and their implementation could have an adverse impact on our reported financial results.

We prepare our financial statements in accordance with GAAP. These rules are subject to interpretation by the SEC and various bodies formed to interpret and create appropriate accounting principles. Changes in these rules or their interpretation could have a negative impact on our reported financial results and may retroactively affect previously reported transactions. For example, we incurred considerable cost and effort to implement the new revenue and lease standards in 2018 and 2019.

Implementation of these new standards, and any future accounting pronouncements, implementation guidelines, or interpretations, could have an adverse impact on our reported financial results, require that we make significant changes to our systems, processes and controls, or the way we conduct our business. In addition, we have expended and might in the future expend considerable effort and resources implementing accounting updates, which in and of itself could have negative impact on our results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Products and Services Offerings

The breach or failure of our security measures, unauthorized access to or disclosure of customers’ or consumers’ data, or disruption of our products or services caused by security breaches or other incidents may result in our products and services being perceived as unsecure, cause customers and consumers to curtail or stop using our products and services, and cause us to incur significant liabilities.

Our products and services involve the storage and transmission of customers’ and consumers’ confidential information, which may include sensitive individually identifiable information that is subject to stringent legal, regulatory, or contractual obligations. Because of the sensitivity of this information, our privacy and security measures related to our products and service offerings, including the security features of our software, are very important. Although we have privacy and security measures in place designed to protect customers’ and consumers’ data and our systems, techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems and data change frequently and often are not recognized until launched against a target. It is also possible that, due to the surreptitious nature of certain data breaches and other incidents, they may remain undetected for an extended period, which may exacerbate harm to the company. We cannot ensure that our measures will not be breached or otherwise
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fail to protect confidential information or prevent disruption of our products and services, including as a result of inadvertent disclosures through technological or human error (including employee or service provider error), malfeasance, hacking, ransomware, social engineering (including phishing schemes), computer viruses, malware, or otherwise. Unauthorized individuals may acquire or obtain unauthorized access to our customers’ or consumers’ confidential information (including medical, financial or other personal information). Data breaches, failures of our privacy or security measures, inadvertent disclosures, disruptions of our products and services, and other incidents could result in serious harm to our reputation, our business could suffer, and we could incur serious liability and other expenses related to litigation (including damages associated with breach-of-contract claims and consumer litigation), penalties for violation of applicable laws or regulations, costly litigation or government investigations, and remediation efforts to prevent future occurrences.

We rely on various parties (including as users of our products, services, and systems), such as employers’ HR departments, carriers, service providers, and consumers themselves for key services and activities that impact the security of our products, services, and systems and the privacy and security of data and information accessible within them, such as data hosting and administration of enrollment, consumer status changes, claims, and billing. These individuals and organizations may, for example, experience data breaches or cause unauthorized access to or disclosure of information. Our customers may authorize or enable third parties to access their information and data that is stored on our systems. Because we do not determine such access, we cannot ensure the complete security, confidentiality, integrity, or availability of such data in our systems.

Privacy and security incidents are not uncommon in our industry due to the nature of our industry’s services, the high volume of sensitive information involved, and the desirability of that information to bad actors. Incidents involving phishing, hacking, and misdirected communications containing sensitive information can and do occur. Customers and end-users of our industry’s products and services are also the source of privacy and security incidents, sometimes due to failures to adhere to appropriate privacy and data security practices. For example, employers sometimes fail to terminate the account credentials of former employees or permit current employees to share account credentials.

Like others in our industry, we experience cyber-attacks and other attempts to disrupt or gain unauthorized access to our systems on a regular basis. When we become aware of privacy or security incidents, we work diligently to address them, including by working to terminate unauthorized or inappropriate access and implementing additional measures, training, and providing guidance to customers and end users in order to avoid the reoccurrence and future incidents. Although to date privacy and security incidents have not been material, they could expose us to significant expense, legal liability, and harm to our reputation, which might result in loss of business.
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Our failure or failure by our customers to obtain proper permissions and waivers might result in claims against us or may limit or prevent our use of data, which could harm our business.

We require our customers to provide necessary notices and to obtain necessary permissions and waivers for use and disclosure of information on the Benefitfocus Platform, and we require contractual assurances from them that they have done so and will do so. If, however, despite these requirements and contractual obligations, our customers or consumers do not obtain necessary permissions and waivers, then our use and disclosure of information that we receive from them or on their behalf might be limited or prohibited by state or federal privacy laws or other laws. This could impair our functions, processes and databases that reflect, contain, or are based upon such data and might prevent use of such data. In addition, this could interfere with, or prevent creation or use of, rules, analyses, or other data-driven activities that benefit us and our business. Moreover, we might be subject to claims or liability for use or disclosure of information by reason of lack of valid notices, agreements, permissions or waivers. These claims or liabilities could subject us to unexpected costs and adversely affect our operating results.

Our proprietary software might not operate properly, which could damage our reputation, give rise to claims against us, or divert application of our resources from other purposes, any of which could harm our business and operating results.

Proprietary software development is time-consuming, expensive, and complex. Unforeseen difficulties can arise. We might encounter technical obstacles, and it is possible that we discover problems that prevent our proprietary applications from operating properly. If they do not function reliably or fail to achieve customer expectations in terms of performance, customers could assert liability claims against us and/or attempt to cancel their contracts with us. This could damage our reputation and impair our ability to attract or maintain customers.

Moreover, benefits management software as complex as ours has in the past contained, and may in the future contain, or develop, undetected defects or errors. Material performance problems or defects in our products and services might arise in the future. Errors might result from the interface of our services with legacy systems and data, which we did not develop and the function of which is outside of our control. Defects or errors might arise in our existing or new software or service processes. Because changes in employer, carrier, and legal requirements and practices relating to benefits are frequent, we are continuously discovering defects and errors in our software and service processes compared against these requirements and practices. Undiscovered vulnerabilities could expose our software to unscrupulous third parties who develop and deploy software programs that could attack our software or result in unauthorized access to, acquisition of, or disclosure of customer data. Defects and errors and any failure by us to identify and address them could result in loss of revenue or market share, liability to customers or others, failure to achieve market acceptance or expansion, diversion of development and other resources, injury to our reputation, and increased service and maintenance costs. Defects or errors in our product or service processes might discourage existing or potential customers from purchasing services from us. Correction of defects or errors could prove to be impossible or impracticable. The costs incurred in correcting any defects or errors or in responding to resulting claims or liability might be substantial and could adversely affect our operating results.

In addition, customers that rely on our products and services to collect, manage, and report benefits data might have a greater sensitivity to service errors and security vulnerabilities than customers of software products in general. We market and sell services that, among other things, provide information to assist care providers in tracking and treating ill patients. Any operational delay in or failure of our software service processes might result in the disruption of patient care and could cause harm to our business and operating results.

Our customers might assert claims against us in the future alleging that they suffered damages due to a defect, error, or other failure of our product or service processes. A product liability claim or errors or omissions claim could subject us to significant legal defense costs and adverse publicity regardless of the merits or eventual outcome of such a claim.
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Various events could interrupt customers’ access to the Benefitfocus Platform, exposing us to significant costs.

The ability to access the Benefitfocus Platform is critical to our customers. Our operations and facilities are vulnerable to interruption and/or damage from a number of sources, many of which are beyond our control, including, without limitation: (i) power loss and telecommunications failures, (ii) fire, flood, hurricane, and other natural disasters, (iii) software and hardware errors, failures or crashes in our own systems or in other systems, (iv) computer viruses, denial-of-service attacks, hacking and similar disruptive problems in our own systems and in other systems, and (v) civil unrest, war, and/or terrorism. We have implemented various measures to protect against interruptions of customers’ access to our platform. If customers’ access is interrupted because of problems in the operation of our facilities, we could be exposed to significant claims by customers, particularly if the access interruption is associated with problems in the timely delivery of funds due to customers or medical information relevant to patient care. Our plans for disaster recovery and business continuity rely on third-party providers of related services. If those vendors fail us at a time when our systems are not operating correctly, we could incur a loss of revenue and liability for failure to fulfill our obligations. Any significant instances of system downtime could negatively affect our reputation and ability to retain customers and sell our services, which would adversely impact our revenue.

In addition, retention and availability of patient care and physician reimbursement data are subject to federal and state laws governing record retention, accuracy, and access. Some laws impose obligations on our customers and on us to produce information for third parties and to amend or expunge data at their direction. Our failure to meet these obligations might result in liability, which could increase our costs and reduce our operating results.

We rely on data center providers, Internet infrastructure, bandwidth providers, third-party computer hardware and software, other third parties, and our own systems for providing services to our customers, and any failure or interruption in the services provided by these third parties or our own systems could expose us to litigation and negatively impact our relationships with customers, adversely affecting our brand and our business.

We serve our customers primarily from three data centers, located in Raleigh, North Carolina, Charlotte, North Carolina, and Ashburn, Virginia. While we control and have access to our servers, we do not control the operation of these facilities. The owners of our data center facilities have no obligation to renew their agreements with us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If we are unable to renew these agreements on commercially reasonable terms, or if one of our data center operators is acquired, we may be required to transfer our servers and other infrastructure to new data center facilities, and we may incur significant costs and possible service interruption in connection with doing so. Problems faced by our third-party data center locations, with the telecommunications network providers with whom we or they contract, or with the systems by which our telecommunications providers allocate capacity among their customers, including us, could adversely affect the experience of our customers. Our third-party data centers operators could decide to close their facilities without adequate notice. In addition, any financial difficulties, such as bankruptcy faced by our third-party data centers operators or any of the service providers with whom we or they contract may have negative effects on our business, the nature and extent of which are difficult to predict.
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In addition, our ability to deliver our web-based services depends on the development and maintenance of the infrastructure of the Internet by third parties. This includes maintenance of a reliable network backbone with the necessary speed, data capacity, bandwidth capacity, and security. Our services are designed to operate without interruption in accordance with our service level commitments. However, we have experienced and expect that we will experience future interruptions and delays in services and availability from time to time. In the event of a catastrophic event with respect to one or more of our systems, we may experience an extended period of system unavailability, which could negatively impact our relationship with customers. To operate without interruption, both we and our service providers must guard against:

· damage from fire, power loss, natural disasters and other force majeure events outside our control;

· communications failures;

· software and hardware errors, failures, and crashes;

· security breaches, computer viruses, hacking, denial-of-service attacks, and similar disruptive problems; and

· other potential interruptions.

We also rely on computer hardware purchased or leased and software licensed from third parties in order to offer our services, including software from Oracle Corporation and Microsoft Corporation, and routers and network equipment from Cisco, Dell and Hewlett-Packard Company. This hardware and software is generally commercially available on varying terms. However, it is possible that this hardware and software might not continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Any loss of the right to use any of this hardware or software could result in delays in the provisioning of our services until equivalent technology is either developed by us, or, if available, is identified, obtained and integrated.

We exercise limited control over third-party vendors, which increases our vulnerability to problems with technology and information services they provide. Interruptions in our network access and services might in connection with third-party technology and information services reduce our revenue, cause us to issue refunds to customers for prepaid and unused subscription services, subject us to potential liability, or adversely affect our renewal rates. Although we maintain insurance for our business, the coverage under our policies might not be adequate to compensate us for all losses that may occur. In addition, we might not be able to continue to obtain adequate insurance coverage at an acceptable cost, if at all.

The use of open source software in our products and solutions may expose us to additional risks and harm our intellectual property rights.

Some of our products and solutions use or incorporate software that is subject to one or more open source licenses. Open source software is typically freely accessible, usable, and modifiable. Certain open source software licenses require a user who intends to distribute the open source software as a component of the user’s software to disclose publicly part or all of the source code to the user’s software. In addition, certain open source software licenses require the user of such software to make any derivative works of the open source code available to others on potentially unfavorable terms or at no cost.

The terms of many open source licenses to which we are subject have not been interpreted by U.S. or foreign courts. Accordingly, there is a risk that those licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to commercialize our solutions. In that event, we could be required to seek licenses from third parties in order to continue offering our products or solutions, to re-develop our products or solutions, to discontinue sales of our products or solutions, or to release our proprietary software code under the terms of an open source license, any of which could harm our business. Further, given the nature of open source software, it may be more likely that third parties might assert copyright and other intellectual property infringement claims against us based on our use of these open source software programs.

38
[image: ]

While we monitor the use of all open source software in our products, solutions, processes, and technology and try to ensure that no open source software is used in such a way as to require us to disclose the source code to the related product or solution when we do not wish to do so, it is possible that such use may have inadvertently occurred in deploying our proprietary solutions. In addition, if a third-party software provider has incorporated certain types of open source software into software we license from such third party for our products and solutions without our knowledge, we could, under certain circumstances, be required to disclose the source code to our products and solutions. This could harm our intellectual property position and our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Risks Related to Regulation

Government regulation of the areas in which we operate creates risks and challenges with respect to our compliance efforts and our business strategies.

The healthcare and wellness industries are highly-regulated and subject to changing political, legislative, regulatory, and other influences. Changes in the laws and regulations may impact the operating environment and healthcare market and, by extension, the employee benefits industry. Among other impacts, existing and new laws and regulations affecting the employee benefits industry could create legal liabilities for us, cause us to incur additional costs and/or restrict our operations. These laws and regulations are complex and their application to specific services and relationships are not always clear. In particular, many existing laws and regulations affecting employee benefits, when enacted, did not anticipate the services that we provide, and these laws and regulations might be applied to our services in ways that we do not anticipate. Our failure to accurately anticipate the application of these laws and regulations, or our failure to comply, could create liability for us, result in adverse publicity, and negatively affect our business. Some of the risks we face from the regulation of employee benefits are as follows:

· Healthcare Market Reforms. Healthcare services and benefits are delivered and reimbursed under an increasingly intricate, and frequently uncertain, statutory and regulatory framework. Ongoing efforts to repeal and/or reform part or all of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 (“PPACA”), new payment models for certain federal healthcare programs, and efforts to slow the growth in healthcare spending and to alter the regulatory landscape have created uncertainty in the healthcare industry broadly. Although many of these laws and regulations do not directly apply to us, they may affect the business of many of our customers. For instance, carriers and large employers might experience changes in the numbers of individuals they insure as a result of the elimination of the penalty associated with PPACA’s individual mandate, possible repeal of guaranteed issue, and flux in the state and national exchanges under PPACA. Although we are unable to predict with any reasonable certainty or otherwise quantify the likely impact of PPACA repeal efforts and other deregulatory initiatives on our business model, financial condition, and operations, as well as changes in the business of our customers and the number of individuals they insure, may negatively impact our business.

•The Federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the federal False Claims Act, the Stark Law, and related laws. Providers and suppliers that accept reimbursement from federal and state healthcare programs, and those that contract with them, are required to comply with various laws and regulations intended to minimize the risk of fraud and abuse. These laws include the federal anti-kickback statute, which attaches criminal liability to unlawful inducements for the referral of business reimbursable under federally-funded healthcare programs; the Stark Law, which attach repayment and monetary damages where a healthcare service provider seeks reimbursement for providing certain services to a patient who was referred by a physician that has certain types of direct or indirect financial relationships with such service provider; the federal False Claims Act, which attaches per-claim liability and potentially treble damages to the filing of false claims for federal payment; the federal prohibition on beneficiary inducements. Many states have also adopted similar laws that apply to any third-party payor including commercial plans.
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The False Claims Act prohibits intentionally submitting, conspiring to submit, or causing to be submitted, false or otherwise improper claims, records or statements to the federal government, or intentionally failing to return overpayments, in connection with reimbursement by federal government programs. In addition, violations of the Stark law and the federal Anti-Kickback Statute can also lead to liability under the federal False Claims Act. Most states have enacted false claims laws analogous to the federal False Claims Act. In addition, the federal False Claims Act and some state false claims laws permit private individuals to file whistleblower lawsuits known as “qui tam” actions on behalf of the federal or state government. Many states have passed laws similar to the federal False Claims Act that pertain to all payors, not just items or services paid for by the federal government.

Although our business operations are not generally directly subject to these laws and regulations, any contract we have with a government entity requires us to comply with these laws and regulations. Further, our customers and clients are often subject to these complex laws, and any failure by us or our clients to comply with these laws and regulations could result in substantial liability, including but not limited to criminal liability, could adversely affect demand for our or our client’s services, and could force us to expend significant capital and other resources to address the failure. Any determination by a court or regulatory agency that our services with government clients violate these laws and regulations could subject us to civil or criminal penalties, invalidate all or portions of some of our government client contracts, require us to change or terminate some portions of our business, require us to refund portions of our services fees, cause us to be disqualified from serving not only government clients but also all clients doing business with government payers, and have an adverse effect on our business. In addition, failure to accurately anticipate the application of these laws and regulations to our or our client’s business or any other failure to comply with regulatory requirements could create liability and negatively affect our business. These risks are exacerbated by the fact that many of these laws have not been fully interpreted by regulatory authorities or the courts, and their provisions are sometimes complex and open to a variety of interpretations.

· HIPAA and Other Privacy and Security Requirements. Numerous federal and state laws and regulations govern the privacy and security of personal health information. In particular, regulations govern the privacy and security of personal health information. In particular, regulations promulgated pursuant to the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, as amended, established privacy and security standards that limit the use and disclosure of protected health information, and require the implementation of administrative, physical, and technological safeguards to ensure the confidentiality, integrity, availability, and privacy of protected health information. Health plans, healthcare clearinghouses, and most providers are “Covered Entities” subject to HIPAA. With respect to our operations as a healthcare clearinghouse, we are directly subject to the privacy regulations established under HIPAA, or the Privacy Rule, and the security regulations established under HIPAA, or the Security Rule, and the data security breach notification regulations established under HIPAA, or the Breach Notification Rule. In addition, our carrier customers, or payors, are considered Covered Entities and are required to enter into written agreements with us, known as Business Associate Agreements, under which we are considered to be a “Business Associate” and that require us to safeguard protected health information and restrict how we may use and disclose such information. Both Covered Entities and Business Associates are subject to direct oversight and audit by the Department of Health and Human Services.

Violations of HIPAA could result in civil fines of up to $59,522 per violation and a maximum civil penalty of $ 1,785,651 in a calendar year for violations of the same requirement, as well as criminal penalties. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services’ Office for Civil Rights (“OCR”), which enforces HIPAA, continues to increase its enforcement activities. OCR also operates a formal HIPAA audit program. The audits are intended to assess compliance with HIPAA by both Covered Entities and Business Associates and are conducted by OCR with assistance from third-party vendors. Issues identified during the audits may result in agency-
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imposed corrective action plans or civil monetary penalties. Additionally, state attorneys general may bring civil actions seeking either injunctions or damages in response to violations of HIPAA that threaten the privacy of state residents.

We may not be able to adequately address the business risks created by HIPAA implementation and enforcement. Furthermore, we are unable to predict what changes to HIPAA or other laws or regulations might be made in the future or how those changes could affect our business or the costs associated with compliance. Noncompliance may result in litigation, civil penalties, fines and/or settlements.

Some payors and clearinghouses interpret HIPAA transaction requirements differently than we do. Where payors or clearinghouses require conformity with their interpretations as a condition of a successful transaction, we seek to comply with their interpretations.

In addition to the Privacy Rule and Security Rule, most states have enacted patient confidentiality laws that protect against the disclosure of confidential medical and/or health information, and many states have adopted or are considering further legislation in this area, including privacy safeguards, security standards, and data security breach notification requirements. Such state laws, if more stringent than HIPAA requirements, are not preempted by the federal requirements, and we are required to comply with them. Failure by us to comply with any state standards regarding patient privacy may subject us to penalties, including civil monetary penalties and, in some circumstances, criminal penalties. Such failure may injure our reputation and adversely affect our ability to retain customers and attract new customers.

· Personal Privacy and Consumer Protection. Numerous federal and state laws and regulations govern the collection, retention, use, and disclosure of personal information. In addition to HIPAA, we are subject to various laws, rules and regulations related to privacy and information security, including those promulgated under the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act and various state laws regulating the use and security of personal information. Those laws, rules, and regulations include requirements such as reasonable and appropriate safeguards to protect personal information or providing appropriate notice to consumers about how their personal information will be used or disclosed. State legislatures have been actively considering and enacting new laws addressing data security, security breach notification, and privacy, including updates to the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 that were passed in 2020. Additionally, the California Privacy Rights Act was recently approved by California voters through a ballot initiative. These areas may present implementation challenges, could be an enforcement priority for the state regulators, and could generate increased lawsuits by consumers and other individuals. Our management believes that we are currently operating in compliance with these regulations. However, continued compliance with these evolving laws, rules and regulations regarding the privacy, security and protection of our customers’ data, or the implementation of any additional privacy rules and regulations, could result in higher compliance and technology costs for us.

· Medicare and Medicaid Regulatory Requirements. We have contracts with insurance carriers who offer Medicare Managed Care (also known as Medicare Advantage or Medicare Part C) and Medicaid Managed Care benefits plans. We also have contracts with insurance carriers who offer Medicare prescription drug benefits (also known as Medicare Part D) plans. The activities of the Medicare plans are regulated by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, the federal agency that provides oversight of the Medicare and Medicaid programs. The Medicaid Managed Care plans are regulated by both CMS and the individual states where the plans are offered. Some of the activities that we might perform, such as the enrollment of beneficiaries, may be subject to CMS and/or state regulation, and such regulations may force us to change the way we do business or otherwise restrict our ability to provide services to such plans. Moreover, the regulatory environment with respect to these programs is increasingly complex.
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· Financial Services-Related Laws and Rules. Financial services and electronic payment processing services are subject to numerous laws, regulations and industry standards, some of which might impact our operations and subject us, our vendors, and our customers to liability as a result of the payment distribution and processing solutions we offer. Although we do not act as a bank, we offer solutions that involve banks, or vendors who contract with banks and other regulated providers of financial services. As a result, we might be impacted by banking and financial services industry laws, regulations, and industry standards, such as licensing requirements, solvency standards, requirements to maintain the privacy and security of nonpublic personal financial information, and Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation deposit insurance limits. In addition, our patient billing and payment distribution and processing solutions might be impacted by payment card association operating rules, certification requirements, and rules governing electronic funds transfers. If we fail to comply with applicable payment processing rules or requirements, we might be subject to fines and changes in transaction fees and may lose our ability to process credit and debit card transactions or facilitate other types of billing and payment solutions. Moreover, payment transactions processed using the Automated Clearing House are subject to network operating rules promulgated by the National Automated Clearing House Association and to various federal laws regarding such operations, including laws pertaining to electronic funds transfers, and these rules and laws might impact our billing and payment solutions. Further, our solutions might impact the ability of our payor customers to comply with state prompt payment laws. These laws require payors to pay healthcare claims meeting the statutory or regulatory definition of a “clean claim” within a specified time frame.

· Insurance Broker Laws. Insurance laws in the United States are often complex, and states have broad authority to adopt regulations regarding brokerage activities. Our business's regulatory oversight generally also includes activity governing the selection and payment of insurance products and the licensing of insurance brokers and our wholly owned subsidiary, BenefitStore, Inc., is an insurance agency. Our continuing ability to provide insurance brokerage related services in the jurisdictions in which we operate depends on our compliance with the rules and regulations promulgated from time to time by the regulatory authorities in each of these jurisdictions.

· ERISA. The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or ERISA, regulates how employee benefits are provided to or through certain types of employer-sponsored health benefits plans. ERISA is a set of laws and regulations that is subject to periodic interpretation by the U.S. Department of Labor as well as the federal courts. In some circumstances, and under certain customer contracts, we might be deemed to have assumed duties that make us an ERISA fiduciary, and thus be required to carry out our operations in a manner that complies with ERISA in all material respects. We believe that our current operations do not render us subject to ERISA fiduciary obligations, and therefore that we are in material compliance with ERISA and that any such compliance does not currently have a material adverse effect on our operations. However, there can be no assurance that continuing ERISA compliance efforts or any future changes to ERISA will not have a material adverse effect on us.

· Third-Party Administrator Laws. Numerous states in which we do business have adopted regulations governing entities engaged in third-party administrator, or TPA, activities. TPA regulations typically impose requirements regarding enrollment into benefits plans, claims processing and payments, and the handling of customer funds. Although we do not believe we are currently acting as a TPA, changes in state regulations could result in us being obligated to comply with such regulations, which might require us to obtain licenses to provide TPA services in such states.
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Potential regulatory requirements placed on our software, services, and content could impose increased costs on us, delay or prevent our introduction of new service types, and impair the function or value of our existing service types.

Our products and services are and are likely to continue to be subject to increasing regulatory requirements in a number of ways. As these requirements proliferate, we must change or adapt our products and services to comply. Changing regulatory requirements might render our services obsolete or might block us from accomplishing our work or from developing new services. This might in turn impose additional costs upon us to comply or to further develop our products and services. It might also make introduction of new product or service types more costly or more time-consuming than we currently anticipate. It might even prevent introduction by us of new products or services or cause the continuation of our existing products or services to become unprofitable or impossible.

Potential government subsidy of services similar to ours, or creation of a single payor system, might reduce customer demand.

Recently, entities including brokers and U.S. federal and state governments have offered to subsidize adoption of online benefits platforms or clearinghouses. In addition, federal regulations have been changed to permit such subsidy from additional sources subject to certain limitations. To the extent that we do not qualify or participate in such subsidy programs, demand for our services might be reduced, which may decrease our revenue. In addition, prior proposals regarding healthcare reform have included the concept of creation of a single payor for healthcare insurance. This kind of consolidation of critical benefits activity could negatively impact the demand for our services.

Our services present the potential for embezzlement, identity theft, or other similar illegal behavior by our associates with respect to third parties.

Among other things, certain services offered by us involve collecting payment information from individuals, and this frequently includes check and credit card information. Even though we do not handle direct payments, our services also involve the use and disclosure of personal and business information that could be used to impersonate third parties, commit identity theft, or otherwise gain access to their data or funds. If any of our associates take, convert, or misuse such funds, documents, or data, we could be liable for damages, and our business reputation could be damaged or destroyed. Moreover, if we fail to adequately prevent third parties from accessing personal and/or business information and using that information to commit identity theft, we might face legal liabilities and other losses than can have a negative impact on our business.
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Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

We have incurred substantial indebtedness that may decrease our business flexibility, access to capital and/or increase our borrowing costs, and we may still incur substantially more debt, which may adversely affect our operations and financial results.

In December 2018, we issued $ 240.0 million aggregate principal of 1.25% convertible senior notes (the “Notes”) due December 15, 2023, unless earlier repurchased by us or converted by the holder pursuant to their terms. The Notes may limit our ability to borrow additional funds for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or other general business purposes; limit our ability to use our cash flow or obtain additional financing for future working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or other general business purposes; require us to use a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to make debt service payments; limit our flexibility to plan for or react to, changes in our business and industry; place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our less leveraged competitors; and increase our vulnerability to the impact of adverse economic and industry conditions. Further, the indenture governing the Notes does not restrict our ability to incur additional indebtedness and we and our subsidiaries may incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future, subject to the restrictions contained in any future debt instruments existing at the time, some of which may be secured indebtedness.

Servicing our debt and preferred dividends requires a significant amount of cash, and we might not have or be able to obtain sufficient cash to pay our substantial debt or required dividends.

As of December 31, 2020, we had $221 million aggregate principal of Notes outstanding. We also had the ability to borrow an aggregate of $50 million under our current credit facility, all of which would be secured debt. Further, holders of our redeemable preferred stock are entitled to dividends of 8% per year, payable quarterly, which is approximately $6.4 million per year as of December 31, 2020, if paid in cash rather than in kind. Our ability to make scheduled payments of the principal of, to pay interest on or to refinance our indebtedness, depends on our future performance, which is subject to economic, financial, competitive and other factors beyond our control. Our business might not continue to generate cash flow from operations in the future sufficient to service our debt timely. In addition, our ability to repurchase or to pay cash upon conversion of the Notes may be limited by law, regulatory authority or agreements governing our future indebtedness. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash to service our debt, we may be required to adopt one or more alternatives, such as selling assets, restructuring debt or obtaining additional equity capital on terms that may be onerous or highly dilutive. In addition, our ability to refinance our indebtedness will depend on the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. We might not be able to engage in any of these activities or engage in these activities on desirable terms, which could result in a default and acceleration of our debt obligations.

The conditional conversion feature of the Notes, if triggered, and any required repurchase of the Notes may adversely affect our financial condition and operating results.

In the event any conditional conversion feature of the Notes is triggered, holders of the Notes will be entitled to convert the Notes at any time during specified periods at their option. In addition, holders of the Notes have the right to require us to repurchase their Notes upon the occurrence of a fundamental change. If one or more holders elect to convert their Notes (and unless we elect to satisfy our conversion obligation by delivering solely shares of our common stock, other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share), or if we are required to repurchase the Notes due to a fundamental change, we would be required to settle a portion or all of our conversion obligation through the payment of cash or repurchase the Notes with cash, both of which could adversely affect our liquidity. In addition, even if holders do not elect to convert their Notes upon a conditional conversion feature being triggered, we could be required under applicable accounting rules to reclassify all or a portion of the outstanding principal of the Notes as a current rather than long-term liability, which would result in a material reduction of our net working capital.
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The Notes are effectively subordinated to our secured debt and any liabilities of our subsidiaries.

The Notes rank senior in right of payment to any of our indebtedness that is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Notes; equal in right of payment to any of our liabilities that are not so subordinated; effectively junior in right of payment to any of our senior, secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness; and structurally junior to all indebtedness and other liabilities (including trade payables) of our subsidiaries. In the event of our bankruptcy, liquidation, reorganization or other winding up, our assets that secure debt ranking senior or equal in right of payment to the Notes will be available to pay obligations on the Notes only after the senior, secured debt has been repaid in full from these assets. There might not be sufficient assets remaining to pay amounts due on any or all of the Notes then outstanding. The indenture governing the Notes does not prohibit us from incurring additional senior debt or secured debt, nor does it prohibit any of our subsidiaries from incurring additional liabilities. All our indebtedness, including the Notes, must be repaid before our stockholders would receive anything in a liquidation.

If we fail to meet our current credit facility’s financial covenants, our business and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Our current credit facility contains financial covenants. If at any point we fail to comply with the financial covenants, the lenders can demand immediate repayment of our outstanding balance and deny future borrowings under the credit facility. This could have a negative impact on our liquidity, thereby reducing the availability of cash flow for other purposes and adversely affecting our business.

We may still incur substantially more debt or take other actions that would diminish our ability to make payments on the Notes when due.

We and our subsidiaries may incur substantial additional debt in the future, some of which may be secured debt. We are not restricted under the terms of the indenture governing the Notes from incurring additional debt, securing existing or future debt, recapitalizing our debt or taking a number of other actions that could have the effect of diminishing our ability to make payments on the Notes when due. Furthermore, the indenture prohibits us from engaging in certain mergers or acquisitions unless, among other things, the surviving entity assumes our obligations under the Notes and the indenture. These and other provisions in the indenture could deter or prevent a third party from acquiring us even when the acquisition may be favorable to holders of the Notes.

The conversion of the Notes will dilute the ownership interest of existing stockholders, including holders who had previously converted their Notes, or may otherwise depress the price of our common stock.

The conversion of some or all of the Notes will dilute the ownership interests of existing stockholders to the extent we deliver shares of our common stock upon conversion of the Notes. The Notes may in the future become convertible at the option of the holders of the Notes prior to December 15, 2023 under certain circumstances as provided in the indenture governing the Notes. Any sales in the public market of the common stock issuable upon such conversion could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our common stock. In addition, the existence of the Notes may encourage short selling by market participants because the conversion of the Notes could be used to satisfy short positions, or anticipated conversion of the Notes into shares of our common stock could depress the price of our common stock.

The capped call transactions we entered into in connection with the issuance of the Notes might not turn out to be effective in reducing dilution, and might adversely affect the value of our common stock.

In connection with the Notes, we paid approximately $33.0 million to enter into capped call transactions with certain purchasers or their affiliates (the “Option Counterparties”). The capped call

45
[image: ]

transactions are expected generally to reduce the potential dilution upon conversion of the Notes and/or offset any cash payments we are required to make in excess of the principal amount of converted Notes, as the case may be, with such reduction and/or offset subject to a cap. If our stock price is less than $53.17 upon conversion of the Notes, the capped calls will have no effect and we will get no benefit from the cash we paid to enter into the capped calls. Furthermore, if our stock is above $89.98 per share upon conversion of the Notes, the capped calls will not completely eliminate the dilution from Note conversion.

In connection with establishing their initial hedges of the capped call transactions, the Option Counterparties entered into various derivative transactions with respect to our common stock. This activity could have increased (or reduced the size of any decrease in) the market price of our common stock or the Notes at that time.

In addition, the Option Counterparties may modify their hedge positions by entering into or unwinding derivatives with respect to our common stock and/or purchasing or selling our common stock or other securities of ours in secondary market transactions prior to the maturity of the Notes (and are likely to do so during any observation period related to a conversion of Notes or following any repurchase of Notes by us on any fundamental change repurchase date or otherwise). This activity could also cause or avoid an increase or decrease in the price of our common stock or the Notes.

The potential effect, if any, of these transactions and activities on the price of our common stock or the Notes will depend in part on the market conditions and cannot be ascertained at this time. Any of these activities could adversely affect the value of our common stock.

The accounting method for convertible debt securities that may be settled in cash, such as the Notes, could have a material effect on our reported financial results.

In May 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Staff Position No. APB 14-1, Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments That May Be Settled in Cash Upon Conversion (Including Partial Cash Settlement), which has subsequently been codified as ASC 470-20, Debt with Conversion and Other Options. Under ASC 470-20, an entity must separately account for the liability and equity components of the convertible debt instruments (such as the Notes) that may be settled entirely or partially in cash upon conversion in a manner that reflects the issuer’s economic interest cost. The effect of ASC 470-20 on the accounting for the Notes is that the equity component is required to be included in the additional paid-in capital section of stockholders’ equity on our consolidated balance sheets, and the value of the equity component would be treated as original issue discount for purposes of accounting for the debt component of the Notes. As a result, we will be required to record a greater amount of non-cash interest expense in current periods presented as a result of the amortization of the discounted carrying value of the Notes to their face amount over the term of the Notes. We will report lower net income in our financial results because ASC 470-20 will require interest to include both the current period’s amortization of the debt discount and the instrument’s coupon interest, which could adversely affect our reported or future financial results, the trading price of our common stock and the trading price of the Notes.

In addition, under certain circumstances, convertible debt instruments (such as the Notes) that may be settled entirely or partly in cash are currently accounted for utilizing the treasury stock method, the effect of which is that the shares issuable upon conversion of the Notes are not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share except to the extent that the conversion value of the Notes exceeds their principal amount. Under the treasury stock method, for diluted earnings per share purposes, the transaction is accounted for as if the number of shares of common stock that would be necessary to settle such excess, if we elected to settle such excess in shares, are issued. We cannot be sure that the accounting standards in the future will continue to permit the use of the treasury stock method. If we are unable to use the treasury stock method in accounting for the shares issuable upon conversion of the Notes, then our diluted earnings per share would be adversely affected.
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Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

Our stock price may be volatile or may decline regardless of our operating performance, and you may not be able to resell your shares at or above the price at which you purchase it.

The stock market historically has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. As a result of this volatility, you might not be able to sell your common stock at or above the price at which you purchase it. From our IPO in September 2013 through March 8, 2021, the per share trading price of our common stock has been as high as $ 77.00 and as low as $6.09. It might continue to fluctuate significantly in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. These factors include:

· our operating performance and the operating performance of similar companies;

· the overall performance of the equity markets;

· any major change in our management;

· changes in laws or regulations relating to the sale of health insurance;

· announcements by us or our competitors of acquisitions, business plans, or commercial relationships;

· threatened or actual litigation;

· publication of research reports or news stories about us, our competitors, or our industry, or positive or negative recommendations or withdrawal of research coverage by securities analysts;

· large volumes of sales of our shares of common stock by existing stockholders; and

· general political and economic conditions.

In addition, the stock market in general, and the market for Internet-related companies in particular, has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. Additionally, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the overall market and in the market price of a company’s securities. This litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs, divert our management’s attention and resources, and harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Our stock price could decline due to the large number of outstanding shares of our common stock and those underlying the Notes eligible for future sale.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market or the market perception that such sales and issuances may occur could reduce the market price of our common stock and impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional common stock or equity-linked securities at a time and price that we deem appropriate.

As of December 31, 2020, we had an aggregate of 32,327,439 shares of common stock outstanding. As of December 31, 2020, there also were outstanding options and restricted stock units to purchase 2,712,805 shares of our common stock that, if exercised or vested, as applicable, will result in these additional shares becoming available for sale, subject in some cases to Rule 144. We have also registered an aggregate of 12,584,766 shares of our common stock that we may issue or sell under our stock plans. These shares can be freely sold in the public market upon issuance, unless they are held by “affiliates”, as that term is defined in Rule 144 of the Securities Act. In addition, a substantial number of shares of our common stock is reserved for issuance upon conversion of the Notes. There are also shares of Series A Preferred Stock (the “Preferred Stock”) that are convertible into an aggregate of 5,333,334 shares of our common stock. If a large number of these shares are sold in the public market, the sales could reduce the trading price of our common stock.

We might require additional capital to support business growth.
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We intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and might require additional funds to respond to business challenges or opportunities, including the need to develop new products and services or enhance our existing services, enhance our operating infrastructure, and acquire complementary businesses and technologies. Accordingly, we might need to engage in equity or additional debt financings to secure additional funds. If we raise additional funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of our common stock. Any additional debt financing secured by us could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital-raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which might make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. In addition, we might not be able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to us, if at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us when we require it, our ability to continue to support our business growth and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited.

The issuance of shares of our common stock upon conversion of our Series A Preferred Stock may dilute the ownership interest of our existing common stockholders, adversely impact the market price of our common stock and make it more difficult for us to raise funds through future equity offerings.

As of December 31, 2020, the outstanding shares of our Preferred Stock were convertible into an aggregate of 5,333,334 shares of our common stock. Additional shares of our common stock may also be issued to the holders of our Preferred Stock in the event we make payment of the regular quarterly dividend on the Preferred Stock in kind, instead of in cash. The issuance of shares of common stock upon conversion of the Preferred Stock would dilute the percentage ownership interest of all holders of our common stock and any positive book value per share of our common stock, and would increase the number of publicly traded shares, which could depress the market price of our common stock. The fact that our stockholders can sell a substantial amount of our common stock in the public market, whether or not sales have occurred or are occurring, could make it more difficult for us to raise additional funds though the sale of equity or equity-related securities in the future at a time and price that we deem reasonable or appropriate, or at all.

Our preferred stockholders have significant rights and preferences over the holders of our common stock that could limit us from taking certain corporate actions, and as a result affect our business, operating results, and the market price of our common stock.

Our preferred stockholders are entitled to a quarterly dividend equal to 8.0% per annum, payable in cash or in kind, before any dividends are paid on our common stock. Our preferred stockholders are also entitled to participate in and receive any dividends declared or paid on our common stock on an as-converted basis. No dividends may be paid on our common stock unless full participating dividends are concurrently paid to our preferred stockholders. Our preferred stockholders also have a claim against our assets senior to the claim of the holders of our common stock in the event of our liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up.

Our preferred stockholders are generally entitled to vote with our common stockholders on all matters submitted for a vote of the common stockholders (voting together with the common stockholders as one class) on an as-converted basis. In addition, the following matters require the approval of a majority of the outstanding shares of Preferred Stock, voting as a separate class: (1) the authorization, creation, or issuance of any securities of the Company having rights, preferences, or privileges senior to or on a parity with any of the rights, preferences, or privileges of the Preferred Stock; (2) effecting any alteration, repeal, change, or amendment of the rights, privileges, or preferences of the Preferred Stock; (3) amendments, modifications or repeal of any provision of the Company’s charter or bylaws in a manner adverse to the Preferred Stock; (4) changes in the authorized number of directors of the Company to a number greater than 10 individuals; (5) effecting any transaction between the Company and any of its
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affiliates (except for certain circumstances); (6) declaration or payment of any dividend or distribution with respect to any Company capital stock at any time the Company has any indebtedness outstanding; (7) incurring any indebtedness in excess of $500 million (including existing indebtedness and excluding lease obligations), or encumbering or granting a security interest in all or substantially all of the Company’s assets in connection with any such indebtedness (except existing security interests); or (8) agreeing or consenting to any of the foregoing actions.

As long as not less than 60% of the shares of the Series A Preferred Stock originally issued remain outstanding, the holders of a majority of the then-outstanding shares of the Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class, will have the right at any election of directors to elect (A) two directors if the board consists of nine or fewer directors; or (B) three directors if the board consists of 10 directors. At any time, such director may be removed with or without cause only by the affirmative vote or written consent of a majority of the holders of the Preferred Stock entitled to elect such director. In addition, while they have these rights to appoint directors, we may not expand the size of our board to greater than 10 directors without the consent of the holders of a majority of the then-outstanding shares of Preferred Stock.

The foregoing rights of our preferred stockholders could, while the Preferred Stock is outstanding, limit us from obtaining future financings or to otherwise conduct necessary corporate activities, and as a result may adversely affect our business, operating results, and the market price of our common stock.

Our certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the sole and exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders. These choice of forum provisions could limit the ability of stockholders to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees.

Unless we consent to the selection of an alternative forum, our amended and restated bylaws provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or the Court of Chancery, will be, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the sole and exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; any action asserting a claim of breach of fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees to the Company or our stockholders; any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law, or DGCL, or our certificate of incorporation or bylaws; or any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Since the choice of forum provisions are only applicable to “the fullest extent permitted by applicable law”, as provided in our bylaws, the provisions do not designate the Court of Chancery as the exclusive forum for any derivative action or other claim for which the applicable statute creates exclusive jurisdiction in another forum. As such, the choice of forum provisions do not apply to any actions arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended or the Exchange Act.

These choice of forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provisions contained in our bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.

We do not currently intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not currently intend to do so for the foreseeable future. We currently intend to invest our future earnings, if any, to fund
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our growth. Therefore, you are not likely to receive any dividends on your common stock for the foreseeable future, and the success of an investment in shares of our common stock will depend upon future appreciation in its value, if any. There is no guarantee that shares of our common stock will appreciate in value or even maintain the price at which our stockholders purchased their shares.

Provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws and Delaware law might discourage, delay, or prevent a change in control of our company or changes in our management and, therefore, depress the trading price of our common stock.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law might discourage, delay, or prevent a merger, acquisition, or other change in control that stockholders consider favorable, including transactions in which you might otherwise receive a premium for your shares of our common stock. These provisions might also prevent or frustrate attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our management. These provisions include:

· limitations on the removal of directors;

· advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations;

· limitations on the ability of stockholders to call special meetings;

· the inability of stockholders to act by written consent;

· the inability of stockholders to cumulate votes at any election of directors;

· the classification of our board of directors into three classes with only one class, representing approximately one-third of our directors, standing for election at each annual meeting (although we intend to bring a proposal to declassify our board to the stockholders for consideration at our 2021 annual stockholders meeting); and

· the ability of our board of directors to make, alter or repeal our bylaws.

Our Board of Directors has the ability to designate the terms of and issue new series of preferred stock without stockholder approval. In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder, generally a person which together with its affiliates owns, or within the last three years has owned, 15% of our voting stock, for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is approved in a prescribed manner.

The existence of the foregoing provisions and anti-takeover measures could limit the price that investors are willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock. They could also deter potential acquirers of our company, thereby reducing the likelihood that you could receive a premium for your common stock in an acquisition.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

As of December 31, 2020, we occupied approximately 289,000 square feet on the Daniel Island Executive Center campus in Charleston, South Carolina. This office space is leased under leases expiring in 2031. As of December 31, 2020, we also leased facilities in Greenville, South Carolina; Tulsa, Oklahoma; and Brookfield, Wisconsin.

Since March 2020, most of our associates have worked remotely as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Our facilities have remained accessible on a limited basis and have been underutilized since March 2020. Our associates have been successfully productive in a remote environment. In the long-term, we expect to utilize a hybrid approach to work with some combination of remote and in-office presence. As a result, we are assessing our space requirement for the future and have listed space for
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sublease on our headquarters campus in Charleston, South Carolina and in Tulsa, Oklahoma. On December 31, 2020, we sublet all of the space at our Brookfield, Wisconsin facility.

We believe that our current facilities are sufficient for our needs. We may add other facilities or geographic markets in the future, and we believe that suitable additional space will be available as needed to accommodate any such needs of our operations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, we might become involved in legal or regulatory proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business. Other than as disclosed below, we are not currently a party to any material litigation or regulatory proceeding and we are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation or regulatory proceeding against us that could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition or cash flows.

On March 2, 2021, Benefitfocus, Inc., The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., GS Capital Partners VI Parallel, L.P., GS Capital Partners VI Offshore Fund, L.P., GS Capital Partners VI Fund, L.P., GS Capital Partners VI GMBH & Co. KG, Mercer LLC, Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc., Mercer Consulting Group, Inc., Mason R. Holland, Jr., Raymond A. August, Jonathon E. Dussault, Douglas A. Dennerline, Joseph P. DiSabato, A. Lanham Napier, Francis J. Pelzer V, Stephen M. Swad, Ana M. White, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Piper Jaffray & Co., Raymond James & Associates, Inc., Wedbush Securities, Inc., and First Analysis Securities Corporation were named as defendants in a purported class-action lawsuit filed by the City of Pittsburgh Comprehensive Municipal Pension Trust Fund in the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York. The complaint alleges violations of Sections 11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933. The complaint asserts claims on behalf of a class of persons who acquired our common stock in or traceable to our secondary public offering commenced on or about March 1, 2019. The complaint alleges that defendants violated the federal securities laws by, among other things, making misrepresentations about our commercial relationships and failing to disclose certain material adverse facts, trends or uncertainties or significant risks that made the secondary public offering speculative and risky. The complaint seeks rescission or rescissory damages and compensatory damages, costs and fees incurred in the action. We do not believe the complaint has merit and plan to vigorously contest and defend against it.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock has been listed on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “BNFT” since September 18, 2013. Prior to that date, there was no public trading market for our common stock.

As of December 31, 2020, we had 38 holders of record of our common stock. The actual number of stockholders is greater than this number of record holders and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees. This number of holders of record also does not include stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities.

Stock Performance Graph

The following shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or incorporated by reference into any of our other filings under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except to the extent we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.

This chart compares the cumulative total return on our common stock with that of the S&P 500 Index and the S&P 1500 Application Software Index. The chart assumes $ 100 was invested at the close of market on December 31, 2015, in the common stock of Benefitfocus, Inc., the S&P 500 Index and the S&P 1500 Application Software Index, and assumes the reinvestment of any dividends. The stock price performance on the following graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.
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Base

Period

	Company / Index
	
	12/31/2015
	
	
	12/31/2016
	
	
	12/31/2017
	
	
	12/31/2018
	
	
	12/31/2019
	
	
	12/31/2020
	

	Benefitfocus, Inc.
	$
	100.00
	$
	81.62
	
	$
	74.20
	$
	125.64
	$
	60.29
	$
	39.79
	

	S&P 500 Index
	$
	100.00
	$
	109.54
	
	$
	130.81
	$
	122.65
	$
	158.07
	$
	183.77
	

	S&P 1500 Application
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Software Index
	$
	100.00
	$
	107.83
	
	$
	155.45
	$
	187.66
	$
	255.62
	$
	378.53
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Purchases of Equity Securities by the Company

Set forth below is a summary of the shares repurchased by the Company during the three months ended December 31, 2020:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(c) Total Number of
	
	
	
	(d) Maximum Dollar
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Shares Purchased as
	
	
	
	Value of Shares that
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Part of Publicly
	
	
	May Yet Be Purchased
	

	Period
	(a) Total Number of
	
	
	(b) Average Price Paid
	Announced Plan or
	
	
	
	Under the Plan or
	

	
	Shares Purchased
	
	
	Per Share
	
	Program
	
	
	
	Program
	
	

	Stock Repurchase Program(1)
	
	–
	–
	
	–
	$
	10,333
	
	



(1) During the three months ended December 31, 2020, there were no purchases of shares of common stock under the Company’s stock repurchase program, which was announced March 3, 2020, for the potential repurchase of up to $20 million of the Company’s outstanding common stock.

Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by Item 5 of Form 10-K regarding equity compensation plans is incorporated herein by reference to Part III “Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters”.


Item 6. (Reserved)
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this report including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should review the “Risk Factors” section of this report beginning on page 24 for a discussion of important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.

Overview

Benefitfocus provides industry-leading, cloud-based benefits management technology solutions for employers and health plans. The Benefitfocus enrollment platform simplifies how organizations procure benefits and connect to the necessary benefits products and services that improve the lives of their employees and the American workforce. Our core technology solutions facilitate employee benefits administration and enrollment; our solutions enable working Americans and their families to select and engage in the right benefits products and services for themselves; and our data advantage deliver insights to employers, health plans and their advisors to help control healthcare spending and reduce unnecessary expenses.

The Benefitfocus Platform has a multi-tenant architecture and a user-friendly interface designed for employees to access all of their benefits in one place. Our comprehensive solutions support medical benefit plans and non-medical benefits, such as, dental, life, disability insurance, income protection, digital health and financial wellness. Our platform includes functionality designed to help consumers identify and evaluate benefit options available to them. As the number of employer benefits plans has increased, with each plan subject to many different business rules and requirements, demand for the Benefitfocus Platform is growing.

Our economic model includes a transaction-oriented solution, now known as our Benefit Catalog, that aligns brokers, carriers and suppliers around the needs of employers and employees. In this model, Benefit Catalog sellers, who are carriers and suppliers, offer their voluntary and specialty benefit products in a “marketplace” alongside the benefits enrollment platform. This marketplace is designed to increase the economic value of the employee and consumer lives on our platform by aligning Benefit Catalog products to consumer needs. In exchange for Benefitfocus delivering employee/consumer access, data-driven analysis and operational efficiencies, seller partners pay us a percentage of the purchases completed on our platform. Carrier agreements have terms of two to four years and are typically cancellable upon breach of contract or insolvency. Supplier contracts have terms of one year or less and are generally cancellable upon breach of contract, failure to cure, bankruptcy and termination for convenience.

We classify our revenue into three streams – subscription, platform, and professional services revenue. Subscription and platform revenue are combined and reported as software services revenue.

Subscription revenue primarily consists of monthly subscription fees paid to us by our employer and insurance carrier customers for access to, and usage of, cloud-based benefits software solutions for a specified contract term. Subscription fees are generally charged based on the number of employees or subscribers with access to the solution. Subscription revenue accounted for approximately 67%, 66%, and 69% of our total revenue during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Platform revenue includes Benefit Catalog transactional revenue, which is generated from the value of the policies or products enrolled in through our marketplace. Benefit Catalog revenue from insured products is generally recognized over the policy period of the enrolled products. In arrangements where we sell policies to employees of our customers as the broker, we earn insurance broker commissions. Revenue from insurance broker commissions and Benefit Catalog supplier transactions is generally recognized at the time when open enrollment is complete and the orders for policies are transferred to the supplier. Platform revenue accounted for approximately 13%, 11%, and 9% of our total revenue during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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Our professional services revenue stream is largely derived from the implementation of our customers onto our platform, which typically includes discovery, configuration and deployment, integration, testing, and training. We also provide customer support services and customized media content that supports our customers’ effort to educate and communicate with consumers. Professional services revenue accounted for approximately 20%, 23%, and 22% of our total revenue during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Expanding our customer base is a key element of our growth strategy. We believe that our continued innovation and new solutions, such as Benefit Catalog, which extend to the functionality of our mobile offerings, provide more robust data analytics capabilities and enhance our ability to quickly respond to evolving market needs, we believe these innovative capabilities will help us attract additional lives to our platform through new employer customers, partners and brokers and increase our revenue from existing customers and relationships.

We believe that there is a substantial market for our services, and we have been investing in growth over the past several years. In particular, we have continued to invest in technology and services to better serve our larger employer customers, which we believe are an important source of growth for our business. As we have invested in growth, we have had operating losses in each of the last ten years.

Although our operating results have improved, we could incur operating losses in future periods. Due to the nature of our customer relationships, which have been stable in spite of some customer losses over the past years, and our hybrid subscription and transaction-based financial model, we believe that our current investment in growth should lead to increased revenue in the long-term, which may allow us to achieve profitability in the relatively near future. Of course, our ability to achieve profitability will continue to be subject to many factors beyond our control.

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization classified the COVID-19 outbreak as a pandemic. We continue to actively monitor COVID-19 and its potential impact on our operations and financial results. In response to the pandemic, we implemented cost management actions in the second quarter of 2020 to maintain our financial health and liquidity through these economic uncertain times. These include actions to reduce our workforce by approximately 17%, renegotiating vendor service contracts and reducing discretionary expenditures such as travel and professional services. These actions also include investing in accelerating automation efforts to gain efficiencies.

During the initial peak of the COVID-19 pandemic during the second quarter of 2020, we experienced delays in completing selling as HR professionals shifted their focus away procuring technology solutions. We believe the financial impacts from COVID-19 are temporary in nature and do not significantly affect our business model and growth strategy. Therefore, we did not consider the COVID-19 pandemic to have been a triggering event to accelerate our annual impairments tests.

We evaluated our goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets and determined there were no interim triggering events as it was not more likely than not that the fair value of our reporting units would be less than their respective carrying amounts. Additionally, we evaluated our long-lived assets, including our property, plant and equipment, lease right-of-use assets and other intangible assets, noting no indicators of impairment.

The impact that COVID-19 will have on our consolidated financial statements beyond 2020 remains uncertain and ultimately will be dictated by the length and severity of the pandemic, as well as the economic recovery and federal, state and local government actions taken in response. We will continue to evaluate the nature and extent of these potential impacts to our business and consolidated financial statements.

While the ultimate impact of the pandemic on our business and financial results remains uncertain, our business has been impacted by the following:

· New sales. We have experienced longer sales cycles and a slowdown in new sales activity which negatively impact professional services revenue and platform revenue from new business.

· Unemployment. The increase in unemployment caused by the pandemic has negatively impacted platform revenue by decreasing the rate at which our Benefits Catalog voluntary benefits offerings are purchased. Our subscription revenue has been impacted to a lesser extent in 2020 depending on the level of contractual minimums in our contracts and a delay
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in when unemployed workers leave our platform. In addition, unemployment has caused a decrease in net benefit eligible lives on our platform in the near term.

· Participation in Voluntary Benefits. Participation of lives on our platform in purchasing voluntary benefits did not grow compared to the previous year as a result of the economic impacts of the pandemic on income levels across the country.

As a result of the nature of our customer relationships, the stability of our subscription revenue, the cost restructuring actions taken in the second quarter of 2020 and our ongoing investments in automation, we believe we will be able to increase cash flows from operations and achieve profitability in the relatively near future. Of course, our ability to achieve profitability will continue to be subject to many risks and factors beyond our control, such as the COVID-19 pandemic.

Key Financial and Operating Performance Metrics

We regularly monitor a number of financial and operating metrics in order to measure our current performance and project our future performance. These metrics help us develop and refine our growth strategies and make strategic decisions. We discuss revenue, gross margin, and the components of operating loss in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations— Components of Operating Results”. In addition, we utilize other key metrics as described below.

Net Benefit Eligible Lives

Part of our growth strategy is to expand our customer base. This includes driving revenue growth from adding lives to our platform and driving incremental transaction revenue. We believe the number of net benefit eligible lives is a key indicator of our market penetration, growth and future revenue opportunity. We believe net benefit eligible lives is the foundation of our platform revenue opportunity. We define a net benefit eligible life as a person with access to a benefits enrollment subscription under standard contracting or a freelancer with access to benefits enrollment, plus their estimated dependents, as of the measurement date. This definition excludes lives from other subscription-related contracts.

We expect the number net benefit eligible lives will decrease during 2021. We expect that some health plan customers will renew their agreements in 2021 at lower minimum counts as the result of higher unemployment rates decreasing the number covered employees. Additionally, we expect the number of net benefit eligible lives to be negatively impacted by the termination of a contract with an entity with a substantial number of freelancers.

	
	
	As of December 31,
	
	

	
	2020
	2019
	2018
	

	
	
	(in millions)
	
	

	Net benefit eligible lives
	18.3
	17.3
	13.3
	



In February 2019, we acquired certain operating assets and liabilities, intellectual property and intangible assets of Connecture, Inc. This transaction added 2.0 million net benefit eligible lives to our platform. The details of this transaction are described in more detail in Note 3 of our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Software Services Revenue Retention Rate

We believe that our ability to retain our customers and expand the revenue they generate for us over time is an important component of our growth strategy and reflects the long-term value of our customer relationships. We measure our performance on this basis using a metric we refer to as our software services revenue retention rate. We calculate this metric for a particular period by establishing the group of our customers that had active contracts for a given period. We then calculate our software services revenue retention rate by taking the amount of software services revenue we recognized for this group in the subsequent comparable period (for which we are reporting the rate) and dividing it by the software services revenue we recognized for the group in the prior period.
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Our software services revenue retention rate was greater than 90% for year ended December 31, 2020 compared to being greater than 95% for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. The reduction in the rate was primarily the result of the impact on 2020 revenue from the renegotiation of a customer contract. Excluding this customer, our software revenue retention rate exceeded 95% for all periods. We expect our software revenue retention rate will continue to be negatively impacted for the remainder of 2021 by the effects of this customer contract negotiation along with the potential impacts of unemployment as a result of COVID-19 pandemic.

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA represents our earnings before net interest and other expense, taxes, and depreciation and amortization expense, adjusted to eliminate stock-based compensation, restructuring costs, impairment of goodwill, intangible assets, and long-lived assets, gain or loss on extinguishment of debt, transaction and acquisition-related costs expensed, and costs not core to our business. Adjusted EBITDA is not a measure calculated in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP.

During 2020, we revised our definition of adjusted EBITDA to also exclude restructuring costs, impairment of long-lived assets, and gain or loss of extinguishment of debt. The revisions to these definitions had no impact on our reported adjusted EBITDA for periods prior to 2020. Please note that other companies might define their non-GAAP financial measures differently than we do.

We have included adjusted EBITDA in this Annual Report on Form 10-K because it is a key measure used by our management and board of directors to understand and evaluate our core operating performance and trends, to prepare and approve our annual budget, and to develop short- and long-term operational plans. In particular, we believe that the exclusion of the expenses eliminated in calculating adjusted EBITDA can provide a useful measure for period-to-period comparisons of our core business. Accordingly, we believe that adjusted EBITDA provides useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our operating results.

Our use of adjusted EBITDA as an analytical tool has limitations, and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our financial results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

· although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized might have to be replaced in the future, and adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such replacements or for new capital expenditure requirements;

· adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

· adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the potentially dilutive impact of stock-based compensation;

· adjusted EBITDA does not reflect interest, tax or dividend payments that would reduce the cash available to us; and

· other companies, including companies in our industry, might calculate adjusted EBITDA or similarly titled measures differently, which reduces their usefulness as comparative measures.
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Because of these and other limitations, you should consider adjusted EBITDA alongside other GAAP-based financial performance measures, including various cash flow metrics, gross profit, net loss and our other GAAP financial results. The following table presents a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to net loss for each of the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
[image: ]

	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	2018
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	(in thousands)
	
	
	

	Reconciliation from Net Income (Loss) to Adjusted EBITDA:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net income (loss)
	$
	(24,297)
	$
	(45,515)
	$
	(52,627)

	Depreciation
	
	
	15,285
	
	
	15,288
	
	
	11,721
	

	Amortization of software development costs
	
	
	7,455
	
	
	5,130
	
	
	3,944
	

	Amortization of acquired intangible assets
	
	
	2,274
	
	
	1,933
	
	
	150
	

	Interest income
	
	
	(632)
	
	(2,613)
	
	(250)

	Interest expense
	
	
	23,071
	
	
	23,524
	
	
	13,156
	

	Income tax expense
	
	
	22
	
	
	27
	
	
	28
	

	Stock-based compensation expense
	
	
	14,537
	
	
	19,572
	
	
	28,868
	

	Transaction and acquisition-related costs expensed
	
	
	450
	
	
	1,035
	
	
	507
	

	Restructuring costs
	
	
	5,616
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	

	Impairment of long-lived assets
	
	
	916
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	

	Gain on repurchase of convertible senior notes
	
	
	(1,138)
	
	-
	
	
	-
	

	Costs not core to our business
	
	
	457
	
	
	649
	
	
	4,843
	

	Total net adjustments
	$
	68,313
	
	$
	64,545
	
	$
	62,967
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Adjusted EBITDA
	$
	44,016
	
	$
	19,030
	
	$
	10,340
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



Components of Operating Results

Revenue

We derive the majority of our revenue from monthly subscription fees paid to us by our employer and health plan customers for access to, and usage of, our cloud-based benefits software solutions for a specified contract term. We derive platform revenue from both insurance broker commissions from the sale of voluntary and ancillary benefits policies to employees of our customers and from transaction revenue from life and ancillary insurance carriers and specialty providers. We also derive revenue from professional services fees, which primarily include fees related to the implementation of our customers onto our platform. Our professional services typically include discovery, configuration and deployment, integration, testing, and training.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue by stream for the periods indicated (in thousands):

	
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,
	
	
	

	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	2018
	

	Subscription
	$
	179,743
	$
	195,091
	
	$
	179,410
	

	Platform
	
	35,101
	
	
	33,654
	
	
	22,938
	

	Total software services
	$
	214,844
	$
	228,745
	
	$
	202,348
	

	Professional services
	
	53,297
	
	
	66,941
	
	
	56,373
	

	Total revenue
	$
	268,141
	$
	295,686
	
	$
	258,721
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



We recognize revenue when control of these services is transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those services. Taxes collected from customers relating to services and remitted to governmental authorities are excluded from revenues.

We determine revenue recognition through the following steps:

· Identification of each contract with a customer;

· Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

· Determination of the transaction price;

· Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

· Recognition of revenue when, or as, performance obligations are satisfied.
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Software Services Revenue

Software services revenue consists of subscription and platform revenue.

Subscription Revenue

Subscription revenue primarily consists of monthly subscription fees paid to us by our customers for access to, and usage of, cloud-based benefits software solutions for a specified contract term. Fees are generally charged based on the number of employees or subscribers with access to the solution.

Subscription revenue is generally recognized on a ratable basis over the contract term beginning on the date the subscription services are made available to the customer. Our subscription service contracts are generally three years.

Subscription revenue also includes fees paid for other services, such as event sponsorships and certain data services. Platform Revenue
Platform revenue is generated from the value of the policies or products enrolled in through our marketplace. Platform revenue from carriers is generally recognized over the policy period of the enrolled products. In arrangements where we sell policies to employees of our customers as the broker, we earn insurance broker commissions. Revenue from insurance broker commissions and Benefit

Catalog supplier transactions is recognized at the point when the orders for the policies are received and transferred to the insurance carrier or supplier, and is reduced by constraints for variable consideration associated with collectability, policy cancellation and termination risks.

Professional Services Revenue

Professional services revenue primarily consists of fees related to the implementation of software products purchased by customers. Professional services typically include discovery, configuration and deployment, integration, testing, and training. Fees from consulting services, support services and training are also included in professional services revenue.

We determined that implementation services for certain of our insurance carrier customers significantly modify or customize the software solution and, as such, do not represent a distinct performance obligation. Accordingly, revenue from such implementation services with these insurance carrier customers are generally recognized over the contract term of the associated software services contract, including any extension periods representing a material right. We utilize estimates of hours as a measure of progress to determine revenue for certain types of arrangements.

Revenue from implementation services with employer customers is generally recognized as those services are performed.

Revenue from support and training fees is recognized over the service contract period.

Contracts with Multiple Performance Obligations

Certain of our contracts with customers contain multiple performance obligations. For these contracts, the individual performance obligations are accounted for separately if they are distinct. The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations based on their relative standalone selling prices. We determine the standalone selling prices based on their overall pricing objectives, taking into consideration market conditions and other factors, including the value of their contracts, the software services sold, customer size and complexity, and the number and types of users within the contracts.

Overhead Allocation

Expenses associated with our facilities, security, information technology, and depreciation and amortization, are allocated between cost of revenue and operating expenses based on employee headcount determined by the nature of work performed.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of salaries and other personnel-related costs, including benefits, bonuses, and stock-based compensation, for employees, whom we refer to as associates, providing
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services to our customers and supporting our SaaS platform infrastructure. Additional expenses in cost of revenue include co-location facility costs for our data centers, depreciation expense for computer equipment directly associated with generating revenue, infrastructure maintenance costs, professional fees, amortization expenses associated with acquired intangibles and capitalized software development costs, allocated overhead, and other direct costs.

We expense cost of revenue associated with fulfilling performance obligations as we incur the costs. Costs that relate directly to a customer contract that are not related to satisfying a performance obligation are capitalized and amortized to cost of revenue over the estimated period of benefit of the contract asset, which is generally five years.

Subscription and platform revenue are both generated from our platform and result from the same set of assets and activities. As such, we are not able to meaningfully separate and assign costs of revenue to subscription and platform revenue separately.

We expect cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue to decline and gross margins to increase as we realize the full impact of our restructuring activities and increased automation. However, this trend may vary on a quarterly basis.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses consist of sales and marketing, research and development, and general and administrative expenses. Salaries and personnel-related costs are the most significant component of each of these expense categories. We expect to decrease our operating expenses, as a percentage of revenue, if and as we achieve economies of scale and as a result of restructuring actions taken in April 2020.

Sales and marketing expense. Sales and marketing expense consists primarily of salaries and other personnel-related costs, including benefits, bonuses, stock-based compensation, and commissions for our sales and marketing associates. Costs to obtain a contract that are incremental, such as sales commissions, are capitalized and amortized to expense over the estimated period of benefit of the asset, which is generally four to five years. Additional expenses include advertising, lead generation, promotional event programs, corporate communications, travel, and allocated overhead. For instance, our most significant promotional event is One Place, which we hold annually. We expect our sales and marketing expense to remain flat, in absolute dollars, in the near term as we achieve the savings expected from the restructuring actions taken in April 2020.

Research and development expense. Research and development expense consists primarily of salaries and other personnel-related costs, including benefits, bonuses, and stock-based compensation for our research and development associates. Additional expenses include costs related to the development, quality assurance, and testing of new technology, and enhancement of our existing platform technology, consulting, travel, and allocated overhead. We believe continuing to invest in research and development efforts is essential to maintaining our competitive position.

General and administrative expense. General and administrative expense consists primarily of salaries and other personnel-related costs, including benefits, bonuses, and stock-based compensation for administrative, finance and accounting, information systems, legal, and human resource associates. Additional expenses include consulting and professional fees, insurance and other corporate expenses, and travel. We expect our general and administrative expenses to decrease in absolute terms as a result of the restructuring actions taken in April 2020, which included reducing headcount, renegotiating vendor service contracts, restricting travel, and reducing discretionary expenditures such as for consultants.

Restructuring costs. Restructuring costs are comprised of one-time severance charges, continuation of health benefits and outplacement services. As discussed above in “Overview”, in the quarter ended June 30, 2020, we reduced our work force by approximately 17%.

Other Income and Expense

Other income and expense consists primarily of interest income and expense, gain on repurchase of senior convertible notes and gain (loss) on disposal of property and equipment. Interest income
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represents interest received on our cash and cash equivalents. Interest expense consists primarily of the interest incurred on outstanding convertible debt and borrowings under our lease arrangements and credit facility. During the third quarter of 2020, we repurchased outstanding senior convertible notes which resulted in a gain.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense consists of U.S. federal and state income taxes. We incurred minimal income tax expense for 2020, 2019, and 2018. Net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes were approximately $326.9 million at December 31, 2020. State net operating loss carryforwards were approximately $294.4 million at December 31, 2020. Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in 2021, if not utilized. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount we believe is more likely than not to be realized.

On March 27, 2020, the “Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act” was signed into law. The CARES Act, among other things, includes provisions relating to refundable payroll tax credits, deferment of employer side social security payments, net operating loss carryback periods, alternative minimum tax credit refunds, modifications to the net interest deduction limitations and technical corrections to tax depreciation methods for qualified improvement property. Except for utilizing the deferment of employer social security payments, we do not expect the CARES Act to have a material impact on our financial results. We continue to examine the impacts the CARES Act may have on our business.

Adoption of Leases Accounting Standard

We adopted the new accounting standard for Leases, Topic 842, on January 1, 2019. We applied the modified transition method at the beginning of adoption. Accordingly, we did not adjust prior period financial statements, and recognized a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated deficit in 2019.

The adoption of Topic 842 requires lessees, among other things, to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for those leases classified as operating leases under previous authoritative guidance. We describe the effects of adoption of Topic 842 in more detail in Note 2 of our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Results of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data

The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of operations data for each of the periods indicated (in thousands).

	
	
	
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	
	2018
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Revenue
	$
	268,141
	
	$
	295,686
	
	$
	258,721
	

	Cost of revenue(1)
	
	129,388
	
	
	
	144,090
	
	
	
	129,277
	

	Gross profit
	
	138,753
	
	
	
	151,596
	
	
	
	129,444
	

	Operating expenses:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Sales and marketing(1)
	
	52,210
	
	
	
	76,049
	
	
	
	78,179
	

	Research and development(1)
	
	46,175
	
	
	
	54,724
	
	
	
	47,902
	

	General and administrative(1)
	
	37,720
	
	
	
	45,329
	
	
	
	43,062
	

	Restructuring costs(1)
	
	5,616
	
	
	
	–
	
	
	–

	Total operating expenses
	
	141,721
	
	
	
	176,102
	
	
	
	169,143
	

	Loss from operations
	
	(2,968)
	
	
	(24,506)
	
	
	(39,699)

	Other income (expense):
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Interest income
	
	632
	
	
	
	2,613
	
	
	
	250
	

	Interest expense
	
	(23,071)
	
	
	(23,524)
	
	
	(13,156)

	Gain on repurchase of convertible senior notes
	
	1,138
	
	
	
	–
	
	
	–

	Other expense
	
	(6)
	
	
	(71)
	
	
	6
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total other expense, net
	
	(21,307)
	
	
	(20,982)
	
	
	(12,900)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Loss before income taxes
	
	(24,275)
	
	
	(45,488)
	
	
	(52,599)

	Income tax expense
	
	22
	
	
	
	27
	
	
	
	28
	

	Net loss
	$
	(24,297)
	$
	(45,515)
	$
	(52,627)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



(1) Cost of revenue and operating expenses include stock-based compensation expense as follows (in thousands):

	
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,
	
	
	
	

	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	
	2018
	

	Cost of revenue
	$
	3,703
	$
	3,569
	
	$
	5,164
	

	Sales and marketing
	
	3,081
	
	
	3,799
	
	
	
	6,764
	

	Research and development
	
	2,555
	
	
	3,265
	
	
	
	5,510
	

	General and administrative
	
	5,198
	
	
	8,939
	
	
	
	11,430
	

	Restructuring costs
	
	-
	
	
	-
	
	
	
	-
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The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of operations data as a percentage of revenue for each of the periods indicated (as a percentage of revenue).

	
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,
	
	
	

	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	2018
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Revenue
	100.0
	
	%
	100.0
	
	%
	100.0
	
	%

	Cost of revenue
	
	48.3
	
	
	48.7
	
	
	50.0
	
	

	Gross profit
	51.7
	
	
	51.3
	
	
	50.0
	
	

	Operating expenses:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Sales and marketing
	19.5
	
	
	25.7
	
	
	30.2
	
	

	Research and development
	17.2
	
	
	18.5
	
	
	18.5
	
	

	General and administrative
	14.1
	
	
	15.3
	
	
	16.6
	
	

	Restructuring costs
	
	2.1
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	
	

	Total operating expenses
	
	52.9
	
	
	59.6
	
	
	65.4
	
	

	Loss from operations
	(1.1)
	
	(8.3)
	
	(15.3)
	

	Other income (expense):
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Interest income
	0.2
	
	
	0.9
	
	
	0.1
	
	

	Interest expense
	(8.6)
	
	(8.0)
	
	(5.1)
	

	Gain on repurchase of convertible senior notes
	0.4
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	
	

	Other expense
	
	-
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	
	

	Total other expense, net
	
	(7.9)
	
	(7.1)
	
	(5.0)
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Loss before income taxes
	
	(9.1)
	
	(15.4)
	
	(20.3)
	

	Income tax expense
	
	-
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	
	

	Net loss
	(9.1) %
	(15.4) %
	(20.3) %

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

Revenue

	
	
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	Percentage of
	
	
	
	
	
	Percentage of
	
	
	
	Period-to-Period Change
	

	
	
	Amount
	
	Revenue
	
	
	
	Amount
	
	Revenue
	
	
	
	Amount
	Percentage
	

	
	
	
	
	(in thousands)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subscription
	$
	179,743
	67.0
	
	%
	$
	195,091
	66.0
	
	%
	
	$
	(15,348)
	
	(7.9)
	%

	Platform
	
	35,101
	
	13.1
	
	
	
	
	33,654
	
	11.4
	
	
	
	
	1,447
	
	
	4.3
	
	

	Total software services
	$
	214,844
	80.1
	
	%
	$
	228,745
	77.4
	
	%
	
	$
	(13,901)
	
	(6.1)
	%

	Professional services
	
	53,297
	
	19.9
	
	
	
	
	66,941
	
	22.6
	
	
	
	
	(13,644)
	
	(20.4)
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total revenue
	$
	268,141
	
	100.0
	
	%
	$
	295,686
	100.0
	
	%
	
	$
	(27,545)
	
	(9.3)
	%



Subscription revenue decreased primarily due to a $14.5 million negative impact from the renegotiation of a customer contract and a $13.6 million negative impact from customers that terminated products and services. These decreases were partially offset by $13.5 million increases in revenue from the addition of new customers, contractual price increases and volume increases. An increase in specific reserves contributed to an additional decrease in subscription revenue of $1.9 million.

Platform revenue increased from growth in premiums and new products from Benefit Catalog, primarily from insurance carriers. As discussed above in “Components of Operating Results – Revenue”, we recognize platform revenue from carriers over the policy period and we recognize commissions revenue at a point in time.

The decrease in professional services revenue was primarily attributable to a decrease in implementation revenue, customer-specific development, and the result of terminated services. The decreases were partially offset by increases from new and existing customers.

We expect total revenue to continue to be less in 2021 compared to 2020 primarily due to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, including a slowed sales cycle in 2020 and the effects of higher unemployment. As previously discussed, we experienced longer sales cycles in 2020 and a slowdown in new sales activity which will negatively impact subscription and platform revenue in future periods. Additionally, we expect revenue from health plan customers to decline in 2021 as some customers might renew their agreements with a lower minimum number of covered employees because of an increase in
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unemployment. We also expect professional services revenue to decrease as we focus on profitability by managing away from unprofitable work.

Cost of Revenue

	
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	Period-to-Period Change
	

	
	
	
	Percentage of
	
	Percentage of
	
	
	

	
	
	Amount
	Revenue
	Amount
	Revenue
	Amount
	Percentage
	

	
	
	
	(in thousands)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cost of revenue
	$
	129,388
	48.3  %  $
	144,090
	48.7  %  $
	(14,702)
	(10.2)  %
	



The decrease in cost of revenue was attributable to decreases in salaries and other personnel-related costs of $6.6 million, costs related to external development, engineering consulting, and customer support of $7.3 million, and travel-related expenses of $1.3 million. These decreases result from our actions taken during the year in response to the COVID-19 pandemic to maintain financial health and liquidity discussed above in “Overview”. These decreases were partially offset by increased depreciation expense of $2.7 million attributable to an increase in capitalized software development costs. Cost of revenue included $3.7 million and $3.6 million of stock-based compensation expense for years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and $18.8 million and $16.0 million of depreciation and amortization for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Gross Profit

	
	
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	
	
	Period-to-Period Change
	
	

	
	
	
	
	Percentage of
	
	
	
	
	
	Percentage of
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Amount
	
	Revenue
	
	
	
	Amount
	
	Revenue
	
	
	
	Amount
	Percentage
	
	

	
	
	
	
	(in thousands)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Software services
	$
	138,393
	64.4
	
	%
	
	$
	157,221
	68.7
	
	%
	
	$
	(18,828)
	
	(12.0)
	%
	

	Professional services
	
	360
	
	0.7
	
	
	
	
	(5,625)
	(8.4)
	
	
	
	5,985
	
	
	(106.4)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Gross profit
	$
	138,753
	
	51.7
	
	%
	
	$
	151,596
	
	51.3
	
	%
	
	$
	(12,843)
	
	(8.5)
	%
	



The decrease in software services gross profit was driven by a $13.9 million, or 6%, decrease in software services revenue and an increase in software services cost of revenue of $4.9 million from increases in salary and personnel-related costs and depreciation expense. The increase in software services costs of revenue was primarily attributable to increased investment to support our ongoing customers and primarily driven by increases in salary and personnel-related costs and external development and engineering consulting of $5.1 million and depreciation and amortization expense of $2.3 million related to capitalized software development costs. The increase in software services cost of revenue included $2.1 million of stock-based compensation expense for each of the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and $15.5 million and $12.8 million of depreciation and amortization for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Professional services gross profit increased $6.0 million as professional services revenue decreased by $13.6 million and cost of revenue decreased by $19.6 million. The decrease in professional services cost of revenue is primarily attributable to decreases in salary and personnel-related costs due to headcount reductions that took place during the year, as well as decreased utilization of contract labor.

Additionally, salaries and personnel-related costs were impacted by an increase in the deferral of fulfillment costs from carrier implementation projects and a decrease in amortization of capitalized fulfillment costs as older projects became fully amortized. Professional services cost of revenue included $1.6 million and $1.5 million of stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. In addition, professional services cost of revenue included $3.3 million and $3.2 million of depreciation and amortization for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

We expect the trend of positive professional services margin to continue on an annual basis as a result of investing in accelerating automation and shifting to higher margin professional services work.
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Operating Expenses

	
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	Percentage of
	
	
	
	
	Percentage of
	
	
	
	Period-to-Period Change
	

	
	
	Amount
	Revenue
	
	
	
	Amount
	Revenue
	
	
	
	Amount
	Percentage
	

	
	
	
	(in thousands)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Sales and marketing
	$
	52,210
	19.5
	%  $
	76,049
	25.7
	%  $
	(23,839)
	(31.3)
	%

	Research and development
	
	46,175
	17.2
	
	
	
	54,724
	18.5
	
	
	
	(8,549)
	(15.6)
	

	General and administrative
	
	37,720
	14.1
	
	
	
	45,329
	15.3
	
	
	
	(7,609)
	(16.8)
	

	Restructuring costs
	
	5,616
	2.1
	
	
	
	-
	0.0
	
	
	
	5,616
	
	100.0
	



The decrease in sales and marketing expense was primarily attributable to a $16.8 million decrease in salaries and personnel-related costs, a $3.4 million decrease in travel-related costs, and a $3.2 million decrease in the cost of marketing events. These decreases result from our actions taken during the second quarter of 2020 in response to the COVID-19 pandemic to maintain financial health and liquidity as discussed above in “Overview”. The decrease in salaries and personnel-related costs was driven by decreased headcount as well as lower commissions and bonuses earned caused by delays and longer sales cycle time for new sales activity as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The decrease in travel-related costs was driven by travel restrictions imposed in response to the pandemic. The cost of marketing events decreased in part as a result of moving our events, including our user conference, OnePlace, to a digital platform in response to the COVID-19 pandemic which resulted in lower costs in the current period compared to the prior period.

The decrease in research and development expense is primarily attributable to a decrease in personnel-related costs and external development and engineering consulting of $8.3 million. Additionally, a decrease of $0.5 million in travel-related costs was primarily attributable to travel restrictions imposed in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The decrease in general and administrative expense was primarily attributable to a $5.2 million decrease in salaries and personnel-related costs as well as a decrease of $2.7 million in professional fees, travel-related costs and contract labor. These decreases result from our actions taken during the second quarter of 2020 in response to the COVID-19 pandemic to maintain financial health and liquidity discussed as above in “Overview”.

As discussed above in “Overview”, in the quarter ended June 30, 2020, we reduced our work force by approximately 17%. Restructuring costs recognized as a result of this action was $5.6 million and consisted of $5.3 million of salaries and personnel-related expense related to severance payments. The remaining amount is attributable to professional fees for outplacement services and legal fees.

Stock-based Compensation

Cost of revenue and operating expenses include an aggregate of $14.5 million and $19.6 million of stock-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, representing a decrease of $ 5.0 million. The decrease is primarily attributable to the benefit from cancellations of RSUs during 2020 from associates that left the Company and a decrease in the aggregate fair value of RSUs granted during the year.

65
[image: ]

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

Revenue

	
	
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	
	
	
	2018
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	Percentage of
	
	
	
	
	
	Percentage of
	
	
	
	Period-to-Period Change
	

	
	
	Amount
	
	Revenue
	
	
	
	Amount
	
	Revenue
	
	
	
	Amount
	Percentage
	

	
	
	
	
	(in thousands)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subscription
	$
	195,091
	66.0
	
	%
	$
	179,410
	69.3
	
	%
	
	$
	15,681
	
	
	8.7
	
	%

	Platform
	
	33,654
	
	11.4
	
	
	
	
	22,938
	
	8.9
	
	
	
	
	10,716
	
	
	46.7
	
	

	Total software services
	$
	228,745
	77.4
	
	%
	$
	202,348
	78.2
	
	%
	
	$
	26,397
	
	
	13.0
	
	%

	Professional services
	
	66,941
	
	22.6
	
	
	
	
	56,373
	
	21.8
	
	
	
	
	10,568
	
	
	18.7
	
	

	Total revenue
	$
	295,686
	100.0
	
	%
	$
	258,721
	100.0
	
	%
	
	$
	36,965
	
	
	14.3
	
	%



Subscription revenue includes $11.1 million of revenue associated with assets acquired from Connecture in February 2019. Additionally, subscription revenue increased $9.5 million from the net addition of new customers, contractual price increases, and volume increases. These increases were offset by a $6.0 million decrease in subscription revenue from the renegotiation of a customer contract and decreases from customers that terminated products and services. Additionally, sales allowance decreased resulting in an increase in subscription revenue of $1.0 million.

Platform revenue increased from growth in premiums and new products from Benefit Catalog which resulted in an increase of $7.3 million in Benefit Catalog carrier revenue and an increase of $3.4 million in revenue from broker and supplier commissions. As discussed above in “Components of Operating Results – Revenue”, platform revenue from carriers is recognized over the policy period and commissions revenue is recognized at a point in time.

The increase in professional services revenue was primarily attributable to an increase of $12.5 million from work performed related to the customer contracts acquired from Connecture in February 2019 and a $1.3 million increase in customer support from new and existing customers. These increases were offset by a net decrease of $3.7 million from professional services work for customers in 2018 that did not recur in 2019. Professional services revenue increased as a percentage of total revenue in the current year compared to the prior year primarily as result of revenue from the Connecture acquisition. We expect this trend to end after the first quarter of 2020 when comparable periods will include the results of the Connecture operations for the full period.

Cost of Revenue

	
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	
	2018
	
	
	Period-to-Period Change
	

	
	
	
	Percentage of
	
	Percentage of
	
	
	

	
	
	Amount
	Revenue
	Amount
	Revenue
	Amount
	Percentage
	

	
	
	
	(in thousands)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cost of revenue
	$
	144,090
	48.7  %  $
	129,277
	50.0  %  $
	14,813
	
	11.5  %
	



The increase in cost of revenue in absolute terms was primarily attributable to an increase in salaries and other personnel-related costs of $8.0 million and increased depreciation expense of $4.1 million. The increase in salaries and personnel-related costs is primarily attributable to the workforce acquired from Connecture in February 2019 partially offset by decreases related to our cost structure in place prior to the acquisition. The increase in depreciation and amortization expense is attributable to the amortization of acquired intangibles from the Connecture acquisition as well as higher depreciation expense related to an increase in capitalized software development costs and the impact of the adoption of the new lease accounting standard at the beginning of 2019. Cost of revenue decreased as a percentage of revenue as we continued to achieve economies of scale. Cost of revenue included $3.6 million and $5.2 million of stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and $16.0 million and $11.9 million of depreciation and amortization for the years ended December 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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Gross Profit

	
	
	
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	
	
	
	
	2018
	
	
	
	
	Period-to-Period Change
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	Percentage of
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Percentage of
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Amount
	
	Revenue
	
	
	
	Amount
	
	Revenue
	
	
	
	Amount
	Percentage
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	(in thousands)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Software services
	$
	157,221
	
	68.7
	
	%
	$
	136,344
	
	67.4
	
	%
	
	$
	20,877
	
	
	15.3
	
	%
	

	Professional services
	
	(5,625)
	(8.4)
	
	
	
	(6,900)
	(12.2)
	
	
	
	1,275
	
	
	(18.5)
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Gross profit
	$
	151,596
	
	
	51.3
	
	%
	$
	129,444
	
	50.0
	
	%
	
	$
	22,152
	
	
	17.1
	
	%
	



The increase in software services gross profit was driven by a $26.4 million, or 13.0%, increase in revenue partially offset by a $ 5.5 million, or 8.4%, increase in software services cost of revenue. Software services cost of revenue included $2.1 million and $3.0 million of stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and $12.8 million and $10.0 million of depreciation and amortization for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. As discussed above, we are not able to meaningfully separate and assign costs of revenues to subscription and platform revenue separately.

The improvement in professional services gross loss was driven by a $10.6 million, or 18.7%, increase in professional services revenue. This increase was partially offset by an increase in professional services cost of revenue of $9.3 million. Professional services cost of revenue included $1.5 million and $2.2 million of stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. In addition, professional services cost of revenue included $3.2 million and $1.9 million in depreciation and amortization for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Operating Expenses

	
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	
	
	2018
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	Percentage of
	
	
	
	
	Percentage of
	
	
	
	Period-to-Period Change

	
	
	Amount
	Revenue
	
	
	
	Amount
	Revenue
	
	
	
	Amount
	Percentage

	
	
	
	(in thousands)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Sales and marketing
	$
	76,049
	25.7
	%  $
	78,179
	30.2
	%  $
	(2,130)
	(2.7)  %

	Research and development
	
	54,724
	18.5
	
	
	
	47,902
	18.5
	
	
	
	6,822
	
	14.2

	General and administrative
	
	45,329
	15.3
	
	
	
	43,062
	16.6
	
	
	
	2,267
	
	5.3

	Restructuring costs
	
	-
	0.0
	
	
	
	-
	0.0
	
	
	
	-
	
	0.0



The decrease in sales and marketing expense in absolute terms was primarily attributable to a decrease of $3.9 million in salaries and personnel-related costs and a decrease in travel-related costs of $0.3 million, partially offset by an increase of $1.4 million increase in the cost of marketing events that occurred during 2019 and IT-related costs. Salaries and personnel-related costs decreased primarily due to a decrease in number of sales associates that occurred starting in the second half of 2018. As a result we experienced lower salary expense and sales bonuses, as well as lower stock-based compensation. Stock-based compensation decreased primarily as a result of the forfeiture of stock awards related to the departure of employees who separated from the Company during the year. These decreases in salaries were partially offset by a decrease in the amount of commission expense capitalized in 2019 compared to 2018. As discussed above in “Components of Operating Results-Operating Expenses”, certain sales commissions are capitalized and amortized over a period generally equal to four to five years.

The increase in research and development expense is primarily attributable to costs related to the workforce acquired from Connecture in February 2019. Additionally, depreciation and amortization and IT-related costs increased by $2.0 million. These increases were partially offset by an increase of $2.4 million in the amount of personnel-related costs capitalized for software development.

The increase in general and administrative expense was primarily attributable to a net increase of $2.6 million in salary and personnel-related costs primarily as increases from investing in our business operations function were partly offset by a decrease in stock-based compensation of $2.5 million. Additionally, depreciation and amortization, IT-related expense, contract labor, travel-related and other operating expenses increased $2.3 million and insurance expense increased $0.2 million in connection with the acquisition of assets from Connecture. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in professional and consulting costs of $2.8 million as implementation costs of the new lease accounting
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standard incurred in 2019 were more than offset by a decrease in professional fees associated with the adoption of the leasing and revenue accounting standards and internal control testing incurred during 2018.

Stock-based Compensation

Cost of revenue and operating expenses include an aggregate of $19.6 million and $28.9 million of stock-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, representing a decrease of $ 9.3 million, or a 32.2% decrease. The decrease is primarily attributable to expense from performance-based awards as the achievement of performance measures was lower for awards granted in 2019 compared to 2018. Additionally, expense decreased from the forfeitures of awards from employees who separated from the Company.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses. In accordance with GAAP, we base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results might differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe the following accounting policies are critical to the process of making significant judgments and estimates in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition - Estimation of Platform Revenue from Insurance Broker Commissions

Our platform revenue from insurance broker commissions and Benefit Catalog supplier transactions is recognized at the point when the orders for the policies are received and transferred to the insurance carrier or supplier. The transaction price is reduced by constraints for variable consideration associated with collectability, policy cancellation and termination risks. We estimate variable consideration primarily using the expected value method based on both historical and current estimates. We then use judgment to develop constraints on the estimated variable consideration included in the transaction price to account for risks in collectability, policy cancellation and termination. Changes in those estimates can have a material effect on the amount of revenue recognized in a period. During 2020, the constraint rate decreased by approximately 1%, or less than 0.2 percentage points, during the year. An increase in the constraint rate of one percentage point, would negatively impact revenue recognized in 2020 by approximately $0.1 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liquidity

As of December 31, 2020, our primary sources of liquidity were our cash and cash equivalents totaling $90.7 million, $ 95.1 million in marketable securities, $22.2 million in accounts receivables, net of allowance, and unused availability under our revolving line of credit of $50.0 million.

We entered into a new revolving line of credit agreement with Silicon Valley Bank on March 3, 2020. This agreement replaces our previous agreement with Silicon Valley Bank, which expired on February 20, 2020. The new three-year agreement has a borrowing limit of $50 million, with the ability for us to increase it up to $100 million. We are bound by customary representations and warranties and restrictive covenants in connection with the revolving line of credit, including financial covenants related to quick ratio and EBITDA. In the event of a default, the lenders may declare all obligations immediately due and stop advancing money or extending credit under the line of credit. The line of credit is collateralized by substantially all of our personal property assets, including intellectual property and the equity of our
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subsidiaries. The terms of our revolving line of credit are described in Note 11 of the unaudited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In June 2020, we issued 1,777,778 shares of Series A Preferred Stock (the “Preferred Stock”) at a purchase price of $45 per share, resulting in total gross proceeds of approximately $80 million. The Preferred Stock ranks senior to our common stock with respect to dividends and distributions on liquidation, winding-up and dissolution. Each share of the Preferred Stock has an initial stated value of $45 per share. Holders of shares of the Preferred Stock are entitled a dividend equal to 8.00% per annum (the “Regular Dividends”), payable quarterly, beginning on June 30, 2020. The Regular Dividends are payable in cash or in kind, at our option. In the event a Regular Dividend is paid in kind, the stated value of each share of the Preferred Stock will be increased by an amount equal to the accrued Regular Dividend not paid in cash. As of December 31, 2020, we had paid all of the Preferred Stock dividends in cash. Holders of the Preferred Stock are also entitled to participate in and receive any dividends declared or paid on the common stock on an as-converted basis, and no dividends may be paid to holders of the common stock unless full participating dividends are concurrently paid to the holders of the Preferred Stock. Each holder of the Preferred Stock has the right, at its option, to convert its shares of the Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, into fully paid and non-assessable shares of the common stock, at any time and from time to time. The number of shares of the common stock into which a share of the Preferred Stock will convert at any time is equal to the quotient obtained by dividing its stated value then in effect plus any accumulated and unpaid Regular Dividends by its conversion price of $15.00. The conversion price is subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments, including in the event of any stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization or similar events. At closing, before payment of any dividends in kind, the 1,777,778 shares of the Preferred Stock were convertible into 5,333,334 shares of common stock. We may, at our option, redeem the outstanding shares of the Preferred Stock following the fourth anniversary of issuance. Redemption by us is subject to certain liquidity conditions, as well conditions connected with the trading price of its common stock. The terms of the Preferred Stock are described in Note 13 of our unaudited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In December 2018, we issued $240 million aggregate principal amount of 1.25% convertible senior notes (the “Notes”) due December 15, 2023, unless earlier purchased by us or converted by the holder pursuant to their terms. Interest is payable semiannually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year. Upon conversion, we will pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of our common stock or a combination, at our election. The Notes have an initial conversion rate of 18.8076 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount. This represents an initial effective conversion price of approximately $53.17 per share of common stock.

In connection with the issuance of the Notes, we entered into capped call transactions with certain counterparties affiliated with the initial purchasers and others. The capped call transactions are expected to reduce potential dilution of earnings per share upon conversion of the Notes. Under the capped call transactions, we purchased capped call options that in the aggregate relate to the total number of shares of our common stock underlying the Notes, with an initial strike price of approximately $ 53.17 per share, which corresponds to the initial conversion price of the Notes and is subject to anti-dilution adjustments substantially similar to those applicable to the conversion rate of the Notes, and have a cap price of approximately $89.98. The terms of the Notes are described further in Note 10 of our unaudited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

During the third quarter of 2020, we repurchased Notes with an aggregate principal amount of $18.8 million for an aggregate of $14.6 million in cash. As of the end of the third quarter of 2020, the remaining outstanding Notes were convertible into 4,161,182 shares of common stock. In connection with the purchase of the Notes, we terminated a portion of the capped call transactions which resulted in an immaterial amount of payments to us in cash and shares of our common stock.

Our cash flows from operations has improved in recent years and turned positive for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2018. However, for the year ended December 31, 2019, cash flows from operations were negative due to timing in changes in working capital, a decrease in the balance of deferred revenue and the impact of acquired deferred revenue which yields revenue with no cash inflows. We expect the trend of positive cash flows from operations in at least the near term as we continue to manage our costs.
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Based on our current level of operations and anticipated growth, we believe our future cash flows from operating activities and existing cash balances will be sufficient to meet our cash requirements for at least the next 12 months.

Going forward, we may access capital markets to raise additional equity or debt financing for various business reasons, including required debt payments and acquisitions. The timing, term, size, and pricing of any such financing will depend on investor interest and market conditions, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain any such financing on favorable terms or at all.

Operating and Capital Expenditure Requirements and Contractual Obligations

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities balances and cash generated from operations will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash requirements through at least the next 12 months.

Our short-term material cash requirements as of December 31, 2020 are primarily comprised of lease obligations, dividends on our Preferred Stock, interest on our convertible senior notes, and payments to vendors related to our technology infrastructure. These obligations will be funded from cash from operations and our balances of current assets.

Our long-term material cash requirements as of December 31, 2020 include lease obligations, repayment of our convertible senior notes, if not converted, and dividends on our Preferred Stock, if not converted or paid in kind. Our long-term obligations will be funded from cash from operations, balances of current assets, and if necessary, borrowing under our revolving line of credit or future credit arrangements, the sale of debt securities, or sale of equity.

In addition, we are reassessing our need for office space and have listed certain of our facilities for sublease, including our headquarters campus in Charleston, South Carolina and our office in Tulsa, Oklahoma. Since March 2020, most of our associates have worked remotely during the COVID-19 pandemic. While our facilities have remained open and accessible, they have been underutilized since March 2020. Many associates have expressed interest in a remote or flexible work situation after the risk of infection from COVID-19 diminishes. The timing, amount of space to ultimately be sublet, expected amount of sublease income, and amount of impairment loss we might recognize in connection with a sublease, if any, is uncertain. Any amounts received under subleases would offset our lease payments and reduce our cash requirements associated with our lease obligations.

The details of the arrangements that give rise to these short- and long-term cash requirements are described in more detail in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our customer growth rate, subscription renewal activity, the timing and extent of development efforts, the expansion of sales and marketing activities, the introduction of new and enhanced services offerings, and the continuing market acceptance of our services. We might require additional capital beyond our currently anticipated amounts. If our available cash and cash equivalents balances are insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements, we may seek to sell equity or convertible debt securities or enter into an additional credit facility. The sale of equity and convertible debt securities may result in dilution to our stockholders and those securities may have rights senior to those of our common shares. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of convertible debt securities, these securities could contain covenants that would restrict our operations. Additional capital might not be available on reasonable terms, or at all.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2020, the FASB issued No. ASU 2020-06, “Debt - Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging - Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40)”. The update simplifies the accounting for convertible debt instruments and convertible preferred stock by reducing the number of accounting models and the number of embedded conversion features that could be recognized separately from the primary contract. This ASU also enhances transparency and improves disclosures for convertible instruments and earnings per share guidance. It is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning January 1, 2022. Early adoption is permitted after January 1, 2021. This update permits the use of either the modified retrospective or fully retrospective method of
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transition. We are currently evaluating the timing and impact of the adoption of ASU 2020-06 on our consolidated financial statements, but we anticipate that it will result in a reduction in non-cash interest expense related to the Notes.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12 “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes”. This ASU is intended to simplify various aspects related to accounting for income taxes, eliminates certain exceptions to the general principles in ASC Topic 740 related to intra-period tax allocation, simplifies when companies recognize deferred taxes in an interim period, and clarifies certain aspects of the current guidance to promote consistent application. This ASU is effective for interim and annual reporting periods starting January 1, 2021. We are currently evaluating the potential effects of this guidance on our consolidated financial statements.

We are evaluating other accounting standards and exposure drafts that have been issued or proposed by the FASB or other standards setting bodies that do not require adoption until a future date to determine whether adoption will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Risk.

Market risk is the risk of loss to future earnings, values or future cash flows that may result from changes in the price of a financial instrument. The value of a financial instrument might change as a result of changes in interest rates, exchange rates, commodity prices, equity prices and other market changes. We do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative, hedging or trading purposes, although in the future we might enter into exchange rate hedging arrangements to manage the risks described below.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates. On March 3, 2020, we entered into a new revolving line of credit agreement. Borrowings under the new agreement bear interest at rates that are variable. Increases in the Prime Rate or federal funds rate will increase the interest rate on borrowings under the new agreement.

Changes in interest rates may also impact gains or losses from the conversion of our outstanding convertible senior notes. In December 2018, we issued $240.0 million in aggregate principal amount of our 1.25% convertible senior notes due 2023, or the Notes. Upon certain events and/or if certain conditions are met, the Notes can be redeemed into cash, or converted into cash, shares or combination of cash and shares. Upon conversion or redemption, we are required to record a gain or loss for the difference between the fair value of the debt to be extinguished and its corresponding net carrying value. The fair value of the debt to be extinguished depends on our then-current incremental borrowing rate. If our incremental borrowing rate at the time of conversion is higher or lower than the implied interest rate of the Notes, we will record a gain or loss in our consolidated statements of operations during the period in which the Notes are converted. The implicit interest rate for the notes is 7.30%. An incremental borrowing rate that is a hypothetical 100 basis points lower than the implicit interest rate upon conversion of $240.0 million aggregate principal amount of the Notes would result in a loss of approximately $2.4 million.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

We are subject to interest rate risk in connection with borrowings under the revolving line of credit agreement, which are subject to a variable interest rate. As of December 31, 2020, there were no amounts due under the agreement. Any debt we incur in the future may also bear interest at variable rates.

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations. We continue to monitor the impact of inflation in order to minimize its effects through pricing strategies, productivity improvements and cost reductions. If our costs were to become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price increases. Our inability or failure to do so could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The information required by this Item is set forth in the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto beginning at page F-1 of this Report.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this report.

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs.

Based on their evaluation, our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of December 31, 2020 our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to, and are effective to, provide assurance at a reasonable level that the information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures as of December 31, 2020.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management, including our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange

Act). Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on the Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) (2013 Framework). Based on this evaluation under the 2013 Framework, our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2020.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

No change in internal control over financial reporting occurred during the most recent fiscal quarter with respect to our operations, which has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Attestation Report of Registered Public Accounting Firm

Our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young, LLP, has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, which appears on page F-4 of this Report.

Item 9B. Other Information.

As previously reported, the Company has decided to eliminate the position of Executive Chairman, with Mason R. Holland, Jr. stepping down from his position as Executive Chairman and a member of the Company’s Board of Directors, effective at the Company’s 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. While Mr. Holland was to serve as an advisor to the Board with observer rights after the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to an Advisory and Board Observation Agreement dated January 26, 2021 (the “Agreement”), on March 5, 2021, the Board and Mr. Holland agreed that Mr. Holland will not serve as an advisor to the Company or earn any related advisor compensation and that Mr. Holland will forgo all observer rights under the Agreement, after the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The remaining terms of the Agreement, which the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 1, 2021, remain in full force and effect.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Information required by this Item concerning our directors is incorporated by reference from the sections captioned “Election of Directors” and “Corporate Governance Matters” contained in our proxy statement related to the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which we intend to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of the end of our 2019 fiscal year pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K.

Our board of directors has determined that of the members of the Audit Committee, Messrs. Pelzer (Chair) and Dennerline and Ms. White are independent within the meaning of the Nasdaq Stock Market listing rules and meet the additional test for independence for audit committee members imposed by Securities and Exchange Commission regulation and the Nasdaq Stock Market listing rules. Our board has also determined that Mr. Pelzer is an “audit committee financial expert” as defined in Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regulation S-K.

We have adopted a code of ethics relating to the conduct of our business by all of our employees, officers, and directors, as well as a code of conduct specifically for our principal executive officer and senior financial officers. Each of these policies is posted on our website, www.benefitfocus.com.

The information required by this Item concerning our executive officers is set forth at the end of Part I of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information under the sections captioned “Executive Compensation,” “Director Compensation” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in the proxy statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The following table sets forth the indicated information as of December 31, 2020 with respect to our equity compensation plans:

	
	
	
	Number of securities to be
	
	Weighted-average exercise
	Number of securities remaining

	
	
	
	issued upon exercise of
	
	
	price of outstanding
	available for future issuance

	
	
	
	outstanding options, warrants
	
	
	options, warrants and
	under equity compensation

	Plan Category
	
	
	and rights
	
	
	rights
	plans

	Equity compensation plans
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	approved by security holders
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
	-
	$
	-
	
	98,571
	

	Second Amended and Restated 2012
	Stock Plan, as
	
	
	
	
	
	

	amended
	
	2,712,805
	
	$
	0.53
	
	3,518,804
	

	Total
	
	2,712,805
	
	$
	0.53
	
	3,617,375
	



Our equity compensation plans consist of the Benefitfocus, Inc. 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and the Second Amended and Restated 2012 Stock Plan, as amended, which were approved by our stockholders. We do not have any equity compensation plans or arrangements that have not been approved by our stockholders. Our Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Option Plan expired during 2020.

The other information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information under the section captioned “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” contained in the proxy statement.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information under the section captioned “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” and “Corporate Governance Matters” in the proxy statement.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information under the section captioned “Audit Committee Report” in the proxy statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) 1. Financial Statements.

The following statements are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

	AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	

	Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
	F-2

	Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019
	F-5

	Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the Years Ended December
	
	

	
	31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
	
	F-6

	Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the Years Ended
	

	
	December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018
	
	
	F-7

	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and
	

	2018
	
	
	
	
	
	
	F-8

	
	
	
	

	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
	F-10



Schedules not listed above have been omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is not applicable or is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Incorporated by Reference
	
	

	Exhibit Number
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unless Otherwise Indicated)
	
	

	
	
	Exhibit Title
	
	Form
	
	File
	
	Exhibit
	
	
	Filing Date
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	3.1
	
	Restated Certificate of Incorporation of
	10-Q
	—
	3.1.3
	
	November 12, 2013
	

	
	
	Benefitfocus, Inc.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	3.1.1
	
	Certificate of Designations for the Series A
	
	8-K
	-
	3.1
	
	June 8, 2020
	

	
	
	Convertible Preferred Stock of Benefitfocus,
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Inc., as filed with the Delaware Secretary of
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	State on June 4, 2020.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	3.2
	
	Amended and Restated Bylaws of
	
	8-K
	—
	3.2.1
	
	September 19, 2016
	

	
	
	Benefitfocus, Inc.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	4.1
	
	Specimen Certificate for Common Stock.
	S-1/A
	333-190610
	4.1
	
	September 5, 2013
	

	4.2
	
	Form of Second Amended and Restated
	S-1/A
	333-190610
	4.3
	
	September 16, 2013
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated, 2013, by
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	and among Benefitfocus, Inc. and certain
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	stockholders named therein.
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	4.2.1
	First Amendment to Second Amended and
	
	10-K
	—
	4.3.1
	February 27, 2015

	
	Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated
	
	
	
	
	

	
	February 24, 2015, by and among
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefitfocus, Inc. and certain stockholders
	
	
	
	

	
	named therein.
	
	
	
	

	4.3
	Indenture of Benefitfocus, Inc. and U.S.
	8-K
	—
	4.1
	December 28, 2018

	
	National Bank, as Trustee, dated as of
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	December 27, 2018.
	
	
	
	
	

	4.4
	Form of 1.25% Convertible Senior Notes due
	8-K
	—
	4.1
	December 28, 2018

	
	2023 (included in Exhibit 4.3).
	
	
	
	
	
	

	4.5
	Description of Securities
	—
	—
	—
	Filed herewith

	10.1
	Benefitfocus, Inc. Amended and Restated
	DEF 14A
	—
	—
	April 25, 2014

	
	2012 Stock Plan.#
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	10.1.1
	Form of Grant Notice and Stock Option
	
	S-1
	333-190610
	10.6
	August 14, 2013

	
	Agreement under the 2012 Stock Plan, as
	
	
	
	

	
	amended.#
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	10.2
	Form of Management Incentive Bonus
	
	S-1
	333-190610
	10.7
	August 14, 2013

	
	Program.#
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	10.2.1
	Benefitfocus, Inc. Management Incentive
	
	DEF 14A
	—
	—
	April 25, 2014

	
	Bonus Program.#
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	10.3
	Employment Agreement, dated January 19,
	
	S-1
	333-190610
	10.8
	August 14, 2013

	
	2007, by and between Benefitfocus.com, Inc.
	
	
	
	
	

	
	and Mason R. Holland, Jr.#
	
	
	
	
	

	10.4
	Form of Employment Agreement.#
	S-1
	333-190610
	10.11
	August 14, 2013

	10.5
	Form of Indemnification Agreement.#
	S-1
	333-190610
	10.12
	August 14, 2013

	10.6
	Lease between Daniel Island Executive
	S-1
	333-190610
	10.13
	August 14, 2013

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Center, LLC and Benefitfocus.com, Inc.,
	
	
	
	
	

	
	dated as of January 1, 2009, as amended.
	
	
	
	

	10.6.1
	Third Amendment to Lease between Daniel
	8-K
	—
	10.13.1
	December 14, 2016

	
	Island Executive Center, LLC and
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefitfocus.com, Inc., dated as of
	
	
	
	

	
	December 12, 2016.
	
	
	
	
	
	

	10.7
	Lease between Daniel Island Executive
	S-1
	333-190610
	10.14
	August 14, 2013

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Center, LLC and Benefitfocus.com, Inc.,
	
	
	
	

	
	dated as of May 31, 2005.
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	10.7.1
	First Amendment to Lease between Daniel
	8-K
	—
	10.14.1
	December 14, 2016

	
	Island Executive Center, LLC and
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefitfocus.com, Inc., dated as of
	
	
	
	

	
	December 12, 2016.
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	10.8
	Master Business Agreement between Aetna
	
	S-1
	333-190610
	10.15
	August 14, 2013

	
	Life Insurance Company and
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefitfocus.com, Inc., dated as of
	
	
	
	

	
	November 28, 2006.+
	
	
	
	
	
	

	10.9
	Lease between DIEC II, LLC and
	
	10-K
	—
	10.19
	March 21, 2014

	
	Benefitfocus.com, Inc., dated as of
	
	
	
	

	
	December 13, 2013.
	
	
	
	
	
	

	10.9.1
	Amendment to Lease between DIEC II, LLC
	8-K
	—
	10.16.1
	December 14, 2016

	
	and Benefitfocus.com, Inc., dated as of
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	December 12, 2016.
	
	
	
	
	

	10.10
	Form of Independent Director Compensation
	8-K
	—
	10.21
	June 23, 2014

	
	Agreement.
	
	
	
	
	
	

	10.11
	Employment Agreement, dated June 25,
	8-K
	—
	10.22
	April 8, 2015

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	2014, by and between Benefitfocus.com, Inc.
	
	
	
	
	

	
	and Ray August.#
	
	
	
	
	

	10.11.1
	First Amendment to Employment Agreement,
	10-K
	—
	10.18.1
	March 15, 2018

	
	dated November 20, 2017, by and between
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefitfocus.com, Inc. and Raymond A.
	
	
	
	
	

	
	August.#
	
	
	
	
	

	10.11.2
	Second Amendment to Employment
	10-Q
	—
	10.17.2
	August 7, 2019

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Agreement, dated April 1, 2019, by and
	
	
	
	
	

	
	between Benefitfocus.com, Inc. and
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Raymond A. August.#
	
	
	
	
	

	10.12
	Senior Secured Credit Facility, dated as of
	
	10-Q
	—
	10.23
	May 6, 2015

	
	February 20, 2015, by and among
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefitfocus, Inc., Benefitfocus.com, Inc.,
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefit Informatics, Inc., BenefitStore, Inc.,
	
	
	
	
	

	
	several lenders, Silicon Valley Bank, as
	
	
	
	
	

	
	administrative agent, issuing lender and
	
	
	
	
	

	
	swingline lender and Comerica Bank, as
	
	
	
	

	
	documentation agent.
	
	
	
	

	10.12.1
	First Amendment Agreement, dated as of
	
	8-K
	—
	10.25
	June 16, 2015

	
	June 16, 2015, by and among Benefitfocus,
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Inc., Benefitfocus.com, Inc., Benefit
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Informatics, Inc., BenefitStore, Inc., several
	
	
	
	
	

	
	banks and other financial institutions or
	
	
	
	
	

	
	entities and Silicon Valley Bank, as
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	administrative agent and collateral agent for
	
	
	
	

	
	lenders.
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	10.12.2
	Second Amendment Agreement, dated as of
	
	10-K
	—
	10.23
	February 25, 2016

	
	December 18, 2015, by and among
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefitfocus, Inc., Benefitfocus.com, Inc.,
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefit Informatics, Inc., BenefitStore, Inc.,
	
	
	
	
	

	
	several banks and other financial institutions
	
	
	
	
	

	
	or entities and Silicon Valley Bank, as
	
	
	
	
	

	
	administrative agent and collateral agent for
	
	
	
	

	
	lenders.
	
	
	
	

	10.12.3
	Third Amendment Agreement, dated as of
	
	8-K
	—
	10.26
	March 29, 2016

	
	March 24, 2016, by and among Benefitfocus,
	
	
	
	

	
	Inc., Benefitfocus.com, Inc., BenefitStore,
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Inc., several banks and other financial
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	institutions or entities and Silicon Valley
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Bank, as administrative agent and collateral
	
	
	
	

	
	agent for lenders.
	
	
	
	

	10.12.4
	Fourth Amendment Agreement, dated as of
	10-Q
	—
	10.16.4
	May 8, 2020

	
	October 28, 2016, by and among
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefitfocus, Inc., Benefitfocus.com, Inc. and
	
	
	
	

	
	BenefitStore, Inc., several banks and other
	
	
	
	
	

	
	financial institutions or entities and Silicon
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Valley Bank, as administrative agent and
	
	
	
	
	

	
	collateral agent for lenders.
	
	
	
	

	10.12.5
	Fifth Amendment Agreement, dated as of
	
	8-K
	—
	10.32
	December 14, 2016

	
	December 12, 2016, by and among
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefitfocus, Inc., Benefitfocus.com, Inc. and
	
	
	
	

	
	BenefitStore, Inc., several banks and other
	
	
	
	
	

	
	financial institutions or entities and Silicon
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Valley Bank, as administrative agent and
	
	
	
	
	

	
	collateral agent for lenders.
	
	
	
	

	10.12.6
	Sixth Amendment Agreement, dated as of
	10-Q
	—
	10.16.6
	May 8, 2020

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	April 26, 2017, by and among Benefitfocus,
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Inc., Benefitfocus.com, Inc. and BenefitStore,
	
	
	
	

	
	Inc., several banks and other financial
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	institutions or entities and Silicon Valley
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Bank, as administrative agent and collateral
	
	
	
	

	
	agent for lenders.
	
	
	
	




10.12.7	Seventh Amendment Agreement, dated as of March 29, 2018, by and among Benefitfocus, Inc., Benefitfocus.com, Inc. and BenefitStore, Inc., several banks and other financial institutions or entities and Silicon Valley Bank, as administrative agent and collateral agent for lenders.


10-Q	—	10.16.7	May 8, 2020
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	10.12.8
	Eighth Amendment Agreement, dated as of
	
	10-Q
	—
	10.16.8
	May 8, 2020

	
	December 19, 2018, by and among
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefitfocus, Inc., Benefitfocus.com, Inc. and
	
	
	
	
	

	
	BenefitStore, Inc., several banks and other
	
	
	
	

	
	financial institutions or entities and Silicon
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Valley Bank, as administrative agent and
	
	
	
	

	
	collateral agent for lenders.
	
	
	
	

	10.13
	Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated
	
	10-Q
	—
	10.24
	May 6, 2015

	
	as of February 20, 2015, made by
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefitfocus, Inc., Benefitfocus.com, Inc.,
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefit Informatics, Inc., BenefitStore, Inc.,
	
	
	
	
	

	
	and other grantors, in favor of Silicon Valley
	
	
	
	

	
	Bank, as administrative agent.
	
	
	
	

	10.14
	Benefitfocus, Inc. 2016 Employee Stock
	DEF14A
	—
	—
	April 22, 2016

	
	Purchase Plan.#
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	10.15
	Waiver to Credit Agreement, dated as of
	8-K
	—
	10.28
	September 1, 2016

	
	September 1, 2016, by and among the
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefitfocus, Inc., Benefitfocus.com, Inc. and
	
	
	
	
	

	
	BenefitStore, Inc., the several banks and
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	other financial institutions or entities party
	
	
	
	

	
	thereto and Silicon Valley Bank, as
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	administration agent and collateral agent for
	
	
	
	

	
	the lenders.
	
	
	
	

	10.16
	Lease between DIEC II, LLC and
	
	8-K
	—
	10.31
	December 14, 2016

	
	Benefitfocus.com, Inc., dated as of
	
	
	
	

	
	December 12, 2016.
	
	
	
	
	
	

	10.17
	Form of Call Option Transaction Notice.
	8-K
	—
	10.1
	December 28, 2018

	10.18
	Employment Agreement, dated June 30,
	10-K
	—
	10.25
	February 26, 2019

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	2017, by and between Benefitfocus.com and
	
	
	
	
	

	
	James Restivo.#
	
	
	
	
	

	10.19
	Employment Agreement, dated July 2, 2019,
	
	10-Q
	—
	10.26
	November 7, 2019

	
	by and between Benefitfocus.com and
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Stephen M. Swad.#
	
	
	
	
	

	10.19.1
	First Amendment to Employment Agreement,
	8-K
	-
	10.1
	August 26, 2020

	
	dated August 25, 2020, by and between
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefitfocus.com and Stephen M. Swad.#
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	10.20
	Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility,
	
	10-Q
	-
	10.26
	May 8, 2020

	
	dated as of March 3, 2020, by and among
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefitfocus, Inc., Benefitfocus.com, Inc.,
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	BenefitStore, Inc., several lenders, Silicon
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Valley Bank, as administrative agent, issuing
	
	
	
	
	

	
	lender and swingline lender, and the lenders
	
	
	
	

	
	from time to time party thereto.
	
	
	
	

	10.21
	Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated
	10-Q
	-
	10.27
	May 8, 2020

	
	as of March 3, 2020, made by Benefitfocus,
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Inc., Benefitfocus.com, Inc., BenefitStore,
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Inc., and other grantors, in favor of Silicon
	
	
	
	

	
	Valley Bank, as administrative agent.
	
	
	
	

	10.22
	Employment Agreement, dated January 1,
	10-Q
	-
	10.28
	May 8, 2020

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	2020, by and between Benefitfocus.com, Inc.
	
	
	
	

	
	and Annmarie Fini.#
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	10.23
	Amendment to Leases between Daniel
	8-K
	-
	10.26
	March 19, 2020

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Island Executive Center, LLC, DIEC II, LLC
	
	
	
	

	
	and Benefitfocus.com, Inc., dated as of
	
	
	
	
	

	
	March 13, 2020.
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	10.24
	Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated
	
	8-K
	-
	10.1
	May 26, 2020

	
	May 22, 2020, by and between Benefitfocus,
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Inc. and BuildGroup LLC.
	
	
	
	
	

	10.25
	Consent to Senior Secured Revolving Credit
	
	8-K
	-
	10.2
	May 26, 2020

	
	Facility, dated as of May 22, 2020, by and
	
	
	
	
	

	
	among Benefitfocus, Inc., Benefitfocus.com,
	
	
	
	

	
	Inc., BenefitStore, Inc., several lenders,
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Silicon Valley Bank, as administrative agent,
	
	
	
	
	

	
	issuing lender and swingline lender, and the
	
	
	
	

	
	lenders from time to time party thereto.
	
	
	
	

	10.26
	Registration Rights Agreement, dated June
	
	8-K
	-
	10.1
	June 8, 2020

	
	4, 2020, by and between Benefitfocus, Inc.
	
	
	
	
	

	
	and BuildGroup LLC.
	
	
	
	
	

	10.27
	Co-Sale and Voting Agreement, dated June
	8-K
	-
	10.2
	June 8, 2020

	
	4, 2020, by and among Benefitfocus, Inc.,
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	BuildGroup LLC, and Mason R. Holland, Jr.
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	10.28
	Benefitfocus, Inc. Second Amended and
	
	8-K
	--
	10.24.1
	June 12, 2020

	
	Restated Stock Plan, as amended.#
	
	
	
	

	10.29
	Employment Agreement, dated August 25,
	
	8-K
	-
	10.2
	August 26, 2020

	
	2020, by and between Benefitfocus.com and
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Alpana Wegner.#
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	10.30
	Separation and Release Agreement, dated
	
	8-K
	-
	10.3
	August 26, 2020

	
	August 24, 2020, by and between
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefitfocus.com and Raymond A. August.#
	
	
	
	

	10.31
	Separation and Release Agreement dated
	8-K
	-
	10.1
	September 30, 2020

	
	September 29, 2020, by and between
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefitfocus.com and James P. Restivo.#
	
	
	
	

	21.1
	List of Subsidiaries of Registrant.
	—
	—
	—
	Filed herewith

	23.1
	Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
	—
	—
	—
	Filed herewith

	31.1
	Certification of the President and Chief
	—
	—
	—
	Filed herewith

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of
	
	
	
	
	

	
	the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
	
	
	
	

	31.2
	Certification of the Chief Financial Officer
	—
	—
	—
	Filed herewith

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
	
	
	
	

	
	Oxley Act of 2002.
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	




	32.1
	Certification of the President and Chief

	
	
	
	
	

	
	Executive Officer, and the Chief Financial
	

	
	Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the

	
	Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
	

	101.INS
	Inline XBRL Instance Document – the

	
	instance document does not appear in the

	
	Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are

	
	embedded within the Inline XBRL document.





—	—	—	Filed herewith



—	—	—	Filed herewith


	101.SCH
	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
	—
	—
	—
	Filed herewith

	
	Document.
	
	
	
	

	101.CAL
	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
	—
	—
	—
	Filed herewith

	
	Linkbase Document.
	
	
	
	

	101.DEF
	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
	—
	—
	—
	Filed herewith

	
	Linkbase Document.
	
	
	
	

	101.LAB
	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label
	—
	—
	—
	Filed herewith

	
	Linkbase Document.
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	101.PRE
	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension
	—
	—
	—
	Filed herewith
	

	
	Presentation Linkbase Document.
	
	
	
	
	

	104
	Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted
	—
	—
	—
	Filed herewith
	

	___________
	as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	



· Management contract or compensatory plan.

· The registrant has received confidential treatment with respect to portions of this exhibit. Those portions have been omitted from the exhibit and filed separately with the SEC.



Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Sections 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Benefitfocus, Inc.

Date: March 9, 2021	By:	/s/ Alpana Wegner
[image: ]
Alpana Wegner

Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.


Signature
[image: ]

/s/ Mason R. Holland, Jr.
[image: ]

Mason R. Holland, Jr.

/s/ Stephen M. Swad
[image: ]

Stephen M. Swad

/s/ Alpana Wegner
[image: ]

Alpana Wegner

/s/ Douglas A. Dennerline
[image: ]

Douglas A. Dennerline

/s/ A. Lanham Napier
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A. Lanham Napier

/s/ Francis J. Pelzer V
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Francis J. Pelzer V

/s/ Ana M. White
[image: ]

Ana M. White

/s/ Zeynep Young
[image: ]

Zeynep Young




	Capacity
	
	Date

	Chairman of the Board of Directors
	March 9, 2021

	President and Chief Executive Officer
	March 9, 2021

	(principal executive officer)
	

	Chief Financial Officer (principal
	March 9, 2021

	financial and accounting officer)
	

	Director
	March 9, 2021

	Director
	March 9, 2021

	Director
	March 9, 2021

	Director
	March 9, 2021

	Director
	March 9, 2021
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Benefitfocus, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Benefitfocus, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders' equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated March 9, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Adoption of ASU No. 2016-13

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for leases in 2019 due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), and the related amendments.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the account or disclosure to which it relates.

Revenue Recognition – Estimation of Platform Revenue from Insurance Broker Commissions


Description of the Matter



As described in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements, platform revenue from insurance broker commissions are recognized at a point in time when the orders for the policies are received and transferred to the insurance carrier. The amount of revenue recognized is based on the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for transferring services to the insurance carrier. The Company’s broker commission arrangements contain a component of variable consideration. Management estimates variable consideration primarily using the expected value method, based on both historical and current estimates of collectability, policy cancellation and termination information. The Company then utilizes judgment to develop constraints on the estimated variable consideration included in the transaction price to account for risks in collectability, policy cancellation and termination. Changes in those estimates can have a material effect on the amount of revenue recognized.


Auditing the Company’s assessment of the estimated constraint requires a high degree of auditor judgment due to the subjectivity in the assumptions utilized in the estimation. Specifically, there is uncertainty in the transaction price given the policy may be cancelled or terminated. Further, there is collections risk given the commissions revenues are receivable over the term of policy period, which occurs after the performance obligation has been satisfied.


How We Addressed the Matter in Our Audit



We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the Company's process to estimate variable consideration and establish constraints, including determining the underlying assumptions. For example, we tested controls over management's review of the significant inputs and assumptions including collectability, policy cancellation and termination risk.



Our audit procedures included, among others, evaluating the methodology used, analyzing the significant assumptions discussed above, and testing the accuracy and completeness of the underlying data used in management's calculation. This included testing inputs to the calculation by evaluating historical information by comparing to source documents and performing sensitivity analyses to evaluate the changes in variable consideration that could result from changes in the Company’s significant assumptions, including whether alternative assumptions could be more appropriate. We assessed the historical accuracy of management's estimates for variable consideration and the related assumptions by performing a retrospective review on the accuracy of prior period estimates.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2008.

Charlotte, North Carolina
March 9, 2021
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Benefitfocus, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Benefitfocus, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 Framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Benefitfocus, Inc. (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of Benefitfocus, Inc. as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders' equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes and our report dated March 9, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Charlotte, North Carolina

March 9, 2021
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BENEFITFOCUS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

	
	
	As of December 31,
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	2020
	
	
	2019
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Assets
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Current assets:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	$
	90,706
	
	$
	130,976
	

	Marketable securities
	
	95,085
	
	
	–

	Accounts receivable, net
	
	22,240
	
	
	33,754
	

	Contract, prepaid and other current assets
	
	21,354
	
	
	21,523
	

	Total current assets
	
	229,385
	
	
	186,253
	

	Property and equipment, net
	
	29,701
	
	
	28,669
	

	Financing lease right-of-use assets
	
	68,670
	
	
	78,520
	

	Operating lease right-of-use assets
	
	1,107
	
	
	1,715
	

	Intangible assets, net
	
	10,393
	
	
	12,667
	

	Goodwill
	
	12,857
	
	
	12,857
	

	Deferred contract costs and other non-current assets
	
	10,259
	
	
	11,002
	

	Total assets
	$
	362,372
	
	$
	331,683
	

	Liabilities and stockholders' deficit
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Current liabilities:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Accounts payable
	$
	2,160
	
	$
	9,563
	

	Accrued expenses
	
	6,262
	
	
	10,526
	

	Accrued compensation and benefits
	
	19,129
	
	
	15,246
	

	Deferred revenue, current portion
	
	27,782
	
	
	33,429
	

	Lease liabilities and financing obligations, current portion
	
	5,959
	
	
	6,871
	

	Total current liabilities
	
	61,292
	
	
	75,635
	

	Deferred revenue, net of current portion
	
	4,422
	
	
	5,079
	

	Convertible senior notes
	
	184,308
	
	
	187,949
	

	Lease liabilities and financing obligations, net of current portion
	
	79,282
	
	
	88,572
	

	Other non-current liabilities
	
	2,470
	
	
	92
	

	Total liabilities
	
	331,774
	
	
	357,327
	

	Commitments and contingencies
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Redeemable preferred stock:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Series A preferred stock, par value $0.001, 5,000,000 shares
	
	
	
	
	
	

	authorized, 1,777,778 and 0 shares issued and outstanding
	
	
	
	
	
	

	at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively,
	
	
	
	
	
	

	liquidation preference $45 per share as of December 31, 2020
	
	79,193
	
	
	–

	Stockholders' deficit:
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Common stock, par value $0.001, 50,000,000 shares authorized,
	
	
	
	
	
	

	32,327,439 and 32,788,980 shares issued and outstanding
	
	
	
	
	
	

	at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively
	
	32
	
	
	33
	

	Additional paid-in capital
	
	427,431
	
	
	426,025
	

	Accumulated deficit
	
	(476,058)
	
	(451,702)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total stockholders' deficit
	
	(48,595)
	
	(25,644)

	Total liabilities, redeemable preferred stock and stockholders' deficit
	$
	362,372
	
	$
	331,683
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	



The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BENEFITFOCUS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

	
	
	
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	
	2018
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Revenue
	$
	268,141
	
	$
	295,686
	
	$
	258,721
	

	Cost of revenue
	
	
	129,388
	
	
	
	
	144,090
	
	
	
	129,277
	

	Gross profit
	
	
	138,753
	
	
	
	
	151,596
	
	
	
	129,444
	

	Operating expenses:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Sales and marketing
	
	
	52,210
	
	
	
	
	76,049
	
	
	
	78,179
	

	Research and development
	
	
	46,175
	
	
	
	
	54,724
	
	
	
	47,902
	

	General and administrative
	
	
	37,720
	
	
	
	
	45,329
	
	
	
	43,062
	

	Restructuring expense
	
	
	5,616
	
	
	
	
	–
	
	
	–

	Total operating expenses
	
	
	141,721
	
	
	
	
	176,102
	
	
	
	169,143
	

	Loss from operations
	
	
	(2,968)
	
	
	
	(24,506)
	
	
	(39,699)

	Other income (expense):
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Interest income
	
	
	632
	
	
	
	
	2,613
	
	
	
	250
	

	Interest expense
	
	
	(23,071)
	
	
	
	(23,524)
	
	
	(13,156)

	Gain on repurchase of convertible senior notes
	
	
	1,138
	
	
	
	
	–
	
	
	–

	Other (expense) income
	
	
	(6)
	
	
	
	(71)
	
	
	6
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total other expense, net
	
	
	(21,307)
	
	
	
	(20,982)
	
	
	(12,900)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Loss before income taxes
	
	
	(24,275)
	
	
	
	(45,488)
	
	
	(52,599)

	Income tax expense
	
	
	22
	
	
	
	
	27
	
	
	
	28
	

	Net loss
	
	
	(24,297)
	
	
	
	(45,515)
	
	
	(52,627)

	Preferred dividends
	
	
	(3,662)
	
	
	
	–
	
	
	–

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net loss available to common stockholders
	$
	(27,959)
	$
	(45,515)
	$
	(52,627)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Comprehensive loss
	$
	(24,297)
	$
	(45,515)
	$
	(52,627)

	Net loss per common share:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Basic and diluted
	$
	(0.87)
	$
	(1.40)
	$
	(1.66)

	Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Basic and diluted
	
	
	32,318,201
	
	
	
	
	32,539,748
	
	
	
	31,756,415
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BENEFITFOCUS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

	
	Common Stock,
	
	
	
	
	Additional
	
	
	
	
	
	Total

	
	$0.001 Par Value
	
	
	
	
	Paid-in
	
	
	Accumulated
	Stockholders'

	
	Shares
	
	
	Par Value
	
	
	
	
	Capital
	
	
	
	Deficit
	
	
	Deficit
	

	Balance, December 31, 2017
	31,307,989
	
	$
	31
	
	$
	352,496
	
	$
	(361,246)
	$
	(8,719)

	Exercise of stock options
	29,908
	
	
	
	–
	
	
	186
	
	$
	–
	
	186
	

	Issuance of common stock upon
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	vesting of restricted stock units
	663,419
	
	
	
	1
	
	
	
	(1)
	
	
	–
	
	–

	Issuance of common stock under ESPP
	16,457
	
	
	
	–
	
	
	526
	
	
	
	–
	
	526
	

	Purchase of convertible note capped call hedge
	–
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(33,024)
	
	
	
	
	
	(33,024)

	Equity component of convertible notes
	–
	
	
	
	
	
	
	56,950
	
	
	
	
	
	
	56,950
	

	Stock-based compensation expense
	–
	
	
	–
	
	
	26,498
	
	
	
	–
	
	26,498
	

	Net loss
	–
	
	
	
	–
	
	
	
	–
	
	
	
	(52,627)
	
	(52,627)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Balance, December 31, 2018
	32,017,773
	
	$
	32
	
	$
	403,631
	
	$
	(413,873)
	$
	(10,210)

	Cumulative effect adjustment from
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	adoption of new accounting standard
	–
	
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	
	7,686
	
	
	7,686
	

	Exercise of stock options
	24,800
	
	
	
	–
	
	
	134
	
	
	
	–
	
	134
	

	Issuance of common stock upon
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	vesting of restricted stock units
	732,738
	
	
	
	1
	
	
	
	(1)
	
	
	–
	
	–

	Issuance of common stock under ESPP
	13,669
	
	
	
	–
	
	
	319
	
	
	
	–
	
	319
	

	Stock-based compensation expense
	–
	
	
	–
	
	
	21,942
	
	
	
	–
	
	21,942
	

	Net loss
	–
	
	
	
	–
	
	
	
	–
	
	
	
	(45,515)
	
	(45,515)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Balance, December 31, 2019
	32,788,980
	
	$
	33
	
	$
	426,025
	
	$
	(451,702)
	$
	(25,644)

	Cumulative effect adjustment from
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	adoption of new accounting standard
	–
	
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	
	(59)
	
	(59)

	Exercise of stock options
	62,519
	
	
	
	–
	
	
	433
	
	
	
	–
	
	433
	

	Issuance of common stock upon
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	vesting of restricted stock units
	572,630
	
	
	
	–
	
	
	(1)
	
	
	–
	
	(1)

	Issuance of common stock under ESPP
	13,134
	
	
	
	–
	
	
	151
	
	
	
	–
	
	151
	

	Cancellation of convertible senior note capped call
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	hedge
	(3,651)
	
	
	–
	
	
	26
	
	
	
	–
	
	26
	

	Equity component of repurchased convertible senior
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	notes
	–
	
	
	–
	
	
	(412)
	
	
	–
	
	(412)

	Stock-based compensation expense
	–
	
	
	–
	
	
	14,537
	
	
	
	–
	
	14,537
	

	Common stock repurchased
	(1,106,173)
	
	
	(1)
	
	
	(9,666)
	
	
	–
	
	(9,667)

	Preferred dividends
	–
	
	
	–
	
	
	(3,662)
	
	
	–
	
	(3,662)

	Net loss
	–
	
	
	
	–
	
	
	
	–
	
	
	
	(24,297)
	
	(24,297)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Balance, December 31, 2020
	32,327,439
	
	$
	32
	
	$
	427,431
	
	$
	(476,058)
	$
	(48,595)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.



F-6
[image: ]

BENEFITFOCUS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

	
	
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	2018
	
	

	Cash flows from operating activities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net loss
	$
	(24,297)
	$
	(45,515)
	$
	(52,627)
	

	Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash and cash equivalents
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	used in operating activities:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Depreciation and amortization
	
	
	25,014
	
	
	
	22,351
	
	
	15,815
	
	

	Stock-based compensation expense
	
	
	14,537
	
	
	
	19,572
	
	
	28,868
	
	

	Accretion of interest on convertible senior notes
	
	
	11,656
	
	
	
	11,256
	
	
	–
	

	Interest accrual on finance lease liabilities
	
	
	97
	
	
	
	33
	
	
	–
	

	Interest accrual on financing obligations (prior to adoption of ASC 842)
	
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	7,521
	
	

	Rent payments in excess of expense
	
	
	(32)
	
	
	(16)
	
	–
	

	Non-cash interest income for short-term investments
	
	
	143
	
	
	
	–
	
	–
	

	Loss on disposal or impairment of property and equipment
	
	
	918
	
	
	
	9
	
	
	7
	
	

	Gain on extinguishment of debt
	
	
	(1,138)
	
	
	–
	
	–
	

	Provision for doubtful accounts
	
	
	43
	
	
	
	111
	
	
	364
	
	

	Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Accounts receivable, net
	
	
	11,412
	
	
	
	(11,875)
	
	8,650
	
	

	Accrued interest on short-term investments
	
	
	(102)
	
	
	–
	
	–
	

	Contract, prepaid and other current assets
	
	
	169
	
	
	
	(3,642)
	
	(570)
	

	Deferred costs and other non-current assets
	
	
	743
	
	
	
	2,893
	
	
	3,137
	
	

	Accounts payable and accrued expenses
	
	
	(11,468)
	
	
	426
	
	
	6,566
	
	

	Accrued compensation and benefits
	
	
	3,884
	
	
	
	161
	
	
	649
	
	

	Deferred revenue
	
	
	(6,304)
	
	
	(14,047)
	
	(9,165)
	

	Other non-current liabilities
	
	
	2,376
	
	
	
	(92)
	
	(234)
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in) operating activities
	
	
	27,651
	
	
	
	(18,375)
	
	8,981
	
	

	Cash flows from investing activities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Purchases of short-term investments held to maturity
	
	
	(104,125)
	
	
	–
	
	–
	

	Proceeds from short-term investments held to maturity
	
	
	9,000
	
	
	
	–
	
	–
	

	Business combination, net of cash acquired
	
	
	–
	
	
	(20,914)
	
	–
	

	Purchases of property and equipment
	
	
	(13,085)
	
	
	(13,248)
	
	(8,290)
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net cash and cash equivalents used in investing activities
	
	
	(108,210)
	
	
	(34,162)
	
	(8,290)
	

	Cash flows from financing activities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Draws on revolving line of credit
	
	
	10,000
	
	
	
	–
	
	115,000
	
	

	Payments on revolving line of credit
	
	
	(10,000)
	
	
	–
	
	(171,246)
	

	Proceeds from issuance of convertible senior notes
	
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	240,000
	
	

	Repurchase of convertible senior notes
	
	
	(14,619)
	
	
	–
	
	–
	

	Payments of debt issuance costs
	
	
	(154)
	
	
	(357)
	
	(6,000)
	

	Purchase of convertible note capped call hedge
	
	
	–
	
	
	–
	
	(33,024)
	

	Cancellation of convertible note capped call hedge
	
	
	26
	
	
	
	–
	
	–
	

	Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, net of issuance costs
	
	
	79,192
	
	
	
	–
	
	–
	

	Payment of preferred dividends
	
	
	(3,662)
	
	
	–
	
	–
	

	Repurchase of common stock
	
	
	(9,667)
	
	
	–
	
	–
	

	Proceeds from exercises of stock options and ESPP
	
	
	585
	
	
	
	453
	
	
	712
	
	

	Payments on capital lease and financing obligations
	
	
	(1,212)
	
	
	(1,627)
	
	(10,540)
	

	Payments of principal on finance lease liabilities
	
	
	(10,200)
	
	
	(5,884)
	
	–
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in) financing activities
	
	
	40,289
	
	
	
	(7,415)
	
	134,902
	
	

	Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	(40,270)
	
	
	(59,952)
	
	135,593
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
	
	
	130,976
	
	
	
	190,928
	
	
	55,335
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
	$
	90,706
	
	$
	130,976
	
	$
	190,928
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Property and equipment purchases in accounts
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	payable and accrued expenses
	$
	142
	
	$
	154
	
	$
	244
	
	

	Property and equipment purchased with financing
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	and capital lease obligations (prior to adoption of ASC 842)
	$
	-
	
	$
	-
	
	$
	4,810
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Post contract support purchased with financing obligations
	$
	-
	
	$
	1,287
	
	$
	790
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Debt issuance costs included in accounts payable and accrued expenses
	$
	-
	
	$
	-
	
	$
	358
	
	

	Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
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	Income taxes paid
	$
	22
	$
	28
	
	$
	28
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Interest paid
	$
	11,408
	$
	12,374
	
	$
	11,884
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BENEFITFOCUS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(thousands, except share and per share data)

1. Organization and Description of Business

Benefitfocus, Inc. (the “Company”) provides a leading cloud-based benefits management platform for consumers, employers, health plans (also known as insurance carriers) and brokers that is designed to simplify how organizations and individuals transact benefits. The financial statements of the Company include the financial position and operations of its wholly owned subsidiaries, Benefitfocus.com, Inc. and BenefitStore, Inc.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies Principles of Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company is not the primary beneficiary of, nor does it have a controlling financial interest in, any variable interest entity. Accordingly, the Company has not consolidated any variable interest entity.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Such estimates include allowances for doubtful accounts and returns, valuations of deferred income taxes, long-lived assets, capitalizable software development costs and the related amortization, incremental borrowing rate used in lease accounting, the determination of the useful lives of assets, and the impairment assessment of acquired intangibles and goodwill. Additionally as described in revenue and deferred revenue below, estimates are utilized in association with revenue recognition, in particular the estimation of variable consideration using the expected value method from insurance broker commissions reported in Platform revenue. Determination of these transactions and account balances are based on, among other things, the Company’s estimates and judgments. These estimates are based on the Company’s knowledge of current events and actions it may undertake in the future as well as on various other assumptions that it believes to be reasonable. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.

Restructuring Costs

On April 28, 2020, the Company announced a restructuring plan to contain costs and further strengthen its liquidity profile in response to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. This plan resulted in a reduction in the Company’s U.S. workforce of approximately 17%. The Company recorded restructuring costs of $5,616 in the second quarter of 2020 from one-time severance charges, continuation of health benefits and outplacement services. Restructuring costs are presented separately in operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The plan was implemented and completed in the second quarter of 2020.

Revenue and Deferred Revenue

The Company derives its revenue primarily from fees for subscription services and professional services sold to employers and insurance carriers as well as platform revenue derived from the value of products sold on our platform. Revenue is recognized when control of these services is transferred to customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services. Taxes collected from customers relating to services and remitted to governmental authorities are excluded from revenue.

The Company determines revenue recognition through the following steps:
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· Identification of each contract with a customer;

· Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

· Determination of the transaction price;

· Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

· Recognition of revenue when, or as, performance obligations are satisfied.

Software Services Revenue

Software services revenue consists of subscription revenue and platform revenue.

Subscription Revenue

Subscription revenue primarily consists of monthly subscription fees paid to the Company by its employer and insurance carrier customers for access to, and usage of, cloud-based benefits software solutions for a specified contract term. Fees are generally charged based on the number of employees or subscribers with access to the solution.

Subscription services revenue is generally recognized on a ratable basis over the contract term beginning on the date the subscription services are made available to the customer. The Company’s subscription service contracts are generally three years.

Subscription revenue also includes fees paid for other services, such as event sponsorships and certain data services. Platform Revenue

Platform revenue is generated from the value of policies or products enrolled in through the Company’s marketplace. Platform revenue from carriers is generally recognized over the policy period of the enrolled products. In arrangements where the Company sells policies to employees of its customers as the broker, it earns broker commissions. Revenue from insurance broker commissions and supplier transactions is recognized at a point in time when the orders for the policies are received and transferred to the insurance carrier or supplier, and is reduced by constraints for variable consideration associated with collectability, policy cancellation and termination risks.

Professional Services Revenue

Professional services revenue primarily consists of fees related to the implementation of software products purchased by customers. Professional services typically include discovery, configuration and deployment, integration, testing, and training. Fees from consulting services and support services are also included in professional services revenue.

The Company determined that implementation services for certain of its insurance carrier customers significantly modify or customize the software solution and, as such, do not represent a distinct performance obligation. Accordingly, revenue from such implementation services with these insurance carrier customers are generally recognized over the contract term of the associated subscription services contract, including any extension periods representing a material right. In certain arrangements, the Company utilizes estimates of hours as a measure of progress to determine revenue.

Revenue from implementation services with employer customers is generally recognized as those services are performed.

Revenue from support and training fees is recognized over the service period.

Contracts with Multiple Performance Obligations

Certain of the Company’s contracts with customers contain multiple performance obligations. For these contracts, the individual performance obligations are accounted for separately if they are distinct. The Company allocates the transaction price to the separate performance obligations based on their relative standalone selling prices. The Company determines the standalone selling prices based on its overall pricing objectives, taking into consideration market conditions and other factors, including the value of its contracts, the subscription services sold, customer size and complexity, and the number and types of users under the contracts.
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Contract Costs

The Company capitalizes costs to obtain contracts that are considered incremental and recoverable, such as sales
commissions. Payments of sales commissions generally include multiple payments. The Company capitalizes only those payments made
within an insignificant time from the contract inception, typically three months or less. Subsequent payments are expensed as incurred. The
capitalized costs are amortized to sales and marketing expense over the estimated period of benefit of the asset, which is generally four to
five years. The Company expenses the costs to obtain a contract when the amortization period is less than one year. Deferred costs related
to obtaining contracts are included in deferred contract costs and other non-current assets.

The Company capitalizes contract fulfillment costs directly associated with customer contracts that are not related to satisfying performance obligations. The costs are amortized to cost of revenue over the estimated period of benefit, which is generally five years. Deferred fulfillment costs are included in deferred contract costs and other non-current assets.

The following tables present information about deferred contract costs:

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	As of December 31,
	
	

	Balance of deferred contract costs
	
	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	
	
	2019
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Costs to obtain contracts
	
	
	
	$
	
	
	5,624
	$
	
	
	6,676
	

	Costs to fulfill contracts
	
	
	$
	
	
	3,639
	$
	
	
	3,112
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Year ended December 31,
	
	

	Amortization of deferred contract costs
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	
	
	2018
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Costs to obtain contracts included in sales and marketing
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	expense
	$
	3,275
	$
	3,662
	
	$
	4,217
	

	Costs to fulfill contracts included in cost of revenue
	$
	1,285
	$
	2,790
	
	$
	3,480
	




Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of employee compensation, professional services, data center co-location costs, networking expenses, depreciation expense for computer equipment directly associated with generating revenue, amortization expense for capitalized software development costs, and infrastructure maintenance costs. In addition, the Company allocates a portion of overhead, such as facilities and security costs, additional depreciation and amortization expense, and employee benefit costs, to cost of revenue based on headcount.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of bank checking accounts and money market accounts. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities consist of short-term investments in corporate bonds, commercial paper, and U.S. Treasury and agency bonds. To reflect its intention, the Company classifies its marketable securities as held-to-maturity at the time of purchase. As a result, the marketable securities are recorded at amortized cost and any gains or losses realized upon maturity are reported in other expense, net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Debt securities classified as held-to-maturity are subject to the expected credit loss model prescribed under Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses of Financial Instruments”. The Company utilizes a lifetime expected credit loss measurement objective for the recognition of credit losses for held-to-maturity securities at the time the financial asset is originated or acquired. The Company measures expected credit losses on its held-to-maturity portfolio on a collective basis by major security type. The expected
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credit losses are adjusted each period for changes in expected lifetime credit losses. The Company’s credit loss calculations for held-to-maturity securities are based upon historical default and recovery rates of bonds rated with the same rating as its portfolio. An adjustment factor is applied to these credit loss calculations based upon the Company’s assessment of the expected impact from current economic conditions on its investments. The Company monitors the credit quality of debt securities classified as held-to-maturity through the use of their respective credit rating and updates them on a quarterly basis. The allowance for credit losses is discussed in Note 6.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents, marketable securities, and accounts receivable. All of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents are held at financial institutions that management believes to be of high credit quality. The bank deposits of the Company might, at times, exceed federally insured limits and are generally uninsured and uncollateralized. The Company has not experienced any losses on cash and cash equivalents to date.

To manage credit risk related to marketable securities, the Company invests in various types of highly rated corporate bonds, commercial paper, and various U.S. backed securities with maturities of less than two years. The weighted average maturity of the portfolio of investments must not exceed nine months, per the Company’s investment policy

To manage accounts receivable risk, the Company evaluates the creditworthiness of its customers and maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts. Accounts receivable are unsecured and derived from revenue earned from customers located in the United States. No customer exceeded 10% of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. One customer represented approximately 13% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018. No customer exceeded 10% of accounts receivable as of December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2019, one customer represented approximately 11% of total accounts receivable.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Historically, the Company used an incurred loss model to calculate its allowance for doubtful accounts. Upon the adoption of ASU No. 2016-13, “Financial Instruments – Credit Losses” (Topic 326) on January 1, 2020, the Company shifted to a current expected credit loss model. Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts are discussed in Note 7.

Property and Equipment and Capitalized Software Development Costs

Property and equipment, including capitalized software development costs, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Expenditures for major additions and improvements are capitalized. Depreciation and amortization are recognized over the estimated useful lives of the related assets using the straight-line method.

The estimated useful lives for significant property and equipment categories are generally as follows:

	Buildings, leased (prior to adoption of ASC 842)
	30 years

	Developed software
	3 years

	Computers and related equipment
	3-5 years

	Purchased software and licenses
	1-7 years

	Leasehold improvements
	Lesser of estimated useful life of asset or lease term

	Furniture and fixtures
	7 years

	Other equipment
	5-12 years

	Vehicles
	5 years
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Useful lives of significant assets are periodically reviewed and adjusted prospectively to reflect the Company’s current estimates of the respective assets’ expected utility. Costs associated with maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred.

The Company capitalizes certain costs related to its software developed or obtained for internal use. Costs related to preliminary project activities and post-implementation activities are expensed as incurred. Internal and external costs incurred during the application development stage, including upgrades and enhancements representing modifications that will result in significant additional functionality, are capitalized. Software maintenance and training costs are expensed as incurred. Capitalized costs are recorded as part of property and equipment and are amortized on a straight-line basis to cost of revenue over the software’s estimated useful life, which is three years. The Company evaluates these assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances occur that could impact the recoverability of these assets.

Identifiable Intangible Assets

Identifiable intangible assets with finite lives are recorded at their fair values at the date of acquisition and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their respective estimated useful lives, which is the period over which the asset is expected to contribute directly or indirectly to future cash flows.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets and definite-lived intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset might not be recoverable. Recoverability of the long-lived asset is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset or asset group to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated. If such assets are not recoverable, the impairment to be recognized, if any, is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the estimated fair value (discounted cash flow) of the assets or asset group. Assets held for sale are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value, less costs to sell. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, management believes that the carrying amount of all long-lived assets are recoverable and has not identified any assets as being for sale.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of consideration transferred in a business combination over the fair value of assets acquired, net of liabilities assumed. The Company recorded goodwill in connection with its business combinations. Goodwill is not amortized, but is subject to an annual impairment test, as described below.

The Company performs a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value before testing goodwill for impairment for each reporting unit. The reporting units are determined by the components of the Company’s operating segments that constitute a business for which both (1) discrete financial information is available and

(2) segment management regularly reviews the operating results of that component. If it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, the Company performs the impairment test by applying a fair-value-based test. The Company compares the fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying value. If the carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit exceeds the fair value of our reporting unit, an impairment loss is recorded equal to the difference.

The Company has one reporting unit. To determine the fair value of the Company’s reporting unit, the Company has used its market capitalization. The Company may also determine fair value using discounted cash flow analysis, which requires significant assumptions and estimates about future operations. Significant judgments inherent in this analysis include the determination of an appropriate discount rate, estimated terminal value and the amount and timing of expected future cash flows.

The Company performs its annual goodwill impairment analysis as of October 31 of each year, or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value.
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Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs related to the convertible senior note financing have been recorded as a reduction of the carrying amount of the debt and are amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method.

Debt issuance costs related to the revolving line of credit have been recorded in other non-current assets and are amortized to interest expense over the remaining life of the agreement.

Leases (after adoption of ASC 842)

The Company periodically enters into finance leases for property and equipment. The leasing arrangements for the Company’s office space at its headquarters campus are classified as finance leases. The Company also leases office space under operating leases.

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Right of use, or ROU, assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term. Lease liabilities represent an obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Leases with a term of 12 months or less are not included in the recognized ROU assets and lease liabilities for all classes of assets.

ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. Because the Company’s operating leases do not provide an implicit interest rate, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on information available at commencement date to determine the present value of lease payments. The ROU asset also consists of any prepaid lease payments, lease incentives, or initial direct costs. The lease terms used to calculate the ROU asset and related lease liability include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option.

Lease expense for operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term as an operating expense while the expense for finance leases is recognized as depreciation expense and interest expense. The Company has lease agreements which require payments for lease and non-lease components (e.g. common area maintenance and equipment maintenance) that are accounted for as a single lease component. Variable lease payment amounts that cannot be determined at the commencement of the lease, such as maintenance costs based on future obligations, are not included in the ROU assets or liabilities. These are expensed as incurred and recorded as variable lease expense.

Financing Obligations

Financing obligations include liabilities for the purchase of software licenses and support.

Prior to the adoption of ASC 842 on January 1, 2019, in its build-to-suit lease arrangements where the Company is involved in the construction of its buildings, the Company is deemed the owner for accounting purposes during the construction period. The Company records an asset for the amount of the total project costs in property and equipment, net and the related financing obligation in Lease Liabilities and Financing obligations on the consolidated balance sheets. Once construction is complete, the Company determines if the asset qualifies for sale-leaseback accounting treatment. If the arrangement does not qualify for sale-lease back treatment, the Company continues to reduce the obligation over the lease term as payments are made and depreciates the asset over its useful life. The Company does not report rent expense for the portion of the rent payment determined to be related to the assets that it owns for accounting purposes. Rather, this portion of the rent payment under the lease is recognized as a reduction of the financing obligation and as interest expense.

Advertising

The Company expenses advertising costs as they are incurred. Direct advertising costs for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 were $308, $332 and $391, respectively.

Comprehensive Loss

The Company’s net loss equals comprehensive loss for all periods presented.
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Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation awards, which include stock options and RSUs, based on the fair value of the award as of the grant date. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense over the period during which the award holder is required to perform services in exchange for the award, which is the vesting period. Compensation expense related to RSUs and stock options is recognized over the vesting period of the applicable award using the straight-line method. Compensation expense related to performance-based restricted stock units, which are accounted for as equity awards, is recognized on an accelerated attribution basis (graded vesting) when it is probable that the performance measure will be met.

Compensation costs related to RSUs is based on the market price on the grant date. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model for estimating the fair value of stock options. The use of the option valuation model requires the input of subjective assumptions, including the expected life of the option and the expected stock price volatility. The Company recognizes the effect of forfeitures as they occur. The recognition of stock-based compensation expense associated with performance-based restricted stock units requires the estimation of the probability of achieving performance measures.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method for income tax accounting. This method requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities, as well as for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates that are expected to apply to taxable income for the years in which those tax assets and liabilities are expected to be realized or settled. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount the Company believes is more likely than not to be realized. The tax benefits of uncertain tax positions are recognized only when the Company believes it is more likely than not that the tax position will be upheld on examination by the taxing authorities based on the merits of the position. The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized income tax benefits in income tax expense. Income tax effects related to settlements of share-based payment awards are reported in earnings as an increase or decrease to income tax expense (benefit), net. Additionally, income tax-related cash flows resulting from share-based payments are reported as operating activities in the statement of cash flows.

Basic and Diluted Net Loss per Common Share

Basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per share is computed by giving effect to all potential shares of common stock, including outstanding stock options, outstanding warrants, common stock related to unvested restricted stock units and convertible senior notes to the extent dilutive, common stock related to the conversion of preferred stock to the extent dilutive, and common stock issuable pursuant to the ESPP. Basic and diluted net loss per share was the same for each period presented, as the inclusion of all potential common shares outstanding would have been anti-dilutive.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

Financial instruments

On January 1, 2020, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-13. The purpose of this ASU is to require a financial asset measured at amortized cost basis to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected. On adoption, the Company recorded an immaterial cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings in connection with expected credit losses on its trade receivables.

Fair Value Measurement

On January 1, 2020, the Company adopted ASU No. 2018-13, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement”. The ASU modifies the disclosure requirements required for fair value measurements. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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Leases

On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)”, codified as ASC 842. The amendments in this update require lessees, among other things, to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for those leases classified as operating leases under previous authoritative guidance. ASC 842 introduces new disclosure requirements for leasing arrangements. The Company adopted this update using the modified retrospective transition method at the beginning of the period of adoption. Accordingly, the Company did not adjust prior period financial statements, and recognized a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated deficit in 2019 in the amount of $7,686. The Company utilized the following additional significant policy elections:

· Elected the package of three transition practical expedients to not reassess: o whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain a lease; o the classification of any expired or existing leases; and
o   the treatment of initial direct costs.

· Adopted a policy to not separate lease and associated nonlease components for all classes of assets. The Company applied this policy to all existing leases on transition as well as new leases going forward.

· Adopted a policy to not include leases with a term of 12 months or less in the recognized ROU assets and lease liabilities for all classes of assets.

The adoption of this standard had a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements as follows:

· Net assets of $21,019 and related financing obligations and other noncurrent liabilities of $34,909 for existing build-to-suit lease arrangements were derecognized. These leases were transitioned to the new standard based on an analysis of the lease balances as of the transition date as if they had been leases under ASC 840. Based on this analysis, the land component of these leases was combined with the remainder of the lease obligations. Historically, these obligations were accounted for separately and recognized as part of facilities expense and allocated to cost of revenue and operating expenses. Amounts recognized included $56,422 of net ROU assets, $2,848 of net leasehold improvements, and $63,952 of total finance lease liabilities. The net cumulative adjustment to accumulated deficit to derecognize and transition these leases was $7,686.

· Finance lease liabilities and ROU assets of $3,589 were recorded related to payment obligations for nonlease components (e.g. common area maintenance and equipment maintenance) associated with existing capital leases.

· Operating lease liabilities and ROU assets of $1,169 were recorded related to existing operating lease obligations.

Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, “Debt - Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging - Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40)”. The update simplifies the accounting for convertible debt instruments and convertible preferred stock by reducing the number of accounting models and the number of embedded conversion features that could be recognized separately from the primary contract. This ASU also enhances transparency and improves disclosures for convertible instruments and earnings per share guidance. It is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. This update permits the use of either the modified retrospective or fully retrospective method of transition. The Company is currently evaluating the timing and impact of the adoption of ASU 2020-06 on the Company's consolidated financial statements, but anticipates that it will result in a reduction in non-cash interest expense related to the Convertible Senior Notes.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes”. ASU No. 2019-12 is intended to simplify various aspects related to
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accounting for income taxes, eliminates certain exceptions to the general principles in ASC Topic 740 related to intra-period tax allocation, simplifies when companies recognize deferred taxes in an interim period, and clarifies certain aspects of the current guidance to promote consistent application. This ASU is effective for the Company for the interim and annual reporting periods starting January 1, 2021. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the potential effects of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

3. Business Combination

On February 25, 2019, the Company purchased certain operating assets and liabilities, intellectual property and intangible assets,
including the workforce in place, of the commercial business of Connecture, Inc., for $20,914 ($24,000 before working capital
adjustments). This acquisition added technology to potentially strengthen the Company’s platform, expand its customer reach, and enhance

the value the Company delivers to its carrier customers.

The following table summarizes the fair value of the consideration paid and the amounts of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed recognized at the acquisition date:

	Consideration Transferred
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash
	
	$
	19,914
	
	

	Contingent consideration arrangement
	
	
	1,000
	
	

	Fair value of total consideration transferred
	$
	20,914
	
	

	Recognized Amounts of Identifiable Assets Acquired and Liabilities
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Assumed
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Accounts receivable, net
	$
	912
	
	

	Contract, prepaid and other current assets
	
	
	611
	
	

	Property and equipment, net
	
	
	198
	
	

	Operating lease right-of-use assets
	
	
	1,107
	
	

	Intangible assets, net
	
	
	14,600
	
	

	Deferred contract costs and other non-current assets
	
	
	250
	
	

	Accrued expenses
	
	
	(2)
	

	Accrued compensation and benefits
	
	
	(186)
	

	Deferred revenue, current portion
	
	
	(6,692)
	

	Operating lease ROU liabilities, current portion
	
	
	(84)
	

	Operating lease ROU liabilities, net of current portion
	
	
	(1,023)
	

	Total identifiable net assets
	
	
	9,691
	
	

	Goodwill
	
	
	11,223
	
	

	Total identifiable net assets and goodwill
	$
	20,914
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



The goodwill of $11,223 arising from the acquisition consists largely of the value of the acquired organized workforce as well as economies of scale. The Company expects all of the goodwill recognized to be deductible for income tax purposes after satisfying performance obligations for certain customers.

The identifiable intangible assets acquired have a weighted average amortization period of 6.5 years and include developed technology, customer relationships, and trade name. The Company did not acquire any contingent liabilities as part of the transaction.

The cash transferred included $1,000 in contingent consideration placed into a third-party escrow to be released to Connecture as required contractual consents to the assignment of service arrangements are obtained from specified customers. As of December 31, 2019, all of these escrow funds had been released to Connecture.

The Company incurred $450 in costs related to completing the acquisition, all of which were recognized in general and administrative expense during the year ended December 31, 2019.
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Revenue recognized by the Company related to the operations of the acquired business were $23,855 for the year ended December 31, 2019. During the third quarter of 2019, the Company had integrated the acquired assets and workforce into its operations, which decreased the Company’s ability to identify incremental costs associated with the acquired business. Identifiable expenses associated with the acquired business were $20,219 for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Coincident with the acquisition, the Company entered into two additional agreements with Connecture each of which are accounted for separately at contracted prices as described below:

· Transition Services Agreement where each party provides certain transition services to the other for a 12-month period to facilitate an orderly transition of the acquired business. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized operating expense of $0 and $559, respectively, related to this agreement.

· An agreement for the Company to provide interim services to Connecture as a subcontractor under a master services agreement maintained by Connecture that includes service commitments related to both the acquired business and Connecture’s retained business while the parties work together with the customer to legally separate the contract. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized revenue of $1,155 and $979, respectively, related to this agreement.

Supplemental pro forma revenue and earnings information are not presented because historical records for the acquired business are not available. Therefore, determining the amount of revenue and earnings of the combined entity as though the business combination had occurred as of the beginning of the comparable periods would require significant estimates of amounts that the Company cannot independently substantiate. The Company estimates that the difference between pro forma information compared to reported results would not be significant.

4. Net Loss Per Common Share

Diluted loss per common share is the same as basic loss per common share for all periods presented because the effects of potentially dilutive items were anti-dilutive given the Company’s net loss. The following common share equivalent securities have been excluded from the calculation of weighted-average common shares outstanding because the effect is anti-dilutive for the periods presented:

	Anti-Dilutive Common Share Equivalents
	
	Year Ended December 31,
	
	
	

	
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	
	2018
	
	

	Restricted stock units
	2,590,877
	
	1,970,555
	
	
	2,174,250
	
	

	Stock options
	121,928
	
	206,447
	
	
	233,247
	
	

	Convertible senior notes
	4,161,182
	
	4,513,824
	
	
	4,513,824
	
	

	Conversion of preferred stock
	5,333,334
	
	-
	
	
	-
	
	

	Total anti-dilutive common share equivalents
	12,207,321
	
	6,690,826
	
	
	6,921,321
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



Basic and diluted net loss per common share is calculated as follows:

	
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,
	
	

	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	
	2018
	

	Numerator:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net loss
	$
	(24,297)
	$
	(45,515)
	$
	(52,627)

	Preferred dividends
	
	
	(3,662)
	
	
	-
	
	
	
	-
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net loss attributable to common stockholders
	$
	(27,959)
	$
	(45,515)
	$
	(52,627)

	Denominator:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Weighted-average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted
	
	
	32,318,201
	
	
	
	32,539,748
	
	
	
	31,756,415
	

	Net loss per common share, basic and diluted
	$
	(0.87)
	$
	(1.40)
	$
	(1.66)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



5. Fair Value Measurement

The carrying amounts of certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, net accounts receivable, accounts payable and other accrued liabilities, and accrued
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compensation and benefits, approximate fair value due to their short-term nature. The carrying value of the Company’s financing obligations and revolving line of credit approximates fair value, considering the borrowing rates currently available to the Company for financing obligations with similar terms and credit risks.

The Company uses a three-tier fair value hierarchy to classify and disclose all assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, as well as assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis, in periods subsequent to their initial measurement. The hierarchy requires the Company to use observable inputs when available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when determining fair value. The three tiers are defined as follows:

Level 1. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2. Other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.

Level 3. Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data, which require the Company to develop its own assumptions.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The Company evaluates its financial assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements on a recurring basis to determine the appropriate level to classify them for each reporting period. This determination requires significant judgments to be made.

The following tables present information about the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis using the above categories, as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.
	Description
	
	
	
	
	
	December 31, 2020
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	Level 1
	
	
	Level 2
	
	Level 3
	
	
	
	Total
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash Equivalents:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Money market mutual funds (1)
	$
	87,224
	$
	-
	$
	-
	$
	87,224
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total assets
	$
	87,224
	$
	-
	$
	-
	$
	87,224
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Description
	
	
	
	
	
	December 31, 2019
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	Level 1
	
	
	Level 2
	
	Level 3
	
	
	
	Total
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash Equivalents:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Money market mutual funds (1)
	$
	124,503
	$
	-
	$
	-
	$
	124,503
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total assets
	$
	124,503
	$
	-
	$
	-
	$
	124,503
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(1) Money market mutual funds are classified as cash equivalents in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. As short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash, with remaining maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase, the Company’s cash equivalent money market funds have carrying values that approximate fair value.

6. Marketable Securities

Marketable securities consist of corporate bonds, commercial paper and U.S. Treasury and agency bonds, and are classified as held-to-maturity. All marketable securities had contractual maturities of less than one year as of December 31, 2020. The following presents information about the Company’s marketable securities by major security type as of December 31, 2020. There were no marketable securities as of December 31, 2019.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	As of December 31, 2020
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Allowance
	
	
	
	
	
	Gross
	
	
	
	Gross
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	Amortized
	
	for credit
	
	
	Net carrying
	
	unrealized
	
	
	
	unrealized
	
	
	
	

	Sector
	
	
	cost
	
	losses
	
	
	
	amount
	
	gains
	
	
	
	losses
	
	
	Fair value

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Industrial
	$
	8,993
	
	
	$
	8,993
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	$
	8,993
	

	Financial
	
	
	55,943
	
	
	
	
	
	55,943
	
	
	
	
	
	(5)
	
	
	55,938
	

	Government
	
	
	30,149
	
	
	
	
	
	30,149
	
	
	6
	
	
	
	
	
	
	30,155
	

	Total
	$
	95,085
	$
	-   $
	95,085
	$
	6
	$
	(5)
	$
	95,086
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The fair value of marketable securities in the Government major security type is classified as a Level 1 in the Company’s fair value hierarchy described in Note 5. The fair values of the remaining major security types are classified as Level 2.

The Company invests in highly rated securities with maturities of two years or less at the time of purchase. Given the credit quality of the financial assets and the historical loss experience associated their respective credit ratings as well as the duration of these financial assets and the short time horizon over which to consider expectations of future economic conditions, the Company has assessed that non-collection of the cost basis of these financial assets is remote.


7. Accounts Receivable, net

Accounts receivable, net include:

	
	
	
	
	As of December 31,
	
	

	Accounts receivable, net
	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	

	Accounts receivable
	$
	26,791
	
	$
	36,669
	

	Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts
	
	
	(200)
	
	
	(155)

	Less: Allowance for returns
	
	
	(4,351)
	
	
	(2,760)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total accounts receivable, net
	$
	22,240
	
	$
	33,754
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



Accounts receivable are stated at their amortized cost adjusted for any write-offs and net allowances for returns. The Company estimates expected credit losses related to accounts receivable balances based on a review of available and relevant information including current economic conditions, projected economic conditions, historical loss experience, account aging, and other factors that could affect collectability. Expected credit losses are determined individually or collectively depending on whether the accounts receivable balances share similar risk characteristics. The allowance for doubtful accounts is the best estimate of the amount of expected credit losses related to existing accounts receivable. The Company does not have any off-balance sheet credit exposure related to its customers.

	
	
	
	
	Year ended December 31,
	
	

	Allowance for doubtful accounts
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	
	2018
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Beginning of period
	
	$
	155
	
	$
	392
	
	$
	654
	

	Provision for credit losses (including effect of adoption)
	
	
	212
	
	
	
	111
	
	
	
	138
	

	Write-offs and recoveries
	
	
	(167)
	
	
	(348)
	
	
	(400)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	End of period
	$
	200
	
	$
	155
	
	$
	392
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



The allowances for returns are accounted for as reductions of revenue and are estimated based on the Company’s periodic assessment of historical experience and trends. The Company considers factors such as historical reasons for adjustments, service and delivery issues or delays, and past due customer billings.

	
	
	
	
	Year ended December 31,
	
	

	Allowance for returns
	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	
	2018
	

	Beginning of period
	$
	2,760
	
	$
	3,192
	
	$
	2,877
	

	Charged against revenue
	
	
	7,851
	
	
	
	3,761
	
	
	
	4,813
	

	Deductions
	
	
	(6,260)
	
	
	(4,193)
	
	
	(4,498)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	End of period
	$
	4,351
	
	$
	2,760
	
	$
	3,192
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8. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following as of December 31:

	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	2019
	

	Developed software
	$
	57,300
	
	$
	46,497
	

	Computers and related equipment
	
	
	33,872
	
	
	31,730
	

	Purchased software and licenses
	
	
	31,362
	
	
	30,507
	

	Leasehold improvements
	
	
	7,591
	
	
	7,565
	

	Furniture and fixtures
	
	
	7,015
	
	
	6,995
	

	Other equipment
	
	
	2,241
	
	
	2,266
	

	Vehicles
	
	
	98
	
	
	146
	

	Total property and equipment, at cost
	
	
	139,479
	
	
	125,706
	

	Accumulated depreciation and amortization
	
	
	(109,778)
	
	(97,037)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Property and equipment, net
	$
	29,701
	
	$
	28,669
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



The following table presents depreciation and amortization expense for the year ended December 31:

	Depreciation and amortization expense
	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	2019
	
	
	2018
	

	Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	equipment
	$
	13,516
	$
	11,819
	$
	15,665
	

	Amortization expense related to financing ROU assets
	
	
	9,224
	
	
	8,599
	
	
	-
	

	Total depreciation and amortization expense
	$
	22,740
	$
	20,418
	$
	15,665
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



The following table presents depreciation and amortization expense reported in the statement of operations for the year ended
December 31:

	Depreciation and amortization expense
	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	2019
	
	
	2018
	

	Cost of revenue
	$
	17,469
	$
	14,986
	$
	11,847
	

	Sales and marketing
	
	
	1,479
	
	
	1,625
	
	
	1,267
	

	Research and development
	
	
	2,848
	
	
	2,963
	
	
	1,998
	

	General and administrative
	
	
	944
	
	
	844
	
	
	553
	

	Total depreciation and amortization expense
	$
	22,740
	$
	20,418
	$
	15,665
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



The following tables present supplementary information about capitalized software development costs:

	
	
	
	
	Year ended December 31,
	
	
	

	Capitalized software development costs
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	
	
	
	2018
	
	

	Capitalized
	$
	11,558
	$
	9,784
	
	$
	6,090
	
	

	Amortization expense
	$
	7,455
	$
	5,130
	
	$
	3,944
	
	

	Impairment
	$
	620
	$
	
	-
	
	$
	-
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	As of December 31,
	
	
	

	Capitalized software development costs
	
	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	
	
	
	2019
	
	

	Net book value
	
	
	$
	
	
	17,942
	$
	
	
	14,459
	
	



During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized an impairment loss related to certain software development projects that were discontinued. Accordingly, the Company recorded impairment expense $620 in cost of revenue in its consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020.


9. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following tables present the changes in goodwill and the gross carrying amounts of the components of goodwill as of December

31:
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	Changes in goodwill
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	

	Goodwill on January 1
	
	
	
	
	
	$
	
	
	12,857
	
	$
	1,634
	

	Additions from business combination
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	-
	
	
	
	11,223
	

	Impairment
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	-
	
	
	
	-
	

	Goodwill on December 31
	
	
	
	
	
	
	$
	
	
	12,857
	
	
	$
	12,857
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Gross carrying amounts
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	

	Goodwill
	
	
	
	
	
	$
	
	
	14,527
	
	$
	14,527
	

	Accumulated impairment loss
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(1,670)
	
	
	(1,670)

	Information regarding the Company’s acquisition-related intangible assets is as follows:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	As of December 31, 2020
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Weighted-
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Average
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Gross
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Remaining
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Carrying
	
	
	Accumulated
	
	Net Carrying
	Useful Life
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Amount
	
	
	Amortization
	
	
	
	Amount
	
	
	(in years)
	
	
	

	
	Trademarks
	$
	840
	$
	(399)
	$
	441
	
	
	5.2
	
	
	

	Developed technology
	
	
	7,900
	
	
	(2,436)
	
	
	5,464
	
	
	4.2
	
	
	

	
	Customer agreements
	
	
	8,160
	
	
	(3,672)
	
	
	4,488
	
	
	5.2
	
	
	

	Non-compete agreements
	
	
	126
	
	
	(126)
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Total
	
	$
	17,026
	$
	(6,633)
	$
	10,393
	
	
	4.8
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	As of December 31, 2019
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Weighted-
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Average
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Gross
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Remaining
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Carrying
	
	
	Accumulated
	
	Net Carrying
	Useful Life
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Amount
	
	
	Amortization
	
	
	
	Amount
	
	
	(in years)
	
	
	

	
	Trademarks
	$
	840
	$
	(313)
	$
	527
	
	
	6.2
	
	
	

	Developed technology
	
	
	7,900
	
	
	(1,119)
	
	
	6,781
	
	
	5.2
	
	
	

	
	Customer agreements
	
	
	8,160
	
	
	(2,801)
	
	
	5,359
	
	
	6.2
	
	
	

	Non-compete agreements
	
	
	126
	
	
	(126)
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Total
	
	$
	17,026
	$
	(4,359)
	$
	12,667
	
	
	5.8
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



As of December 31, 2020, expected amortization expense for the intangible assets for each of the next five years and thereafter was as follows:

	
	
	Amortization expense

	Year Ending December 31,
	
	
	

	2021
	$
	2,274
	

	2022
	
	2,274
	

	2023
	
	2,274
	

	2024
	
	2,274
	

	2025
	
	1,155
	

	Thereafter
	
	142
	

	Total
	$
	10,393
	

	
	
	
	



Amortization and impairment of acquisition-related intangible assets is as follows:

	
	
	
	
	Year ended December 31,
	
	

	Amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	
	
	2018
	

	Amortization expense
	$
	2,274
	$
	1,933
	$
	150
	

	Impairment
	$
	-
	$
	-
	$
	-
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10. Convertible Senior Notes

In December 2018, the Company issued $240,000 aggregate principal amount of 1.25% convertible senior notes (“Notes”) due December 15, 2023, unless earlier repurchased by the Company or converted by the holder pursuant to their terms. Interest is payable semiannually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year, commencing on June 15, 2019.

The Notes are governed by an Indenture between the Company, as issuer, and U.S. Bank, National Association, as trustee. The Notes are unsecured and rank: senior in right of payment to the Company’s future indebtedness that is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Notes; equal in right of payment to the Company’s unsecured indebtedness that is not so subordinated; effectively junior in right of payment to any of the Company’s senior, secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness; and structurally junior to all indebtedness and other liabilities incurred by the Company’s subsidiaries.

Upon conversion, the Company will pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of the Company’s common stock or a combination of cash and shares of common stock, at the Company’s election.

The Notes have an initial conversion rate of 18.8076 shares of common stock per $1 principal amount of Notes. This represents an initial effective conversion price of approximately $53.17 per share of common stock and 4,513,824 shares issuable upon conversion. Throughout the term of the Notes, the conversion rate may be adjusted upon the occurrence of certain events. Holders of the Notes will not receive any cash payment representing accrued and unpaid interest, if any, upon conversion of a Note, except in limited circumstances. Accrued but unpaid interest will be deemed to be paid by cash, shares of the Company’s common stock or a combination of cash and shares of the Company’s common stock paid or delivered, as the case may be, to the holder upon conversion of Notes.

Prior to the close of business on September 14, 2023, the Notes will be convertible at the option of holders during certain periods, only upon satisfaction of certain conditions set forth below. On or after September 15, 2023, until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, holders may convert all or any portion of their Notes at the conversion price at any time regardless of whether the conditions set forth below have been met.

Holders may convert all or a portion of their Notes prior to the close of business on September 14, 2023, in multiples of $1 principal amount, only under the following circumstances:

· during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ending on March 31, 2019 (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last reported sales price of the common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price on each applicable trading day;

· during the five business day period after any five consecutive trading day period, or the Notes measurement period, in which the “trading price” (as defined in the Indenture) per $1 principal amount of notes for each trading day of the Notes measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of the Company’s common stock and the conversion rate on each such trading day;

· if the Company calls any or all of the Notes for redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on September 14, 2023; or

· upon the occurrence of specified corporate events.

As of December 31, 2020, the Notes are not yet convertible.

Based on market data available for publicly traded, senior, unsecured corporate bonds issued by companies in the same industry and with similar maturity, the Company estimated the implied market interest rate of its Notes to be approximately 7.30%, assuming no conversion option. Assumptions used in the estimate represent what market participants would use in pricing the liability component of the Notes, including market interest rates, credit standing, and yield curves, all of which are defined as Level 2 observable inputs. The estimated implied interest rate was applied to the Notes, which resulted in a fair value of the liability component of $181,500 upon issuance, calculated as the present value of future contractual payments based on the $240,000 aggregate principal amount. The excess of the principal amount of the liability component over its carrying amount, or the debt discount, is amortized to interest
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expense over the term of the Notes. The $58,500 difference between the gross proceeds received from issuance of the Notes of $240,000 and the estimated fair value of the liability component represents the equity component of the Notes and was recorded in additional paid-in capital. The equity component is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the conditions for equity classification.

In accounting for the transaction costs related to the issuance of the Notes, the Company allocated the total amount incurred to the liability and equity components in proportion to the allocation of proceeds. Transaction costs attributable to the liability component, totaling $4,808, are being amortized to expense over the term of the Notes, and transaction costs attributable to the equity component, totaling $1,550, and were included with the equity component in shareholders’ equity.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company repurchased Notes with an aggregate principal amount of $18,750 and carrying value of $15,346. The Company paid $14,619 in cash of which $14,207 was allocated to the liability component of the Notes and $412 was allocated to the equity component and recorded as an adjustment to additional paid-in capital. The Company recognized a gain on the extinguishment of the liability in the amount of $1,138 and is presented separately in other income (expense) in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

The following table sets forth information about the balances of the Notes as of December 31:

	
	2020
	
	
	
	
	2019
	

	Liability Component:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Principal
	$
	221,250
	
	$
	240,000
	

	Less: debt discount, net of amortization
	
	
	(36,942)
	
	
	(52,051)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net carrying amount
	$
	184,308
	
	$
	187,949
	

	Equity component (a)
	
	
	56,539
	
	
	
	56,950
	

	Remaining discount amortization period (in years)
	
	
	2.96
	
	
	
	
	



(a) Recorded in the consolidated balance sheets within additional paid-in capital, net of $1,550 transaction costs in equity.

The following table sets forth total interest expense recognized related to the Notes:

	
	
	Year Ended December 31,
	
	

	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	
	

	1.25% coupon
	$
	2,921
	
	$
	3,000
	

	Amortization of debt discount and transaction costs
	
	
	11,656
	
	
	
	11,256
	

	Total interest expense
	$
	14,577
	
	$
	14,256
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Effective interest rate on liability component
	
	
	7.83%
	
	
	7.59%



As of December 31, 2020, the fair value of the Notes, which was determined based on inputs that are observable in the market or that could be derived from, or corroborated with, observable market data, quoted price of the Notes in an over-the-counter market (Level 2), and carrying value of debt instruments (carrying value excludes the equity component of the Company’s convertible notes classified in equity) were as follows:

	
	
	
	December 31, 2020
	
	
	December 31, 2019
	

	
	
	
	Fair Value
	
	Carrying Value
	
	
	Fair Value
	
	Carrying Value
	

	Convertible senior notes
	$
	192,587
	$
	184,308
	$
	207,600
	$
	187,949
	



In connection with the issuance of the Notes, the Company entered into capped call transactions with certain counterparties affiliated with the initial purchasers and others. The capped call transactions are expected to reduce potential dilution of earnings per share upon conversion of the Notes. Under the capped call transactions, the Company purchased capped call options that in the aggregate relate to the total number of shares of the Company’s common stock underlying the Notes, with an initial strike price of approximately $53.17 per share, which corresponds to the initial conversion price of the Notes and is subject to anti-dilution adjustments substantially similar to those applicable to the conversion rate of the Notes, and have a cap price of approximately $89.98. The cost of the purchased capped calls of $33,024 was recorded to stockholders’ deficit and will not be re-measured. The capped call will not be re-measured provided it continues to meet the conditions for equity classification.

Based on the closing price of our common stock of $14.48 on December 31, 2020, the if-converted value of the Notes was less than their respective principal amounts.
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11. Revolving Line of Credit

The Company entered into a new credit facility with Silicon Valley Bank providing for a revolving line of credit agreement on March 3, 2020 (“Senior Revolver”). This agreement replaced the Company’s previous agreement with Silicon Valley Bank, which expired on February 20, 2020 (“Prior Revolver”). The three-year agreement has a borrowing limit of $50,000, with the ability for the Company to increase it to up to $ 100,000. Interest is payable monthly. Advances under the agreement bear interest at (a) the higher of (i) the prime rate as published in the Wall Street Journal or (ii) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%, plus (b) an applicable margin ranging from (0.50%) to 0.50% based on the Company’s Average Daily Usage (“ADU”) of the credit facility in the preceding month. The Company also is charged for amounts unused under this arrangement at a rate ranging from 0.00% to 0.40% based on the Company’s ADU in the preceding month. Any outstanding principal is due at the end of the term.

The obligations of the Company under the Senior Revolver are secured by a first priority lien (subject to certain permitted liens) in substantially all of the personal property assets of the Company and its subsidiaries pursuant to the terms of a Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated March 3, 2020 and the other security documents.

The Senior Revolver requires the Company to maintain a Consolidated Adjusted Quick Ratio (“AQR”) of (i) Consolidated Quick Assets to (ii) Consolidated Current Liabilities minus the current portion of Deferred Revenue of at least 1.25 to 1.00 as of the last day of any fiscal quarter, and, if the AQR is less than 2.00 to 1.00, a Minimum Consolidated EBITDA of at least $1.00 for any such fiscal quarter calculated on a trailing 12 month basis. The Company has also agreed to fiscal year dollar limits on its capital expenditures. If an event of default occurs, the lender would be entitled to take various actions, including the acceleration of amounts due under the credit facility and all actions permitted to be taken by a secured creditor.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company borrowed an aggregate of $10,000 under the Senior Revolver for general operating purposes and repaid an aggregate of $ 10,000. As of December 31, 2020 there were no amounts outstanding under the Company’s Senior Revolver. The amount available to borrow was $50,000 and the interest rate was 2.75% as of December 31, 2020.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company borrowed an aggregate of $115,000 under the Prior Revolver for general operating purposes and repaid an aggregate of $171,246. No amounts were borrowed or repaid under the Prior Revolver during the year ended December 31, 2019.

12. Commitments and Contingencies

Total net cash flows were not impacted by adoption of ASC 842; however, classification of some transactions moved between operating and financing activities. Supplemental cash flow information related to the Company’s operating and finance leases was as follows:

	
	
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,
	
	

	Cash Paid for Amounts Included in the Measurement of Lease Liabilities
	
	
	2020
	
	
	2019
	
	

	Financing cash flows from finance leases
	$
	10,200
	$
	5,884
	

	Operating cash flows from finance leases
	$
	8,090
	$
	8,527
	

	Operating cash flows from operating leases
	$
	557
	$
	599
	

	ROU Assets Obtained in Exchange for New Lease Obligations
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Finance lease liabilities
	
	$
	3,593
	$
	4,248
	

	Operating lease liabilities
	$
	-
	$
	1,107
	



As of December 31, 2020, the Company had no additional significant operating or finance leases that had not yet commenced. Operating Leases

The Company leases office facilities under various non-cancelable operating lease agreements with original lease periods expiring between 2023 and 2027. Some of the leases provide for renewal terms at the Company’s option. Certain future minimum lease payments due under these operating lease agreements contain free rent periods or escalating rent payment provisions. These leases generally do
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not contain purchase options. Lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term as an operating expense.

The components of operating lease expense were as follows:

	
	
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,

	Operating lease expense
	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	

	Fixed operating lease expense
	$
	414
	
	$
	705
	

	Short-term lease expense
	
	
	405
	
	
	
	33
	

	Variable operating lease expense
	
	
	112
	
	
	
	145
	

	Total operating lease expense
	
	
	931
	
	
	
	883
	

	Sublease income
	
	
	-
	
	
	
	(28)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total operating lease cost
	$
	931
	
	$
	855
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



The following table presents the lease balances within the consolidated balance sheets, weighted average remaining lease term, and weighted average discount rates related to the Company’s operating leases:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	As of December
	As of December

	Lease Assets and Liabilities
	
	Classification
	
	
	31, 2020
	
	
	31, 2019
	

	Assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Operating lease ROU asset - Buildings
	Operating lease right-of-use assets
	$
	1,107
	
	$
	1,715
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Operating lease ROU liabilities, current portion
	Lease liabilities, current
	$
	300
	
	$
	343
	

	Operating lease ROU liabilities, net of current portion
	Lease liabilities, non-current
	
	
	1,268
	
	
	1,568
	

	Total operating lease liabilities
	
	
	
	$
	1,568
	
	$
	1,911
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Weighted average remaining lease term (in years)
	
	
	
	
	
	5.21
	
	
	5.86
	

	Weighted average discount rate
	
	
	
	
	
	6.04%
	
	5.96%



On December 31, 2020, the Company entered into a sublease agreement for all of the space under one its facility operating leases. The rental income from this sublease agreement was less than the Company’s remaining lease commitment for this space. Accordingly, the Company recorded an impairment loss of its ROU operating assets of $296 based on the present value of the payments to be received under the sublease. This impairment expense was included in cost of revenue and operating expenses in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020.

The following table presents the maturity of the Company’s operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2020:
	
	
	
	Operating

	
	
	
	Leases

	Year Ending December 31,
	
	
	
	

	2021
	$
	385
	

	2022
	
	
	391
	

	2023
	
	
	398
	

	2024
	
	
	175
	

	2025
	
	
	179
	

	Thereafter
	
	
	306
	

	Total minimum lease payments
	
	
	1,834
	

	Less: imputed interest
	
	
	(266)

	
	
	
	
	

	Total operating lease liabilities
	$
	1,568
	

	
	
	
	
	



Finance Leases

The Company leases three buildings on its Charleston, South Carolina campus. Under ASC 840, one leasing arrangement was accounted for as a capital lease while the remaining two lease agreements
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were accounted for as build-to-suit, failed sale-leaseback arrangements. Accordingly, the Company recognized liabilities for the lease payments related to these two buildings, which were recorded as financing obligations. Upon adoption of ASC 842 on January 1, 2019, the assets and related financing obligations for the existing build-to-suit lease arrangements were derecognized with a cumulative adjustment of $7,686 to accumulated deficit. These leases were transitioned to the new standard based on an analysis of the lease balances as of the transition date as if they had been a lease under ASC 840. Based on this analysis, the land components of these leases were combined with the remainder of the lease obligation whereas this obligation was previously accounted for separately and recognized as part of facility expense. To calculate the present value of lease payments, the Company used an incremental borrowing rate based on third-party valuation results as of December 2016. All three leasing arrangements are classified as finance leases under ASC 842.

As a result of the adoption of ASC 842, operating expenses increased as depreciation expense related to the buildings increased due to shortening the period of depreciation from the estimated life of the asset to the expected term of the lease. Additionally, interest expense decreased as a result of a discount rate that is lower than the rate required for build-to-suit accounting. Additional information regarding these three leases is incorporated in the following disclosures.

On March 13, 2020, the Company executed an amendment to its three leases for office space on its headquarters campus. Pursuant to this amendment, the Company paid the lessor, a related party, $3,993 for future rent due in the first half of 2021, representing an approximately 17% discount on rent due for those periods. The ROU assets and financing lease liabilities were adjusted to reflect the effect of the amendment and associated payments.

In February 2020, the Company entered into a financing lease arrangement for servers and networking equipment used in operations. Total payments under the agreement are $3,723, including the first annual payment of $784 and two annual payments of $1,470, each. In connection with this lease, the Company recorded financing ROU assets and financing lease liabilities of $3,593.

The Company has entered into various purchase agreements to obtain property and equipment for operations that are accounted for as finance leases. These arrangements have original terms ranging from 3 to 5 years with interest rates ranging from 2.99% to 7.61%. The leases are secured by the underlying leased property and equipment.

The components of finance lease expense were as follows:

	
	
	
	
	Year Ended December 31,

	Finance lease expense
	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	

	Amortization of ROU assets
	$
	9,224
	
	$
	8,599
	

	Interest on lease liabilities
	
	
	8,051
	
	
	
	8,535
	

	Variable finance lease expense
	
	
	46
	
	
	
	53
	

	Total finance lease expense
	$
	17,321
	
	$
	17,187
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The following table presents the lease balances within the consolidated balance sheets, weighted average remaining lease term, and weighted average discount rates related to the Company’s finance leases:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	As of
	
	
	As of
	

	
	
	
	
	
	December 31,
	
	December 31,
	

	Lease Assets and Liabilities
	
	Classification
	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	
	

	Assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Finance lease ROU asset
	Finance lease right-of-use assets, net
	$
	85,040
	
	$
	87,067
	
	

	Finance lease ROU accumulated amortization
	Finance lease right-of-use assets, net
	
	
	(16,370)
	
	
	(8,547)
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Finance lease ROU assets, net
	
	
	
	$
	68,670
	
	$
	78,520
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Finance lease ROU liabilities, current portion
	Lease liabilities, current
	$
	5,034
	
	$
	5,315
	
	

	Finance lease ROU liabilities, net of current
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	portion
	Lease liabilities, non-current
	
	
	77,916
	
	
	
	86,284
	
	

	Total finance lease liabilities
	
	
	$
	82,950
	
	$
	91,599
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Weighted average remaining lease term (in
	
	
	
	
	10.31
	
	
	
	11.34
	
	

	years)
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Weighted average discount rate
	
	
	
	
	9.53%
	
	
	9.26%
	



The following table presents the maturity of the Company’s finance lease liabilities as of December 31, 2020:
	
	
	
	Finance

	
	
	
	Leases

	Year Ending December 31,
	
	
	
	

	2021
	$
	9,634
	

	2022
	
	
	13,653
	

	2023
	
	
	11,553
	

	2024
	
	
	11,696
	

	2025
	
	
	12,002
	

	Thereafter
	
	
	79,962
	

	Total minimum lease payments
	
	
	138,500
	

	Less: imputed interest
	
	
	(55,550)

	
	
	
	
	

	Total finance lease liabilities
	$
	82,950
	

	
	
	
	
	



Financing Obligations

Financing obligations were $722 and $1,933, as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and consist primarily of obligations for software licensing and support.

Contractual Commitments

The Company has $6,835 of non-cancellable contractual commitments as of December 31, 2020 related to the purchase of software and maintenance. These commitments are not accrued in the consolidated balance sheets of the Company.

Legal Contingencies

The Company may become a party to a variety of legal proceedings that arise in the normal course of business. While the results of such normal course legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes, based on current knowledge, that the final outcome of any matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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13. Redeemable Preferred Stock

On June 4, 2020, the Company issued and sold 1,777,778 shares of its newly created series of preferred stock, par value of $0.001 per share, designated as “Series A Convertible Preferred Stock” (the “Preferred Stock”) to BuildGroup LLC (the “Buyer”) at purchase price of $45 per share, resulting in total gross proceeds for the Company of approximately $80,000. A member of the Company’s Board of Directors is the Chief Executive Officer of the Buyer. The Buyer also has a second representative on the Board.

The Preferred Stock ranks senior to the Company’s common stock with respect to dividends and distributions on liquidation, winding-up and dissolution. Each share of the Preferred Stock has an initial stated value of $45 per share. Holders of shares of the Preferred Stock are entitled to a dividend equal to 8.00% per annum (the “Regular Dividends”), payable quarterly, beginning on June 30, 2020. The Regular Dividends are payable in cash or in kind, at the Company’s option. In the event a Regular Dividend is paid in kind, the stated value of each share of the Preferred Stock will be increased by an amount equal to the accrued Regular Dividend not paid in cash. As of December 31, 2020, the Company paid all dividends on the Preferred Stock in cash. Holders of the Preferred Stock are also entitled to participate in and receive any dividends declared or paid on the common stock on an as-converted basis, and no dividends may be paid to holders of the common stock unless full participating dividends are concurrently paid to the holders of the Preferred Stock.

Each holder of the Preferred Stock has the right, at its option, to convert its shares of the Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, into fully paid and non-assessable shares of the common stock, at any time and from time to time. The number of shares of the common stock into which a share of the Preferred Stock will convert at any time is equal to the quotient obtained by dividing its stated value then in effect plus any accumulated and unpaid Regular Dividends by its conversion price of $15.00. The conversion price is subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments, including in the event of any stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization or similar events. At closing, before payment of any dividends in kind, the 1,777,778 shares of the Preferred Stock were convertible into 5,333,334 shares of common stock.

The Company may, at its option, redeem the outstanding shares of the Preferred Stock following the fourth anniversary of its issuance. Redemption by the Company is subject to certain liquidity conditions as well conditions connected with the trading price of its common stock. Upon redemption by the Company, the Company will pay the holder of the Preferred Stock 105% of the initial stated value of such share plus any increase in the stated value from the initial stated value plus accumulated and unpaid Regular Dividends. If the Company undergoes a change of control as defined in the purchase agreement, the Company must redeem all of the then-outstanding shares of the Preferred Stock for cash consideration equal to the greater of the amount due for redemption as described above and the amount such holder of shares of the Preferred Stock would have received in respect of the number of shares of the Common Stock that would be issuable upon conversion of such share of the Series A Preferred Stock.

Unless and until approval of the Company’s stockholders is obtained as contemplated by the NASDAQ listing rules, no holder of the Preferred Stock may convert shares of the Preferred Stock into shares of common stock if and to the extent that such conversion would result in the holder beneficially owning in excess of 19.9% of the then-outstanding shares of the common stock.

As long as not less than 60% of the shares of the Preferred Stock originally issued remain outstanding, the holders of a majority of the then-outstanding shares of the Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class, have the right at any election of directors to elect two directors if the Board consists of nine or fewer directors or three directors if the Board consists of 10. At any time, such elected director(s) may be removed with or without cause only by the affirmative vote or written consent of a majority of the holders of the Preferred Stock entitled to elect such director.

Holders of the Preferred Stock generally are entitled to vote with the holders of the shares of the common stock on all matters submitted for a vote of holders of shares of the common stock (voting together with the holders of shares of the common stock as one class) on an as-converted basis, subject to a limitation of ownership of 19.9% of common stock. Additionally, certain matters require the approval of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of the Preferred Stock, voting as a separate class.

The Buyer is subject to limitations while it holds at least 10% of the Preferred Stock originally purchased. Furthermore, until the earliest of May 30, 2024 and receipt of a notice of redemption, the Buyer cannot sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of the shares of the Preferred Stock or the underlying
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shares of the common stock, subject to limited exceptions that include exceptions in the case of transfers to certain permitted transferees.

For so long as the Buyer and its affiliates collectively hold at least 60% of the shares of the Preferred Stock originally purchased by it or the common stock issuable upon conversion thereof, the Company will pay the Buyer a fee of $400 for the first year following closing and $200 per year thereafter. These management and oversight fees are expensed over the period incurred.

The Company incurred $807 in issuance costs related to the sale of the Preferred Stock, including $150 of reimbursement to the Buyer for reasonable fees and out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Buyer in connection with the transaction. The issuance costs were netted against the proceeds from this transaction.

14. Stock-Based Compensation

Employee Stock-based Compensation Plan

The Company maintains the Second Amended and Restated 2012 Stock Plan, as amended, (the “2012 Plan”) and previously had in place the Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Option Plan (the “2000 Plan”), which expired in 2020. Pursuant to the 2012 Plan, the Company has reserved 6,231,609 shares of its common stock for issuance to its employees, directors and non-employee third parties. The 2012 Plan, effective on January 31, 2012, serves as the successor to the 2000 Plan and permits the granting of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options, stock bonuses, stock purchase rights, stock appreciation rights, and restricted stock units and awards. Shares available for grant under the 2000 Plan, which were reserved but not issued or subject to outstanding awards under the 2000 Plan as of the effective date of the 2012 Plan, were added to the reserves of the 2012 Plan. As of December 31, 2020, no awards were outstanding under the 2000 Plan. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had 3,518,804 shares allocated to the 2012 Plan, but not yet issued.

The Company has issued two types of awards under these plans: stock options and restricted stock units (“RSUs”). The following table sets forth the number of awards outstanding for each award type is as follows:

	Award type outstanding
	
	
	As of December 31,
	
	
	

	
	
	2020
	
	2019
	
	2018
	
	

	Restricted stock units
	2,590,877
	1,970,555
	
	2,174,250
	
	

	Stock options
	121,928
	206,447
	
	233,247
	
	



The grant date value of RSUs is equal to the closing price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant, or, if not a trading day, the closing price of the previous trading day. Stock options are granted at exercise prices not less than the estimated fair market value of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant. Generally, the Company issues previously unissued shares for the exercise of stock options or exchange of RSUs; however, previously acquired shares may be reissued to satisfy future issuances. The standard vesting period for RSU and option awards is over four years; however, vesting periods range from one to four years. The options expire 10 years from the grant date. Compensation expense for the fair value of the stock-based awards at their grant date is recognized ratably over the vesting period.

Compensation expense related to stock-based awards is included in the following line items in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31:

	Stock-based compensation expense
	
	
	2020
	
	
	2019
	
	
	2018
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cost of revenue
	
	$
	3,703
	$
	3,569
	$
	5,164
	

	Sales and marketing
	
	
	3,081
	
	
	3,799
	
	
	6,764
	

	Research and development
	
	
	2,555
	
	
	3,265
	
	
	5,510
	

	General and administrative
	
	
	5,198
	
	
	8,939
	
	
	11,430
	

	
	
	$
	14,537
	$
	19,572
	$
	28,868
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



The total compensation cost related to non-vested awards not yet recognized as of December 31, 2020 was $21,286 and will be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.32 years.
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Restricted Stock Units

During 2020, the Company granted RSUs under the 2012 Plan. Restricted stock units granted to employees vest in equal annual installments over terms that range from one to four years. The fair value of the stock at the time of grant is amortized based on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

The summary of unvested restricted stock units is as follows:
	
	
	
	
	
	Weighted

	
	
	
	
	
	average

	
	Restricted
	
	
	grant date

	
	stock units
	
	
	
	fair value
	

	Unvested at December 31, 2019
	1,970,555
	
	$
	34.82
	

	Granted
	2,361,447
	
	
	
	9.47
	

	Forfeited
	(572,629)
	
	
	29.00
	

	Vested
	(1,168,496)
	
	
	27.41
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Unvested at December 31, 2020
	2,590,877
	
	$
	14.40
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	



As of December 31, 2020, the number and intrinsic value of restricted stock units expected to vest was 2,506,574 and $36,295, respectively. The aggregate fair value of restricted stock units vested during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 was $6,132, $32,065 and $18,623, respectively.

Included in the grants of 2020 restricted stock units are performance restricted stock units for which vesting is contingent upon meeting various financial targets to support growth initiatives. The Company granted 801,453 performance restricted stock units to officers and certain employees with an aggregate grant-date fair value of $6,713. The actual number of shares issued upon vesting could range from 0% to 100%. As of December 31, 2020, there were 830,399 performance restricted stock units outstanding with a weighted average grant-date fair value of $11.76 per unit, of which 746,096 units with a weighted average grant-date fair value of $12.28 per unit were expected to vest.

Stock Options

The following is a summary of the option activity for the year ended December 31, 2020:

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Weighted-
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	Average
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	Weighted-
	Remaining
	
	
	
	

	
	Number
	
	
	Average
	Contractual
	
	
	
	

	
	of
	
	
	Exercise
	Term
	
	
	Aggregate

	
	Options
	
	
	
	Price
	
	(in years)
	Intrinsic Value

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Outstanding balance at December 31, 2019
	206,447
	
	$
	10.10
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Granted
	-
	
	
	
	-
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Exercised
	(62,519)
	
	
	6.93
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Forfeited
	(21,000)
	
	
	10.26
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Expired
	(1,000)
	
	
	5.38
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Outstanding balance at December 31, 2020
	121,928
	
	$
	11.73
	
	2.0
	$
	335
	

	Exercisable at December 31, 2020
	121,928
	
	$
	11.73
	
	2.0
	$
	335
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2020
	121,928
	
	$
	11.73
	
	2.0
	$
	335
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



The aggregate intrinsic value of employee options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 was $219, $958 and $915, respectively. No stock options were granted during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

15. Stockholders’ Deficit Preferred stock

The Company has 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized of which 3,222,222 shares are undesignated.
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Common Stock

The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote for each share. The voting, dividend and liquidation rights of the holders of common stock are subject to and qualified by the rights, powers and preferences of the holders of preferred stock.

The Company maintains the Benefitfocus, Inc. 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) pursuant to which the Company has reserved 98,571 shares of its common stock for purchase by its employees who meet certain criteria. Under the ESPP, eligible employees may purchase the Company’s common stock through accumulated payroll deductions. Options to purchase shares are granted twice yearly on or about January 1 and July 1 and exercisable on or about the succeeding June 30 and December 31, respectively, of each year. Shares are purchased at acquisition prices equal to 95% of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock at the purchase date. No participant may purchase more than $12 worth of the Company’s common stock in a six-month offering period.

At December 31, 2020, the Company had reserved a total of 11,663,514 of its authorized 50,000,000 shares of common stock for future issuance as follows:

	Outstanding stock options
	121,928
	

	Restricted stock units
	2,590,877
	

	Available for future issuance under stock award plans
	3,518,804
	

	Available for future issuance under ESPP
	98,571
	

	Issuable upon conversion of Series A Preferred Stock
	5,333,334
	

	Total common shares reserved for future issuance
	11,663,514
	

	
	
	



The Company’s Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program for the potential repurchase of up to $20,000 of its outstanding common stock. Under the stock repurchase program, the Company is authorized to purchase shares of its common stock through various means, including open market or privately negotiated transactions. The program has no time limit and may be suspended for periods or discontinued at any time by the Board of Directors. Repurchases under the program will be funded by the Company’s existing cash and cash equivalents or future cash flow. Any shares acquired will be available for general corporate purposes.

Under its stock repurchase program, the Company purchased 1,106,173 shares of its outstanding common stock, for an aggregate of $9,667 during the year ended December 31, 2020. All of these shares have been cancelled and returned to its pool of authorized shares to be used for general purposes.

16. Revenue Disaggregation of Revenue
The following table provide information about disaggregation of revenue by service line:

	
	
	
	
	
	Year ended December 31
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	2019
	
	
	
	2018
	

	Service line
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Subscription
	$
	179,743
	$
	195,091
	
	$
	179,410
	

	Platform
	
	
	35,101
	
	
	33,654
	
	
	
	22,938
	

	Total software services
	$
	214,844
	$
	228,745
	
	$
	202,348
	

	Professional services
	
	
	53,297
	
	
	66,941
	
	
	
	56,373
	

	Total
	$
	268,141
	$
	295,686
	
	$
	258,721
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Contract Balances

The following table provides information about contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with customers:

	
	
	Balance at Beginning of
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	Period
	Balance at End of Period

	As of December 31, 2020
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Contract assets
	$
	16,685
	$
	15,105
	

	Contract liabilities:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Deferred revenue
	$
	38,508
	$
	32,204
	

	As of December 31, 2019
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Contract assets
	$
	12,798
	$
	16,685
	

	Contract liabilities:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Deferred revenue
	$
	45,863
	$
	38,508
	



The Company recognizes payments from customers based on contractual billing schedules. Accounts receivable are recorded when the right to consideration becomes unconditional. Contract assets include amounts related to the Company’s contractual right to consideration for completed performance objectives not yet invoiced. Contract liabilities include payments received in advance of performance under the contract and are recognized as revenue when earned under the contract. The Company had no asset impairment charges related to contract assets during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Contract assets are largely comprised of unbilled software services revenue from insurance broker commissions. The performance obligation for this revenue is satisfied when the order is received. Amounts are recorded as accounts receivable when the right to consideration becomes unconditional which generally occurs over the period of the underlying insurance policy. Payments from insurance broker commissions are typically received monthly in arrears.

There were no significant changes in the contract assets outside of standard revenue and billing activity.

Revenue recognized during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 that was included in the deferred revenue balance at the beginning of the periods was $33,092 and $32,256, respectively.

The Company added deferred revenue of $6,692 as a result of a business combination during the year ended December 31, 2019.

The Company recorded favorable transaction price adjustments to software services revenue from performance obligations satisfied or partially satisfied in previous periods of $4,374 and $2,914 during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Performance Obligations

As of December 31, 2020, the aggregate amount of the Company’s performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied were approximately $227,000, of which a majority are expected to be satisfied within the next three years. The Company excludes from its population of performance obligations contracts with original durations of one year or less, contract renewal periods that renew automatically, and amounts of variable consideration that are allocated to wholly unsatisfied distinct service that forms part of a single performance obligation and meets certain variable allocation criteria.

17. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company maintains a qualified defined contribution plan under Section 401(k) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code (the “401(k) Plan”) covering substantially all employees. Employees are eligible to participate in the 401(k) Plan after one day of service and upon attainment of age 21, and may elect to
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defer an amount or percentage of their annual compensation up to amounts prescribed by law. The Company makes discretionary matching contributions to employee plan accounts. During each of the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company matched 50% of the employees’ contribution, with the match limited to 3% of qualifying compensation. Employee vesting in matching company contributions occurs at a rate of 20% per year after one year of service. During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, employer matching contributions were $2,790, $3,370 and $3,162, respectively.

18. Income Taxes

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. for federal and various state jurisdictions. The Company is subject to U.S. federal income tax examination for calendar tax years 2016 through 2019 as well as state income tax examinations for various years depending on statutes of limitations of those jurisdictions.

The following summarizes the components of income tax expense for the years ended December 31:

	Current:
	
	
	2020
	
	
	2019
	
	
	2018
	
	

	Federal
	$
	-
	$
	-
	$
	-
	
	

	State and local
	
	
	22
	
	
	27
	
	
	28
	
	

	Total current expense
	$
	22
	$
	27
	$
	28
	
	

	Deferred:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Federal
	$
	-
	$
	-
	$
	-
	
	

	State and local
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	
	

	Total deferred taxes
	$
	-
	$
	-
	$
	-
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



Reconciliation between the effect of applying the federal statutory rate and the effective income tax rate used to calculate the
Company’s income tax provision is as follows for the years ended December 31:

	
	2020
	
	
	2019
	
	
	2018
	

	Federal statutory rate
	21.0%
	
	21.0%
	21.0%

	Effect of:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	State income taxes, net of federal benefit
	1.8%
	
	8.2%
	10.3%

	Change in state tax rates
	3.8%
	
	2.9%
	1.7%

	Change in valuation allowance
	(13.7%)
	
	(33.7%)
	(29.4%)

	State tax credits
	(0.6%)
	
	1.4%
	0.3%

	Stock-based compensation
	(11.5%)
	
	2.5%
	(2.2%)

	Section 162(m)
	(0.2%)
	
	(1.2%)
	(0.8%)

	Other permanent items
	
	(0.6%)
	
	(1.1%)
	(0.9%)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Income tax provision effective rate
	
	0.0%
	
	0.0%
	0.0%
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The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax asset and liability were as follows as of December 31:

	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	
	2019
	

	Deferred tax assets relating to:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net operating loss carryforwards
	$
	93,408
	
	$
	95,084
	

	Deferred revenue
	
	
	7,499
	
	
	
	7,304
	

	Commissions and incentive accrual
	
	
	1,945
	
	
	
	895
	

	Deferred rent
	
	
	136
	
	
	
	57
	

	State tax credits
	
	
	8,414
	
	
	
	8,590
	

	Stock-based compensation
	
	
	2,684
	
	
	
	4,095
	

	Compensation and other accruals
	
	
	1,455
	
	
	
	-
	

	Finance lease right-of-use liabilities
	
	
	22,567
	
	
	
	24,930
	

	Interest limitation
	
	
	-
	
	
	
	1,804
	

	Total gross deferred tax assets
	
	
	138,108
	
	
	
	142,759
	

	Deferred tax liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Compensation and other accruals
	$
	-
	
	$
	(712)

	Finance lease right-of-use assets
	
	
	(20,193)
	
	
	(22,848)

	Property and equipment and intangible assets
	
	
	(4,366)
	
	
	(3,025)

	Convertible debt
	
	
	(9,806)
	
	
	(13,657)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total gross deferred tax liabilities
	
	
	(34,365)
	
	
	(40,242)

	Deferred tax assets less liabilities
	
	
	103,743
	
	
	
	102,517
	

	Less: valuation allowance
	
	
	(103,743)
	
	
	(102,517)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net deferred tax asset (liability)
	$
	-
	
	$
	-
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company’s gross deferred tax was reduced by a valuation allowance of $103,743 and $102,517, respectively.

The valuation allowance increased by $ 1,226 and $20,209 during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The valuation allowance increased in 2020 resulted primarily from changes in the deferred tax assets related to compensation and other accruals, and finance lease right-of-use liabilities. The valuation allowance increase in 2019 resulted primarily from changes in the deferred tax assets related to the net operating loss carryforwards and deferred revenue. The following table provides information about the Company’s deferred tax valuation allowance.

	
	
	
	
	Year ended December 31,
	
	

	Deferred tax valuation allowance
	
	
	
	2020
	
	
	2019
	
	
	
	2018
	

	Beginning of period
	$
	102,517
	$
	82,308
	
	$
	89,093
	

	Additions charged against expenses
	
	
	1,226
	
	
	22,446
	
	
	
	15,444
	

	Deductions
	
	
	-
	
	
	(2,237)
	
	
	(22,229)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	End of period
	$
	103,743
	$
	102,517
	
	$
	82,308
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



Net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes were approximately $ 326,944 and $327,415 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. State net operating loss carryforwards were $294,442 and $325,106 at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The federal and state net operating loss carryforwards will expire at various dates during 2021 through 2039, if not utilized. Net operating loss carryforwards and credit carryforwards reflected above may be limited due to historical and future ownership changes.

South Carolina jobs tax credit and headquarters tax credit carryovers of $11,088 and $11,309 were available at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Headquarters credits are expected to be used to offset future state income tax license fees. The credits expire in various amounts during 2021 through 2035.

The Company follows FASB ASC 740-10 for accounting for unrecognized tax benefits. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had gross unrecognized tax benefits of $437.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows for the years ended December 31:

	
	
	2020
	
	
	2019
	
	
	
	2018
	

	Balance at beginning of year
	$
	437
	$
	437
	$
	437
	

	Additions based on tax positions related to the
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	current year
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	

	Additions for tax positions in prior years
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	

	Reductions for tax positions of prior years
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	

	Reductions for tax positions due to lapse
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	of statute
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	

	Settlements
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	
	
	-
	

	Balance at end of year
	$
	437
	$
	437
	$
	437
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



At December 31, 2020 and 2019, none of the $437 liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits could impact the Company’s effective tax rate, if recognized. The Company expects the unrecognized tax benefits to change by $71 within the next twelve months.

19. Segments and Geographic Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which discrete financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance. The Company’s CODM, the Chief Executive Officer, reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by information about operating segments, for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance.

During the first quarter of 2019, the Company concluded that the composition of its operating segments changed as a result of changes in the structure of its internal organization. As a result of these changes, the Company views its operations and manages its business as one operating segment. Segment information matches the consolidated financial information for the current periods and prior periods reported.

Substantially all assets were held and all revenue was generated in the United States during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

20. Related Parties Series A Preferred Stock

As described in Note 13, the Company sold 1,777,778 shares of Preferred Stock to an entity whose Chief Executive Officer is a member of the Company’s Board of Directors. In connection with this transaction, the Company reimbursed the Buyer $150 for fees incurred in closing the sale of Preferred Stock in June 2020. The Company paid dividends of $3,662 to the buyer for the year ended December 31, 2020. Additionally, the Company paid management oversight fees of $229 to the Buyer for the year ended December 31, 2020. The significant terms of the Preferred Stock are described in Note 13.

Leasing Arrangements

The Company leases its office space at its Charleston, South Carolina headquarters campus under the terms of three non-cancellable leases from entities affiliated with an executive who is also a Company director and significant stockholder. The Company’s headquarter campus building leases are accounted for as financing lease right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The three lease agreements have 15-year terms ending on December 31, 2031, with Company options to renew for five additional years. The arrangements provide for 3.0% fixed annual rent increases.

In March 2019, the Company terminated its cancellable lease agreement to construct additional office space under its December 12, 2016 lease.

Payments related to these agreements were $15,137, $10,884, and $10,659 for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Amounts due to the related parties were recorded as $667 and $791 in accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and were recorded in “Accrued expenses”. Payments made during the
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year ended December 31, 2020 include amounts paid in connection with the amendment of these leases described in Note 12.

Other Related Party Expenses

The Company utilizes the services of various companies that are owned and controlled by an executive who is also a Company director and significant stockholder. The companies provide construction project management services, private air transportation and other services. Expenses related to these companies were $177, $256, and $107 for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Amounts due to the related parties were de minimis as of December 31, 2020. No amounts were due to the related parties as of December 31, 2019.

During 2018, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase software and services from a company affiliated with a Company director. Payments related to this agreement were $102, $108, and $35 for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Amounts due to this company were de minimis as of December 31, 2020. No amounts were due to this company as of December 31, 2019.

21. Subsequent Events Legal Proceedings

On March 2, 2021, the Company, along with other parties, was named as a defendant in a purported class-action lawsuit filed by an investor. The other parties named as defendants were parties involved in the secondary public offering of the Company’s common stock in March 2019 which include the selling shareholders and their affiliated companies, members of board of directors and management, and the offering underwriters. The complaint asserts claims on behalf of a class of persons who acquired our common stock in or traceable to our secondary public offering in March 2019. The complaint alleges that defendants violated the federal securities laws by, among other things, making misrepresentations about our commercial relationships and failing to disclose certain material adverse facts, trends or uncertainties or significant risks that made the secondary public offering speculative and risky. The complaint seeks rescission or rescissory damages and compensatory damages, costs and fees incurred in the action. The Company does not believe the complaint has merit and plans to vigorously contest and defend against it.

Stock-Based Compensation

During January and February 2021, stock option exercises and vesting of restricted stock units resulted in the issuance of 174,125 shares of common stock.

Restructuring

During January 2021, the Company recorded restructuring costs of approximately $1,400 from a reduction to its workforce. Restructuring costs are comprised of one-time severance charges, continuation of health benefits and outplacement services and will be presented separately in operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
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Exhibit 4.5

DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

The authorized capital stock of Benefitfocus, Inc. consists of 50,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.001 par value per share, and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share. The following description summarizes the material terms of our capital stock. Because it is only a summary, it does not contain all the information that may be important to you. For a complete description of our capital stock, you should refer to our restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, or our “restated certificate”, and our amended and restated bylaws, or our “restated bylaws”, which are included as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to the provisions of applicable Delaware law.

As used in this exhibit, the terms “Benefitfocus, Inc.,” “Benefitfocus,” “Company,” “company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” mean Benefitfocus, Inc. Common Stock
As of December 31, 2020, there were 32,327,439 shares of our common stock outstanding. Holders of our common stock are entitled to the following rights.

· Dividend Rights. Subject to preferences that may apply to any shares of preferred stock outstanding at the time, the holders of outstanding shares of our common stock are entitled to receive dividends out of funds legally available at the times and in the amounts that our board of directors may determine. All dividends are non-cumulative.

· Voting Rights. The holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share of common stock held on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders, including the election of directors. Our restated certificate and restated bylaws do not provide for cumulative voting rights.

· No Preemptive or Similar Rights. The holders of our common stock have no preemptive, conversion, or subscription rights, and there are no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to our common stock.

· Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions. Upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, the assets legally available for distribution to our stockholders would be distributable ratably among the holders of our common stock and any participating preferred stock outstanding at that time after payment of liquidation preferences, if any, on any outstanding shares of preferred stock and payment of other claims of creditors.

· Fully Paid and Non-Assessable. All of the outstanding shares of our common stock are, and the shares of our common stock that may be issued pursuant to an offering under this registration statement will be, fully paid and non-assessable.

· Potential Adverse Effect of Future Preferred Stock. The rights, preferences and privileges of the holders of common stock are subject to, and might be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of shares of any series of our preferred stock that we may designate and issue in the future.

Preferred Stock

Our board of directors is authorized, subject to limitations prescribed by Delaware law, to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series, to establish from time to time the number of shares to be included in each series, and to fix the designation, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of each series and any of its qualifications, limitations or restrictions, in each case without further
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action by our stockholders. Our board can also increase or decrease the number of shares of any series of preferred stock, but not below the number of shares of that series then outstanding unless approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of our capital stock entitled to vote, or such other vote as may be required by the certificate of designation establishing the series. Our board may authorize the issuance of preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of our common stock. The issuance of preferred stock, while providing flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could, among other things, have the effect of delaying, deferring, or preventing a change in our control or the removal of management and might adversely affect the market price of our common stock and the voting and other rights of the holders of our common stock.

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

On June 4, 2020, we filed a certificate of designations (the “Certificate of Designations”) with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware creating our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred Stock”) and establishing the designations, preferences, and other rights of the Series A Preferred Stock, which became effective upon filing. In connection with the issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock, we also entered into a preferred stock purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”), which included certain additional rights for the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock. Each share of the Series A Preferred Stock had an initial stated value of $45 per share.

As of December 31, 2020, there were 1,777,778 shares of our Series A Preferred Stock outstanding. The holders of our Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to the following rights.

· Dividend Rights. Pursuant to the Certificate of Designations, the holders of outstanding shares of our Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to a dividend equal to 8.00% per annum (the “Regular Dividends”), which are paid quarterly, beginning on June 30, 2020. The Regular Dividends are payable in cash or in kind, at our option. In the event a Regular Dividend is paid in kind, the stated value of each share of the Series A Preferred Stock will be increased by an amount equal to the accrued Regular Dividend not paid in cash. Holders of the Series A Preferred Stock are also entitled to participate in and receive any dividends declared or paid on the common stock on an as-converted basis, and no dividends may be paid to holders of the common stock unless full participating dividends are concurrently paid to the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock.

· Conversion Rights. Pursuant to the Certificate of Designations, each holder of our Series A Preferred Stock has the right, at its option, to convert its shares of the Series A Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, into fully paid and non-assessable shares of the common stock, at any time and from time to time. The number of shares of the common stock into which a share of the Series A Preferred Stock will convert at any time is equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (I) the sum of (x) the stated value then in effect with respect to such share, and (y) an amount equal to accumulated and unpaid Regular Dividends on such share of the Series A Preferred Stock (but only to the extent such accumulated and unpaid Regular Dividends are not included in the stated value referred to in the preceding clause (x)); by (II) $15.00, subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments, including in the event of any stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization or similar events. At closing, before payment of any dividends in kind, the 1,777,778 shares of the Series A Preferred Stock would be convertible into 5,333,334 shares of common stock. Unless and until approval of our stockholders is obtained as contemplated by the Nasdaq listing rules, no holder of the Series A Preferred Stock may convert shares of the Series A Preferred Stock into shares of common stock if and to the extent that such conversion would result in the holder beneficially owning in excess of 19.9% of the then-outstanding shares of the common stock (the “Ownership Limitation”).

· Redemption Rights. Pursuant to the Certificate of Designations, our Company may, at our option, redeem the outstanding shares of the Series A Preferred Stock following the fourth anniversary of their issuance. Redemption by our Company is subject to certain liquidity conditions as well conditions connected with the trading price of our common stock. Upon redemption by our Company, we will pay the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock 105% of the initial stated value
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of such share plus any increase in the stated value from the initial stated value plus accumulated and unpaid Regular Dividends. If our Company undergoes a change of control, as defined in the Certificate of Designations, we must redeem all of the then-outstanding shares of the Series A Preferred Stock for cash consideration equal to the greater of the amount due for redemption as described above and the amount such holder of shares of the Series A Preferred Stock would have received in respect of the number of shares of the common stock that would be issuable upon conversion of such share of the Series A Preferred Stock.

· Voting Rights. Pursuant to the Certificate of Designations, holders of the Series A Preferred Stock will generally will be entitled to vote with the holders of the shares of the common stock on all matters submitted for a vote of holders of shares of the common stock (voting together with the holders of shares of the common stock as one class) on an as-converted basis, subject to the Ownership Limitation. Additionally, certain matters will require the approval of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of the Series A Preferred Stock, voting as a separate class, including, inter alia: (1) the authorization, creation, or issuance of any securities of our Company having rights, preferences, or privileges senior to or on a parity with any of the rights, preferences, or privileges of the Series A Preferred Stock; (2) amendments, modifications or repeal of any provision of our charter or bylaws in a manner adverse to the Series A Preferred Stock; (3) changes in the authorized number of directors of our Company to a number greater than 10 individuals; (4) effecting any transaction between our Company and any of its affiliates (except for certain circumstances); (5) declaration or payment of any dividend or distribution with respect to any of our capital stock at any time we have any indebtedness outstanding; and (6) incurring any indebtedness in excess of $500 million (including existing indebtedness excluding lease obligations).

· Preferred Stock Directors. Pursuant to the Certificate of Designations, as long as not less than 60% of the shares of the Series A Preferred Stock originally issued remain outstanding, the holders of a majority of the then-outstanding shares of the Series A Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class, will have the right at any election of directors to elect (A) two directors if the Board consists of nine or fewer directors; or (B) three directors if the Board consists of 10 directors (the “Preferred Stock Directors”). At any time, a Preferred Stock Director may be removed with or without cause only by the affirmative vote or written consent of a majority of the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock entitled to elect such director.

· Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions. Pursuant to the Certificate of Designations, upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, the assets or funds legally available for distribution to our stockholders would be distributable to the holder of our Series A Preferred Stock subject to the rights of any of our creditors and the change in control redemption, on any outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock. The Series A Preferred Stock rank senior to our common stock, with respect to dividends and distributions on liquidation, winding-up and dissolution.

· No Preemptive or Similar Rights. The holders of our Series A Preferred Stock have no preemptive, or subscription rights, and there are no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to our Series A Preferred Stock.

· Restrictions on Transfer. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, until the earliest of (i) May 30, 2024 and (ii) receipt of a notice of Company redemption by the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock, the holders of the Series A Preferred Stock will not sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of the shares of the Series A Preferred Stock or the underlying shares of the common stock, subject to limited exceptions (including exceptions in the case of transfers to certain permitted transferees).

Additionally, the holders of our Series A Preferred Stock are subject to a Co-Sale and Voting Agreement dated June 4, 2020, as amended on January 26, 2021 (the “Voting Agreement”, and the signatories thereto, the “Stockholders”). Pursuant to the Voting Agreement, the Stockholders agreed, inter alia, that except in the case of certain exempted transfers or offerings, a Stockholder who proposes to transfer any of its shares must give the other Stockholder 14 days advance
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written notice of such transfer, and that the other Stockholder, within seven days of receipt of such notice, may elect to participate in such transfer on a pro rata basis based on the number of shares of common stock then beneficially owned by each, on an as-converted basis.

· Standstill Period. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, so long as the holders collectively hold not less than 10% of the shares of the Series A Preferred Stock originally purchased by them (the “Standstill Period”), subject to customary exceptions, the holders will be limited in their ability to acquire additional shares of the common stock with voting rights, enter into a merger or business combination involving our Company; solicit proxies with respect to the common stock; deposit any common stock in a voting trust; join a group for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting or disposing of the common stock; take any action which would reasonably be expected to require us to make a public announcement regarding the possibility of a business combination or merger; publicly disclose any intentions inconsistent with any of the foregoing; knowingly advise other persons in connection with any of the foregoing; or publicly request that we waive any of the foregoing restrictions.

Stock Awards Available For Issuance

As of December 31, 2020, we had options and restricted stock units outstanding with respect to 2,712,805 shares of common stock, including restricted stock units with time-based vesting criteria and performance-based vesting criteria.

As of December 31, 2020, total stock awards, including restricted stock units and performance restricted stock units, to exchange or purchase a total of 3,518,804 shares of common stock remain available for future issuance under our stock plans.

Registration Rights

As of December 31, 2020, stockholders holding approximately 2,699,654 shares of our common stock and 1,777,778 shares of our Preferred Stock had the right, subject to various conditions and limitations, to include their shares in registration statements relating to our securities. In connection with our IPO, we entered into a Second Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, or the “Investor Rights Agreement”, with the holders (as defined therein), which we subsequently amended in February 2015. In connection with the issuance of our Preferred Stock, we entered into a Registration Rights Agreement, or Rights Agreement, with the holders thereof, dated June 4, 2020.

Investor Rights Agreement

Pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement, as amended, certain holders have the right, subject to various conditions and limitations, to include their shares in registration statements relating to our securities. The holders of at least 66 2/3% of the then outstanding shares subject to these registration rights have the right to demand that we register such shares under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the “Securities Act”, with respect to shares having an aggregate offering price of at least $5,000,000, and subject to other limitations. In addition, these holders are entitled to piggyback registration rights with respect to the registration under the Securities Act of shares of common stock. In the event that we propose to register any shares of common stock under the Securities Act either for our account or for the account of other security holders, the holders of shares having piggyback registration rights are entitled to receive notice of such registration and to include shares in any such registration, subject to limitations. Further, at any time after we become eligible to file a registration statement on Form S-3, the holders of at least 5% of the shares subject to these registration rights may require us to file registration statements under the Securities Act on Form S-3 with respect to shares of common stock having an aggregate offering price, net of selling expenses, of at least $5,000,000. To the extent that we qualify as a well-known seasoned issuer at the time a requisite number of holders demand the registration of shares subject to these registration rights, we will file an automatic shelf registration statement covering the shares for which registration is demanded if so requested by the holders of such shares. These registration rights are subject to conditions and limitations, among them the right of the underwriters of an offering to limit the number of shares of common stock held by such security holders to be included in
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such registration. We are generally required to bear all of the expenses of such registrations, including reasonable fees of a single counsel acting on behalf of all selling Holders, except underwriting discounts, selling commissions and stock transfer taxes applicable to the sale.

Rights Agreement

Pursuant to the Rights Agreement, we agreed to file a registration statement registering for resale the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the Preferred Stock within 30 calendar days from the date of the Purchase Agreement (as defined therein). We are generally required to bear all of the expenses of such registrations, including reasonable fees of a single counsel acting on behalf of the holders of Preferred Stock. The registration statement on Form S-3 required by the Rights Agreement was filed pursuant on June 24, 2020 and was declared effective on July 1, 2020.

Convertible Notes

In December 2018, we issued $240.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 1.25% Convertible Senior Notes due in 2023, or the “Notes”.
The Notes are senior unsecured obligations of our Company.

In connection with the issuance of the Notes, we entered into an indenture, dated December 27, 2018, or the “Indenture”, with U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee. The Indenture includes customary covenants and sets forth certain events of default after which the Notes may be declared immediately due and payable and sets forth certain types of bankruptcy or insolvency events of default involving our Company after which the Notes become automatically due and payable. The Indenture does not restrict our ability to incur additional indebtedness.

The Notes will mature on December 15, 2023, unless earlier converted, redeemed or repurchased in accordance with their terms. The Notes will bear interest from December 27, 2018 at a rate of 1.25% per year payable semi-annually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on June 15, 2019. The Notes will be convertible at the option of the holders at any time prior to the close of business on September 14, 2023, only under the following circumstances:

· during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ending on March 31, 2019 (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last reported sale price of our common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price on each applicable trading day;

· during the five business day period after any five consecutive trading day period, or the “Measurement Period”, in which the Trading Price (as defined in the Indenture) per $1,000 principal amount of Notes for each trading day of the Measurement Period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of our common stock and the conversion rate in effect on each such trading day;

· if we call any or all of the Notes for redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on September 14, 2023; or

· upon the occurrence of specified corporate events.

On or after September 15, 2023, until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, holders may convert all or any portion of their Notes, in multiples of $1,000 principal amount, at the option of the holder regardless of the foregoing circumstances.

Upon conversion, we may satisfy the conversion obligation by paying or delivering, as the case may be, cash, shares of our common stock or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock, at our election, in the manner and subject to the terms and conditions provided in the Indenture. The initial conversion rate for the Notes will be 18.8076 shares of our common stock per $1,000 principal amount of Notes, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $53.17 per share of our common
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stock. The conversion rate is subject to adjustment under certain circumstances in accordance with the terms of the Indenture.

We may not redeem the Notes prior to December 20, 2021. We may redeem for cash all or any portion of the Notes, at our option, on or after December 20, 2021, if the last reported sale price of our common stock has been at least 130% of the conversion price then in effect for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during any 30 consecutive trading day period (including the last trading day of such period) ending on, and including, the trading day immediately preceding the date on which we provide notice of redemption at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date. No sinking fund is provided for the Notes.

If we undergo a Fundamental Change (as defined in the Indenture), subject to certain conditions, holders may require us to repurchase for cash all or any portion of their Notes in principal amounts of $1,000 or an integral multiple thereof, at a fundamental change repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date.

In connection with the offering of the Notes, we entered into privately negotiated capped call transactions with certain counterparties affiliated with the initial purchasers and others. The capped call transactions are expected generally to reduce the potential dilution to our common stock upon any conversion of the Notes and/or offset any cash payments we are required to make in excess of the principal amount of converted Notes, as the case may be, with such reduction and/or offset subject to a cap based on the cap price. The cap price of the capped call transactions is initially $89.98 per share and is subject to certain adjustments under the terms of the capped call transactions.

CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF DELAWARE LAW,

OUR RESTATED CERTIFICATE AND RESTATED BYLAWS

The provisions of Delaware law, our restated certificate, and our restated bylaws may have the effect of delaying, deferring, or discouraging another person from acquiring control of our Company.

Delaware Law. We are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. In general, Section 203 prohibits a public Delaware corporation from engaging in a “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder unless:

· prior to such time, the board of directors approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;

· upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding shares owned by persons who are directors and also officers and by specified employee stock plans; or

· at or subsequent to the date of the transaction, the business combination is approved by the board of directors and authorized at an annual or special meeting of stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the interested stockholder.

A “business combination” includes mergers, asset sales or other transactions resulting in a financial benefit to the stockholder. In general, an “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns, or within three years did own, 15% or more of the corporation’s outstanding voting stock. These provisions may have the effect of delaying, deferring, or preventing a change in our control. Because the Goldman Funds beneficially held more than 15% of our shares at the time we became subject to Delaware law, our restated certificate exempts the Goldman Funds and their affiliates from being an “interested stockholder” within the meaning of Section 203.
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Restated Certificate and Restated Bylaw Provisions. Various provisions of our restated certificate and restated bylaws could deter hostile takeovers or delay or prevent changes in control of our management team, including the following:

· Board of Directors Vacancies. Our restated certificate and restated bylaws authorize only our board or the stockholders at a duly called meeting for that purpose to fill vacant directorships. In addition, the number of directors constituting our board is permitted to be set only by a resolution adopted by a majority of our board. These provisions would prevent a stockholder from increasing the size of our board and then gaining control of our board by filling the resulting vacancies with its own nominees.

· Classified Board. Our restated bylaws provide that our board is classified into three classes of directors. This could delay a successful tender offeror from obtaining majority control of our board of directors, and the prospect of that delay might deter a potential offeror. In February 2021, we announced that we will submit a proposal at the June 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to declassify the board and provide for the annual election of directors.

· Stockholder Action; Special Meeting of Stockholders. Under our restated bylaws, our stockholders may no longer take action by written consent, and may only take action at annual or special meetings of our stockholders. Our restated bylaws further provide that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by a majority of our board, the chairman of our board, by such other person the board expressly authorizes to call a special meeting, or by stockholders representing at least 35% of the votes entitled to be cast on any issue proposed to be considered at such special meeting.

· Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations. Our restated bylaws provide advance notice procedures for stockholders seeking to bring business before our annual meeting of stockholders, or to nominate candidates for election as directors at our annual meeting of stockholders. To be timely, a stockholder’s notice must be delivered to, or mailed and received at, our principal executive offices not less than 90 days nor more than 120 days prior to the first anniversary of the date of our notice of annual meeting provided with respect to the previous year’s annual meeting of stockholders; provided, that if no annual meeting of stockholders was held in the previous year or the date of the annual meeting of stockholders has been changed to be more than 30 calendar days earlier or 60 days later than such anniversary, notice by the stockholder, to be timely, must be received not earlier than the 120th day nor later to the 90th day prior to the date of such annual meeting or, if later, the 10th day following the date we publicly disclose the date of the annual meeting. Our restated bylaws also specify certain requirements regarding the form and content of a stockholder’s notice. These provisions might preclude our stockholders from bringing matters before our annual meeting of stockholders or from making nominations for directors at our annual meeting of stockholders.

· Issuance of Undesignated Preferred Stock. Our board of directors has the authority, without further action by our stockholders, to issue up to 3,222,222 shares of undesignated preferred stock with rights and preferences, including voting rights, designated from time to time by our board. Our board may utilize these shares for a variety of corporate purposes, including future public offerings to raise additional capital, corporate acquisitions and employee benefits plans. The existence of authorized and unissued shares of preferred stock would enable our board to render more difficult or to discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or other means. If we issue such shares without stockholder approval and in violation of limitations imposed by any stock exchange on which our stock may then be trading, our stock could be delisted.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions, Inc.

Stock Exchange Listing
[image: ]

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “BNFT”.

Exhibit 21.1

Benefitfocus, Inc.,

A Delaware corporation

List of subsidiaries

· Benefitfocus.com, Inc.

· BenefitStore, Inc.

Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following registration statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-211904) pertaining to the Benefitfocus, Inc. 2016 Employee Stock Purchase Plan;

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-192278) pertaining to the 2012 Stock Plan, as amended, and the Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Option Plan of Benefitfocus, Inc.;

(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-218633) pertaining to the Benefitfocus, Inc. Amended and Restated 2012 Stock Plan;

(4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-233088) pertaining to the Benefitfocus, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 2012 Stock Plan;

(5) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-242356) pertaining to the Benefitfocus, Inc. Second Amended and Restated 2012 Stock Plan, as amended; and

(6) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-239406).

of our reports dated March 9, 2021, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Benefitfocus, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Benefitfocus, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Benefitfocus, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2020.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
March 9, 2021

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Stephen M. Swad, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Benefitfocus, Inc. (the registrant);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(e) and 15d–15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 9, 2021

/s/ Stephen M. Swad
[image: ]
Stephen M. Swad

President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal executive officer)

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

SECTION 302 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Alpana Wegner, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Benefitfocus, Inc. (the registrant);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a–15(e) and 15d–15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 9, 2021

/s/ Alpana Wegner
[image: ]
Alpana Wegner

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal financial and accounting officer)

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In accordance with 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Stephen M. Swad, President and Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) of Benefitfocus, Inc. (the “registrant”), and Alpana Wegner, Chief Financial Officer (principal financial and accounting officer) of the registrant, each hereby certifies that, to the best of their knowledge:

1. The registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1 (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition of the registrant at the end of the period covered by the Report and results of operations of the registrant for the periods covered by the Report.

Date: March 9, 2021

/s/ Stephen M. Swad
[image: ]
Stephen M. Swad

President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal executive officer)

/s/ Alpana Wegner

Alpana Wegner

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal financial and accounting officer)
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